Resistance/Susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

Denis Delić

aus Duisburg

Düsseldorf, November 2010

aus dem Institut Molekulare Parasitologie der Heinrich-Heine Universität Düsseldorf

Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der

Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Referent: Prof. Dr. Frank Wunderlich Koreferent: Prof. Dr. Rolf Wagner

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:

Inhaltsverzeichnis

Vorwort	I-II
1. Introduction	1-6
1.1 Malaria-key facts	1-4
1.2 Resistance/Susceptibility to Plasmodium chabaudi malaria	5-6
1.3 Project objectives	6
2. Results	7-102
2.1 Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion	7-15
2.2 Testosterone-induced upregulation of miRNAs in the female mouse liver	16-23
2.3 Testosterone-induced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression	
in female mice sustained during Plasmodium chabaudi malaria infection	24-36
2.4 Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by <i>Plasmodium chabaudi</i> malaria	37-48
2.5 Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in	
female mice having acquired testosterone-unresponsive immunity to	
Plasmodium chabaudi malaria	49-78
2.6 Disrupted IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability to self-heal malaria	79-90
2.7 Protective vaccination against <i>Plasmodium chabaudi</i> malaria: augmented	
particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver	91-102

3. General discussion	103-108
3.1 Relevance of 'environmental factors' for the outcome of	
Plasmodium chabaudi malaria	103-104
3.2 The liver as a testosterone-target and anti-malaria effector site	105-107
3.3 Vaccination against malaria	107-108
4. Summary	109
5. Zusammenfassung	110
6. References	111-117
7. Anteilserklärung	118-119
8. Eidesstattliche Erklärung	120
9. Danksagung	121
10. Lebenslauf	122-123

Vorwort

Herr Denis Delić hat seine experimentelle kumulative Dissertation mit dem Thema "Resistance/Susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria" angefertigt. Grundlage für die kumulative Dissertation sind folgende Publikationen:

1. Publikation:

Krücken J, **Delić D**, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2009 Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Malaria Journal* **8** 54. PMID:19341445

2. Publikation:

Delić D, Warskulat U, Borsch E, Al-Qahtani S, Al-Quraishi S, Häussinger D & Wunderlich F
2010 Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion. *Infection and Immunity*78 1642-1649. PMID: 20100858

3. Publikation:

Delić D, Grosser C, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishy S & Wunderlich F 2010 Testosterone-induced upregulation of miRNAs in the female mouse liver. *Steroids* **75** 998-1004. PMID: 20600201

4. Publikation:

Delić D, Gailus N, Vohr HW, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Testosteroneinduced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression in female mice sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria infection. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* **45** 379-390. PMID: 20844152

5. Publikation:

Delić D, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasitology Research* [Epub ahead of print]. PMID: 21085987

6. Publikation:

Delić D, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in female mice immune *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* [submitted]

7. Publikation:

Wunderlich CM, **Delić D**, Behnke K, Stroehle P, Wunderlich F, Brüning J & Wunderlich FT 2010 Disrupted IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability to self-heal malaria [to be submitted]

weitere Publikationen:

8. Publikation:

Dkhil M, Abdel-Baki AA, **Delić D**, Wunderlich F, Sies H & Al-Quraishi S 2010 *Eimeria papillata*: Upregulation of specific miRNA-species in the mouse jejunum. *Experimental Parasitology* [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 21093440

9. Publikation:

Dkhil M, **Delić D**, Abdel-Baki AA, Wunderlich F & Al-Quraishi S 2010 Differential miRNA expression in the mouse jejunum during garlic treatment of *Eimeria papillata* infections. *Parasitology Research* [submitted]

1. Introduction

1.1 Malaria – key facts

Malaria is the most important parasitic disease of man which is caused by a eukaryotic protist of the genus *Plasmodium*, a member of the phylum Apicomplexa, and which is naturally transmitted *via* the bite of a female *Anopheles* mosquito. Malaria occurs in 108 countries worldwide, i. e. approximately 40% of the global population live in high risk areas. In 2008, there were 243 million cases of malaria worldwide, whereas the vast majority cases (85%) were in sub-Saharan Africa, followed by the South-East Asia (10%) and Eastern Mediterranean Region (4%) (Fig. 1). Malaria accounted for 863,000 deaths in 2008, the majority of whom are children under 5 years of age (WHO, 2009). In sub-Saharan Africa a child dies every 45 seconds of malaria so that the disease accounts for 20% of all childhood deaths. Moreover, pregnant women are at higher risk to suffer from malaria.

During the last six years, the commitments for malaria control are fivefold increased, from approximately US\$ 0.3 billion per year in 2003 to US\$ 1.7 billion in 2009. Interventions to control malaria are mainly based on diagnosis and treatment of malaria, including preventive medications. A wide variety of anti-malarial drugs are available to date, in particular based on a combination of drugs containing an arteminisine-derivate. Furthermore, malaria prevention is achieved by mosquito control using insecticide-treated nets and indoor residual spraying. Indeed, the number of cases and death per capita is reduced by 50% or more between 2000 and 2010 and expectedly by 75% or more between 2000 and 2015 (WHO, 2009).

Four species of *Plasmodium* are pathogenic for humans: *P. falciparum*, *P. vivax*, *P. ovale*, and *P. malariae*. *P. falciparum* is responsible for the majority of malaria-induced deaths associated with malaria. Moreover, two or more human plasmodial species can infect an individual and the parasites can coexist, interact with each other, and exert cross-species regulatory effects (Snounou 2004).



Figure 1. Malaria-free countries and malaria-endemic countries in phases of control^{*}, pre-elimination, elimination and prevention of reintroduction, end 2008 (from WHO, 2009).

The malaria parasite exhibits a complex life cycle involving an insect vector (*Anopheles*) and a vertebrate host (human). The sporozoites are inoculated from the saliva of the biting insects into the human during blood feeding. After reaching the liver through the bloodstream, parasites invade hepatocytes, which may even endure less than 30 min. The intracellular parasite undergoes an asexual replication termed pre-erythrocytic schizogony. Each hepatic schizont ruptures releasing a great number of merozoites which then invade erythrocytes. After intra-erythrocyte multiplication, schizonts then also rupture and merozoites are released, which infect other erythrocytes (erythrocyte schizogony), so that the parasite burden expands logarithmically approximately ten-fold per cycle (Simpson *et al.* 2002, White 2004). These asexual blood stages are responsible for the severe pathology, morbidity and mortality associated with malaria.

After several asexual cycles, some merozoites invade red blood cells and develop into gametocytes, either male flagellated microgametocytes or female macrogametocytes (gamogony). Only these sexual stages can develop in *Anopheles*. After fertilization, the resulting zygote develops into a motile ookinete, which penetrates the midgut and encyst on the basal lamina. The oocyst undergoes multiple rounds of asexual replication resulting in the

production of sporozoites, which finally migrate to the salivary glands of the female *Anopheles* mosquito (sporogony).



Figure 2. Life cycle of *Plasmodium sp.* The life cycle can be subdivided into three phases: schizogony, gamogony and sporogony (from Wunderlich & Schmitt 1988c).

An infection with malaria is associated with fever and anemia caused by hemolysis. Further symptoms can be hemoglobinuria, hypoglycemia, renal failure, splenomegaly, hepatomegaly, headache and cerebral ischemia (Trampuz *et al.* 2003). The classic symptoms of malaria are cyclical occurrence of sudden coldness followed by rigor and then fever and sweating lasting four to six hours, taking place every two days in *P. vivax* and *P. ovale* infections, while every three days for *P. malariae*. The most dangerous form malaria tropica caused by *P. falciparum* is characterized by recurrent fever every 36-48 hours or even a less pronounced and almost continuous fever. The pathology is due to the asexual blood stages, whereas the pre-erythrocytic and sexual stages cause no organ dysfunction (Mehlhorn 2008). Pathology results from the destruction of erythrocytes, the liberation of parasite and the release of red blood cell material into the circulation, and the dysregulations of the host responses directed against the blood-stages. The occurrence of sequestration of infected erythrocytes impairs blood flow and tissue functions. The severity of infection depends on

both host and parasite factors. Host factors, which are critical for the course of malaria are genotype, age and previous exposure (Kareier 1980, Sherman 1999).

Natural immunity to malaria underlies rather complex control. It is directed against bloodstages of *Plasmodium*, it can completely abolish disease symptoms, but it cannot prevent parasitemia during malaria seasons (Playfair et al. 1990, Kwiatkowski 1992). Plasmodium infections cause a series of antibody- and cell mediated immune responses. Both T cell- and antibody-mediated responses play a role in protective immunity to malaria. In liver-stage immunity, for example, CD8⁺ T cells cells are important (Overstreet et al. 2008, Tsuji 2010), whereas CD4⁺ T cells and B cells are essential for blood-stage immunity (Stevenson & Riley 2004, Langhorne et al. 2008, Pierce 2009). The different stages of the parasite occur inside cells that either express (e. g. hepatocytes) or lack (e. g. erythrocytes) major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and class II molecules. T_H1-related cytokines are predominantly produced during the acute phase of infection and are sufficient for antibodyindependent parasite control early in infection via macrophage-associated inflammatory responses (Langhorne et al. 2008). Further progression of the infection is associated with a switch towards a T_H2-related response with antibody production by mature B cells, so that the later stages of infection are predominantly antibody-dependent. Immunoglobulin (Ig) G1 and IgG3 appear to be most effective in humans (Groux & Cysin 1990), while IgG2a is essential in the mouse model (White et al. 1991).

Despite enormous efforts during the last 30 years, all attempts to develop a safe and effective vaccine against malaria have failed to date: no effective vaccine is yet available! Several types of malaria vaccines have been developed which can be classified according to the target parasite stage. (i) Pre-erythocytic vaccines are directed against the infective sporozoites, in particular vaccines based on the surface protein circumsporozoite protein (CSP), so that this anti-sporozoite vaccine is expected to prevent infection. (ii) Anti-merozoite vaccines would not prevent infection, but would reduce malaria morbidity and mortality. (iii) Transmission-blocking vaccines (TBV) are directed against sexual blood-stages and would prevent the development of parasites in the mosquito, thus reducing transmission in endemic areas. However, there are also three major difficulties hindering the development of a vaccine for malaria. Firstly, for all three stages of the parasite life cycle, there is still an incomplete understanding of the precise type of immune response. Secondly, only a few of the many hundreds of parasite-derived antigens have been explored in animal models to date. Thirdly,

there is strong evidence that the parasite can evade host immunity, for example by antigenic variation (Playfair *et al.* 1990, Good & Doolan 2010).

1.2 Resistance/Susceptibility to Plasmodium chabaudi malaria

Since the first human vaccination trials have failed in the middle of the 80ies of the last century, basic research about malaria is urgently required more than ever. A convenient model to study the role of malaria is the murine malaria *P. chabaudi*, which shares several common characteristics with the most dangerous human parasite *P. falciparum*. Both *P. falciparum* and *P. chabaudi* prefer normocytes as host cells (Pasvol *et al.* 1980, Jarra & Brown 1989, Clough *et al.* 1998). Both species exhibit cytoadherence and sequestration of the schizont stages from peripheral circulation to internal microvasculature, which are considered as a major virulence factor (Roberts *et al.* 2000, Pain *et al.* 2001). Moreover, both malaria species induce strain-specific immunity (Snounou *et al.* 1989, Mota *et al.* 1998) and display clonal antigen variation (Biggs *et al.* 1991, Roberts *et al.* 1992).

Using this mouse malaria model, it has been revealed that mice are able to self-heal bloodstage infections, which is controlled by both genes of the H-2 complex and the *non-H-2* background (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b, 1991). Female mice with the $H-2^d$ haplotype on BALB- or DBA-background were susceptible, while strains with the same $H-2^d$ haplotype on B6- or B10-background were resistant (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b). Further investigations using mouse strains with different H2-complex on the same B10-background showed different levels of resistance to *P. chabaudi* in female mice. Resistant strains were those with b, d and o2 *H-2* haplotype, in which mice survived the infection, and mice with the *H2*-haplotypes k, a and h4 were susceptible (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b). Furthermore, several genes and/or loci of the non-*H-2* background have been already reported to be critical for a fatal outcome of malaria (Foote *et al.* 1997, Fortin *et al.* 2001, Hernandez-Valladares *et al.* 2004, Kwiatkowki *et al.* 2000, Min-Oo *et al.*, 2007, Roberts *et al.* 2001).

Remarkably, 'gene-independent' soluble 'environmental factors' such as testosterone (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988, 1991) and estrogen (Benten *et al.* 1992b, 1993) have been also found to be critical for the outcome of *P. chabaudi* malaria. In contrast to female mice, the gene-controlled mechanisms of resistance to *P. chabaudi* did not become evident in male mice, which always succumbed to malarial infections. This gender-dependence of the outcome of

malaria is presumably modulated by sex hormones, especially testosterone (Krücken *et al.* 2005). Indeed, castration of male B10 mice entailed a dramatic increase in survival. Castrated males, however, became susceptible again, when pre-treated with testosterone (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b, 1991). Also, testosterone pre-treatment of female mice caused susceptibility (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b, 1991). By contrast immune mice, which have survived a *P. chabaudi* infection, are not affected by testosterone at all (Wunderlich *et al.* 1992).

1.3 Project objectives

The present work is aimed at investigating several 'non-genic' factors of the host response which cause resistance and/or susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* blood-stage malaria in female mice, with particular emphasis on the liver as an anti-malaria effector site.

Specific aims are:

- to evaluate those protein-encoding genes in the liver which become deregulated by testosterone and which remain persistently deregulated after testosterone withdrawal, even upon malaria infection;
- to investigate the effect of testosterone on the miRNA signature in the liver;
- to identify possible changes of the miRNA signature in the liver of mice upon acquiring protective immunity;
- to detect the responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in mice having acquired protective immunity to blood-stage malaria;
- to characterize the role of taurine and IL-6 trans-signaling on the outcome of blood-stage malaria;
- to identify the effect of protective vaccination against blood-stages of *P. chabaudi* on the trapping capacity and gene expression of the liver.

7 **2. Results**

2.1 Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion

Background: Taurine is the most abundant free amino acid in mammalian tissues, which is not incorporated into proteins, and the uptake of dietary taurine *via* the taurine transporter TAUT is the major route for taurine provision. Taurine is an important modulator of immune responses and its role for the outcome of blood-stage malaria was investigated in this study by comparing surviving $taut^{+/+}$ mice and $taut^{-/-}$ mice, which succumbed to infection with *Plasmodium chabaudi*.

Methods: Female $taut^{+/+}$ and $taut^{-/-}$ mice were infected with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-paratisized erythrocytes. Determination of hepatic particle trapping was done using green fluorescent beads. Hepatic inflammatory and metabolism markers were detected by analyzing the mRNA levels by qRT-PCR and the protein levels in blood by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Histopathology of different tissues was performed in $taut^{-/-}$ mice that succumbed to *P. chabaudi* malaria.

Results: Deletion of the taurine transporter (TAUT) resulted in lethal outcome of otherwise selfhealing *P. chabaudi* malaria, whereas peak parasitemia is increased from approximately 40% in *taut*^{+/+} mice to approximately 65% in *taut*^{-/-} mice. The circulating taurine levels are lowered in *taut*^{-/-} from 540 to 264 µmol/liter. Deletion of *taut*^{-/-} is characterized by increased systemic ammonia levels, a perturbed particle trapping capacity, and more increased mRNA expression of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, iNOS, NF- κ B, and VDR upon infection on day 8 *p.i.*. In blood, the levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and ammonia were higher increased in *taut*^{-/-} mice at peak parasitemia than in *taut*^{+/+} mice. Autopsy of different tissues of succumbed *taut*^{-/-} mice revealed multi-organ failure.

Conclusion: These data show for the first time that the *taut* gene and taurine homeostasis are essential for self-healing of *P. chabaudi* blood-stage malaria.

Loss of Ability To Self-Heal Malaria upon Taurine Transporter Deletion[∇]†

Denis Delić,¹‡ Ulrich Warskulat,²‡ Elena Borsch,² Saad Al-Qahtani,³ Saleh Al-Quraishi,⁴ Dieter Häussinger,² and Frank Wunderlich^{1,4}*

Division of Molecular Parasitology, Department of Biology, and Biologisch-Medizinisches Forschungszentrum, Heinrich-Heine-University, Universitätsstr. 1,¹ and Clinic for Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Infectiology, Heinrich-Heine-University, Moorenstr. 5,² 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany, and Teacher College³ and Zoology Department, College of Science,⁴ King Saud University, 11352 Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Received 14 October 2009/Returned for modification 24 November 2009/Accepted 18 January 2010

Deletion of the taurine transporter gene (taut) results in lowered levels of taurine, the most abundant amino acid in mammals. Here, we show that $taut^{-/-}$ mice have lost their ability to self-heal blood-stage infections with *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. All $taut^{-/-}$ mice succumb to infections during crisis, while about 90% of the control taut^{+/+} mice survive. The latter retain unchanged taurine levels even at peak parasitemia. Deletion of taut, however, results in the lowering of circulating taurine levels from 540 to 264 µmol/liter, and infections cause additional lowering to 192 μ mol/liter. Peak parasitemia levels in *taut*^{-/-} mice are approximately 60% higher than those in *taut*^{+/+} mice, an elevation that is associated with increased systemic tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) levels, as well as with liver injuries. The latter manifest as increased systemic ammonia levels, a perturbed capacity to entrap injected particles, and increased expression of genes encoding TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), NF-κB, and vitamin D receptor (VDR). Autopsy reveals multiorgan failure as the cause of death for malaria-infected $taut^{-/-}$ mice. Our data indicate that taut-controlled taurine homeostasis is essential for resistance to P. chabaudi malaria. Taurine deficiency due to taut deletion, however, impairs the eryptosis of P. chabaudi-parasitized erythrocytes and expedites increases in systemic TNF- α , IL-1 β , and ammonia levels, presumably contributing to multiorgan failure in P. *chabaudi*-infected $taut^{-/-}$ mice.

Taurine, a nonprotein sulfur-containing amino acid, is the most abundant amino acid in mammals, occurring both in cells and in blood plasma (7, 22). It plays an important role in diverse biological processes, such as cell volume regulation, neuromodulation, antioxidant defense, protein stabilization, and stress responses (11, 16, 46, 48, 54). Taurine may protect cells against various types of injury (11, 16, 29, 38, 45, 48, 54, 56). In particular, taurine is considered a basic regulator of cell homeostasis, presumably as an osmolyte and chaperone (19). According to the current view, taurine is synthesized from cysteine primarily-if not exclusively-in hepatocytes, and it is then exported to the plasma and imported into other cells via the taurine transporter (22).

The disruption of the taurine transporter gene (taut) by homologous recombination causes reductions of 80 to 98% in taurine levels in plasma and blood cells, as well as in tissues such as the brain, the kidney, and skeletal and heart muscles (20, 50, 51). Moreover, $taut^{-/-}$ mice exhibit decreased resistance to osmotic shock and oxidation stress (31). Taurine levels in the liver are decreased by about 70% in adult $taut^{-/-}$ mice; in particular, they are decreased by more than 80% in Kupffer

* Corresponding author. Mailing address: Division of Molecular Parasitology, Department of Biology, Heinrich-Heine-University, Universitätsstr. 1, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany. Phone: (49) 211-81-13401. Fax: (49) 211-81-14734. E-mail: frank.wunderlich@uni-duesseldorf.de.

† Supplemental material for this article may be found at http://iai .asm.org/.

and sinusoidal endothelial cells and by only approximately 30% in liver parenchymal cells (50). Taurine availability is an important modulator of Kupffer cell functions, such as phagocytosis and eicosanoid synthesis (52). taut-deficient mice develop moderate unspecific hepatitis and liver fibrosis at older than 1 year (50, 51). Moreover, though our knowledge is still poor, some information is available on how the immune system is affected by *taut* depletion (17). For instance, taurine modulates basic functions of leukocytes, such as phagocytosis, prostanoid formation, and cytokine formation (22, 39, 43, 45, 52, 53). However, the consequences of lowered taurine levels for the outcomes of infectious diseases have not been investigated to date.

Malaria is one of the major infectious diseases worldwide, with about 1 million to 3 millions deaths per year (13). The liver plays a central role in malaria: it is the site where the preerythrocytic stages of the malaria parasites have to develop and multiply (in hepatocytes), but it is also the site where the intraerythrocytic stages of the parasites, which are responsible for disease and death, can be trapped and even destroyed (2, 3, 28). Predominantly the Kupffer cells, which constitute approximately 80 to 90% of total macrophages, contribute to the trapping capacity of the liver. Recent evidence obtained in experimental Plasmodium chabaudi malaria indicates that during the crisis phase of infection, when parasitemia drops from about 50% to below 1% within 3 to 4 days, the liver improves its trapping capacity, whereas the spleen is largely closed (27).

In the present study, we show that the lowering of taurine levels due to taut deletion results in a lethal outcome of oth-

[‡] D.D. and U.W. contributed equally to this work. ^v Published ahead of print on 25 January 2010.

erwise self-healing blood-stage malaria caused by *P. chabaudi* in mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. Mice with disrupted taurine transporters ($taut^{-/-}$) have been generated previously by homologous recombination using embryonic stem (ES) cells of 129/SvJ origin in C57BL/6 mice (20). The same mixed genetic background is present in the $taut^{+/+}$ mice. Mice were bred under specific-pathogen-free conditions in our central animal facilities. Experiments were performed with 10- to 14-week-old female mice. They were housed in plastic cages and received a standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) and water *ad libitum*. The experiments were approved by the State authorities and followed German law on animal protection.

Blood-stage malaria. We used a nonclonal line of *P. chabaudi* (59) exhibiting a restriction length polymorphism pattern very similar, but not identical, to that of *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* AS (28). Erythrocytic stages of *P. chabaudi* were passaged weekly in NMRI mice. Blood was taken from these mice, and 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) into the *taut*^{+/+} and *taut*^{-/-} mice. Parasitemia was evaluated in Giemsa-stained blood smears. The total number of erythrocytes was determined in a Neubauer chamber.

Liver histology. Five $taut^{+/+}$ mice and 5 $taut^{-/-}$ mice, all infected with *P. chabaudi*, were killed at peak parasitemia on day 8 postinfection (p.i.) by cervical dislocation. Livers were removed, cut into small pieces, fixed first with 2.5% glutaraldehyde buffered with 0.1 M sodium cacodylate (pH 7.2) at room temperature for 1 h and then with 2% OsO₄ at 4°C for 2 to 3 h, dehydrated in graded solutions of ethanol, and embedded in Spurr's resin. Semithin sections were stained with toluidine blue-borax.

Determination of particle trapping. Mice were injected with 200 µl phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) containing 1.3×10^8 green fluorescent beads (diameter, 3 µm) by the method of Pinkerton and Webber (40), and uptake by the liver after 5 min was measured by a procedure detailed recently (27). In brief, mice were killed by cervical dislocation, and parts of liver lobes were removed and weighed. Then the tissue was dissolved in KOH and 0.5% Tween 80 in ethanol. Red beads were added as an internal control. The samples were then subjected to several extractions, and the purified beads were resuspended in distilled H₂O. Their fluorescence intensity was measured at excitation and emission wavelengths of 450 and 480 nm for green beads and 520 and 590 nm for red beads, respectively (27).

Histopathology. $taut^{+/+}$ mice killed by cervical dislocation at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. and $taut^{-/-}$ mice that had succumbed to infection during crisis were ventrally opened by longitudinal cuts and were then immersed in 4% neutral formaldehyde. Organs were then prepared and embedded in paraffin. Fivemicrometer-thick sections were cut, dewaxed with xylene, rehydrated, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin as well as with Giemsa stain for routine morphology. In addition, the sections were washed three times, for 5 min each time, in Tris buffer (pH 6.8), incubated at 4°C for 24 h with 3 µg/ml of a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled isolectin IB₄ antibody (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany), and examined by fluorescence/phase-contrast microscopy for brain microglial cells and stimulated murine macrophages and monocytes. Control sections were stained without IB₄.

RNA isolation. Approximately 250 mg frozen liver was homogenized with an Ultra-Turrax homogenizer in 5 ml Trizol (Peqlab Biotechnologie, Erlangen, Germany) for 1 min. After being mixed with 1 ml chloroform for 15 s, the suspension was incubated for 15 min at room temperature and was centrifuged at $3,000 \times g$ for 45 min. After isopropanol precipitation of the supernatant, the pellet was washed twice with 80% ethanol, air dried, and dissolved in 200 μ l RNAse-free water. RNA concentrations were determined at 260 nm.

qRT-PCR. All RNA samples were treated with DNase (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) for at least 1 h and were then converted into cDNA by following the manufacturer's protocol using the reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed using the ABI Prism 7500HT sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) with SYBR green PCR master mix from Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). We investigated the genes encoding the mRNAs for the following proteins: interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), IL-6, nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), vitamin D receptor (VDR), CYP3A11 (cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily a, polypeptide 11), CYP7A1, SULT2B1 (sulfotransferase family 2B, member 1), UGT1A1 (UDP-glucuronosyltransferase family 1, polypeptide A1), multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4), and beta-actin (Actb). All primers used for qRT-PCR were obtained commercially from Qiagen. PCRs were conducted as follows: 2 min at



FIG. 1. Course of *P. chabaudi* infections in female $taut^{-/-}$ and $taut^{+/+}$ mice. Mice were infected with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. *n* stands for the number of mice infected. All values are given as means \pm standard deviations. $taut^{-/-}$ mice differed significantly from $taut^{+/+}$ mice with respect to survival (P < 0.001 by Fisher's exact test) and peak parasitemia (P < 0.01 by the *t* test).

50°C to activate uracil-*N*-glycosylase (UNG); 95°C for 10 min to deactivate UNG; and 40 cycles at 94°C for 15 s, 60°C for 35 s, and 72°C for 30 s. Reaction specificity was checked by performing dissociation curves after PCR. For quantification, mRNA levels were normalized to those of 18S rRNA. The threshold cycle (C_T) value is the cycle number, selected from the logarithmic phase of the PCR curve, in which an increase in fluorescence above background can be detected. ΔC_T is determined by subtracting the C_T of 18S rRNA from the C_T of the target. The relative mRNA levels in noninfected mice are described as the ratio of the target mRNA copy number to the 18S rRNA copy number ($2^{-\Delta CT}$). The fold induction of mRNA expression on day 8 p.i. was determined using the $2^{-\Delta \Delta C_T}$ method ($-\Delta \Delta C_T = \Delta C_T$ at day 0 p.i. $-\Delta C_T$ at day 8 p.i.).

Blood analysis. Plasma and serum were prepared from blood and were then analyzed as follows. Plasma taurine levels were detected as described previously (20). Levels of ammonia, bilirubin, and bile acids (3α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase assay) in plasma, as well as activities of aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase, were determined using the standard methods of the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry. In sera, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α levels were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's protocols. Total NO was analyzed using a commercially available kit (R&D Systems).

Statistical analysis. A two-tailed Student *t* test and a Fisher exact test were used for statistical analysis. Only *P* values of <0.01 were considered to be highly significant.

RESULTS

Course of infections. Blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* take a self-healing course in female $taut^{+/+}$ mice, i.e., approximately 90% of the challenged $taut^{+/+}$ mice survive the infections (Fig. 1). The self-healing course is characterized by a precrisis phase with increasing parasitemia, culminating in



FIG. 2. Liver structure and particle trapping. (A) Light microscopy of liver from a *taut*^{-/-} mouse infected with *P. chabaudi* for 8 days. Arrows indicate parasitized erythrocytes in tight association with Kupffer cells. (B) The trapping capacity of the liver was determined on days 0 and 8 after infection with *P. chabaudi* as described in Materials and Methods. Data are means \pm standard deviations for at least 5 different mice.

peak parasitemia of approximately 40% on day 8 p.i., followed by the crisis phase, with parasitemia falling dramatically, below about 2%, within 5 days. Thereafter, a second peak with a parasitemia of approximately 25% occurs on day 18 p.i., followed by the chronic phase of persistent low-grade parasitemia, presumably controlled by protective immune mechanisms.

In contrast to $taut^{+/+}$ mice, however, all $taut^{-/-}$ mice succumb to infection. Peak parasitemia occurs on day 8 p.i. also but is significantly increased, to approximately 65% (Fig. 1), i.e., there are about 60% more parasitized erythrocytes in $taut^{-/-}$ mice than in $taut^{+/+}$ mice at peak parasitemia. All $taut^{-/-}$ mice die during crisis, between days 8 and 13 p.i. Figure 1 indicates the days of death of the individual mice.

Liver structure and particle trapping. Deletion of the *taut* gene does not result in any visible changes in the structures of the livers of 2-month-old mice at the light microscopic level (50). Upon infection, however, the liver progressively experiences alterations. At peak parasitemia, the tissue reveals some necrotic areas and changes typical of inflammation. Kupffer cells of $taut^{-/-}$ mice are apparently more hypertrophic and more overloaded with hemozoin (Fig. 2A) than those of $taut^{+/+}$ mice (see Fig. S1 in the supplemental material). It appears that Kupffer cells of $taut^{+/-}$ mice are more engaged in phagocytosis than those of $taut^{+/+}$ mice, as suggested by an

increased content of hemozoin and more-frequent occurrence of tightly associated *Plasmodium*-infected erythrocytes (Fig. 2A; see also Fig. S1 in the supplemental material).

In order to semiquantify possible differences in phagocytic activity between $taut^{-/-}$ and $taut^{+/+}$ mice *in vivo*, we have determined the trapping capacity of the liver. Figure 2B shows that the livers of noninfected $taut^{+/+}$ mice are able to entrap approximately 9×10^6 fluorescent, 3-µm-diameter polystyrene beads per 100 µg of liver. At peak parasitemia, however, this trapping capacity is significantly reduced, by about 60%. In contrast, there is no significant reduction in the specific trapping capacity of the liver in $taut^{-/-}$ mice at peak parasitemia (Fig. 2B).

Hepatic gene expression. Quantitative real-time PCR was used to detect changes in the mRNA levels of different genes in the liver. Deletion of the *taut* gene did not affect the expression of the genes tested in noninfected mice. Upon infection, however, there was a significant increase in the mRNA expression of genes in $taut^{-/-}$ mice in comparison to that in $taut^{+/+}$ mice: IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and iNOS were more highly expressed in $taut^{-/-}$ mice. Also, expression of the genes encoding NF- κ B and VDR was increased. In contrast, the mRNA expression patterns of CYP3A11, SULT2B1, UGT1A1, MRP4, and Actb in response to malaria did not differ significantly between $taut^{-/-}$ and $taut^{+/+}$ mice (Fig. 3).

Blood parameters. Deletion of *taut* results in a significant reduction (about 50%) in taurine levels in the plasma (Table 1), in accordance with previous data (20). Also, aspartate transaminase (AST) levels are apparently diminished by about the same percentage (Table 1). However, the concentrations of alanine transaminase (ALT), bile acids, and bilirubin in plasma are not affected by the deletion of *taut*. Also, there is no influence on the levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , and total NO in serum (Table 2).

Upon infection, the taurine levels remained unaffected at peak parasitemia in $taut^{+/+}$ mice, whereas $taut^{-/-}$ mice exhibited a further dropping of the circulating taurine level in comparison to that in noninfected $taut^{-/-}$ mice on day 8 p.i. (Table 1). Infection induced strong increases in AST, ALT, bile acid, and bilirubin levels on day 8 p.i., but these parameters were not significantly different between $taut^{+/+}$ and $taut^{-/-}$ mice at peak parasitemia was the content of ammonia in plasma, which was increased by about 270% in $taut^{+/+}$ mice and by about 400% in $taut^{-/-}$ mice (Table 1).

As expected, infections caused increases in the levels of the three cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , and in total NO levels, in both *taut*^{+/+} and *taut*^{-/-} mice at peak parasitemia (Table 2). Although IL-6 levels increased dramatically at peak parasitemia, the difference between *taut*^{+/+} and *taut*^{-/-} mice was not significant (Table 2). The only significant differences at peak parasitemia were the higher levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β in *taut*^{-/-} mice (Table 2).

Histopathology. *P. chabaudi* infections caused increased levels of ammonia in the blood of $taut^{-/-}$ mice at peak parasitemia (Table 1), suggesting undesired adverse effects on other organs. The brain is especially sensitive to ammonia intoxication, which eventually leads to hepatic encephalopathy (8, 9, 18, 19, 36). When we examined slices of cerebrum and cerebellum from $taut^{-/-}$ mice, which had succumbed to *P*.



FIG. 3. Hepatic gene expression. The mRNA levels and fold mRNA induction of malaria-relevant genes were determined by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data are means \pm standard deviations for 5 different mice. Symbols: *, significant difference between infected and noninfected mice; \$, significant difference between $taut^{+/+}$ and $taut^{-/-}$ mice.

chabaudi infections during the crisis phase, destruction of the microvasculature was widespread (Fig. 4A). In particular, the vessels contained parasitized erythrocytes, as well as monocytes and macrophages with hemozoin deposits (Fig. 4A and B). The vessel walls were partially destroyed, allowing blood cells to invade adjacent brain tissue (Fig. 4C). Damage of the

microvasculature also manifested as intravascular monocyte aggregation, vasodilatation, edema, endothelial cell activation, swelling of endothelial cell nuclei, increased numbers of activated microglial cells in perivascular species, plugging of small vessels with erythrocytes and mononuclear cells, and occasional rupture of vessel walls (37). In particular, small vessels were plugged with both parasitized and nonparasitized erythrocytes, causing focal microhemorrhages. Moreover, the lumens of vessels were occasionally occluded by monocytes that adhered tightly to the endothelium of the microvasculature.

Moreover, the hearts of these dead $taut^{-/-}$ mice revealed a series of morphological alterations. There was interstitial edema with moderate mononuclear cell infiltration; the sizes of cardiomyocytes differed; and myofibers often appeared thinner than normal and wavy (Fig. 4D). Furthermore, severe changes were also detected in the lungs. These changes became evident as thickened alveolar septa, interstitial and/or intra-alveolar edema, increased numbers of macrophages, intensified adhesiveness of malaria pigment-containing monocytes, septal pneumonitis with monocyte infiltrates, and occasional hyperplasia of type II pneumocytes (Fig. 4E to G). Three out of 16 mice revealed hemorrhagic infarcts of the lung, and 1 mouse showed alveolar macrophages with hemosiderin pigment (Fig. 4G).

The deceased mice also suffered from acute renal failure, as indicated by acute tubular necrosis and chromoprotein cylinders (Fig. 4H). In acute tubular necrosis, necrosis occurs mainly in the proximal tubular epithelium and is characterized by cells with no nuclei and homogenous, intensely eosinophilic cytoplasm. Necrotic cells penetrate the lumens of tubules, which become obliterated, eventually resulting in acute renal failure (Fig. 4I). Finally, the liver revealed large necrotic areas (Fig. 4K).

In this context, however, it should also be mentioned that $taut^{+/+}$ mice killed at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. did not reveal such dramatic pathological changes in the brain, lung, heart, kidney, and liver as $taut^{-/-}$ mice that succumbed to infection during crisis (see Fig. S1 in the supplemental material).

DISCUSSION

Previous studies of different mouse malaria models have revealed that blood-stage malaria is under complex control,

TABLE 1. Plasma parameters of *P. chabaudi*-infected $taut^{+/+}$ and $taut^{-/-}$ mice on days 0 and 8 p.i.^a

		Day 0 p.i.			Day 8 p.i.		P (day	8 p.i. vs
Parameter	Mean value \pm S	EM (no. of mice)	$P(taut^{-/-}us)$	Mean value ± S	EM (no. of mice)	\mathbf{p} (taut ^{-/-} us	day () p.i.)
	taut ^{+/+}	taut ^{-/-}	T ($taut + \sqrt{s}$ $taut^{+/+}$ mice)	taut ^{+/+}	taut ^{-/-}	T ($taut + \sqrt{s}$ $taut^{+/+}$ mice)	<i>taut</i> ^{+/+} mice	<i>taut^{-/-}</i> mice
Taurine (µmol/liter) AST (U/liter) ALT (U/liter) Bile acids (µmol/liter) Bilirubin (ng/dl)	$540 \pm 47 (3) 93 \pm 28 (6) 19 + 2 (6) 20 \pm 2 (3) 0.13 \pm 0.02 (6)$	$264 \pm 25 (3) 42 \pm 4 (6) 14 + 3 (6) 22 \pm 5 (5) 0.17 \pm 0.03 (6)$	< 0.01 0.14 0.41 0.79 0.19	$569 \pm 16 (6) 574 \pm 117 (9) 150 + 32 (9) 40 \pm 8 (9) 1.18 \pm 0.03 (6)$	$\begin{array}{c} 192 \pm 19 \ (4) \\ 589 \pm 142 \ (7) \\ 131 + 30 \ (7) \\ 51 \pm 9 \ (6) \\ 0.80 \pm 0.23 \ (6) \end{array}$	< 0.01 0.88 0.68 0.39 0.33	$\begin{array}{c} 0.48 \\ < 0.01 \\ < 0.01 \\ 0.2 \\ < 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.05 \\ < 0.01 \\ < 0.01 \\ 0.02 \\ < 0.01 \end{array}$
Ammonia (µg/dl)	$61 \pm 6 (4)$	74 ± 9 (4)	0.31	$165 \pm 16(8)$	291 ± 23 (8)	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.02

^{*a*} Blood was taken from mice, and plasma was prepared and analyzed, as described in Materials and Methods. Significance was evaluated with Student's *t* test; *P* values of <0.01 were considered significant. γ -Glutamyltransferase activity was lower than 3 U/liter in all samples.

	1	Day 0 p.i.			Day 8 p.i.	I	P (dav	8 p.i. vs
Parameter	Mean value \pm S	EM (no. of mice)	D (tt ^{-/-}	Mean value ± S	EM (no. of mice)	D (4 4	day () p.i.)
	taut ^{+/+}	taut ^{-/-}	P (laul \rightarrow Vs taut $^{+/+}$ mice)	taut ^{+/+}	taut ^{-/-}	P (taut \sim vs. taut $^{+/+}$ mice)	taut ^{+/+} mice	taut ^{-/-} mice
IL-1β (ng/liter)	1.27 ± 0.1 (3)	2.1 ± 0.2 (3)	0.15	4.7 ± 1.1 (3)	$14.5 \pm 1.9(3)$	< 0.01	0.05	0.02
IL-6 (ng/liter)	1.2 ± 0.1 (3)	2.1 ± 0.5 (3)	0.37	$39.1 \pm 12.3(5)$	$69.4 \pm 22.6(5)$	0.25	< 0.01	< 0.01
TNF-α (ng/liter)	23.8 ± 0.6 (4)	27.3 ± 2.1 (4)	0.22	$29.4 \pm 6.2(5)$	$97.2 \pm 23.6(5)$	< 0.01	0.46	0.02
Total NO (umol/liter)	25 + 2(3)	74 + 41(3)	0.35	118 + 9(4)	198 + 35(3)	0.08	< 0.01	0.02

TABLE 2. Serum parameters of *P. chabaudi*-infected $taut^{+/+}$ and $taut^{-/-}$ mice on days 0 and 8 p.i.^a

^{*a*} Blood was taken from mice, and serum was prepared and analyzed, as described in Materials and Methods. Significance was evaluated with Student's *t* test; *P* values of <0.01 were considered significant. γ -Glutamyltransferase activity was lower than 3 U/liter in all samples.

involving both genes of the mouse major histocompatibility complex (MHC), i.e., the H-2 complex, and genes of the non-H-2 background (42, 57, 58), as well as soluble factors, such as testosterone (57, 58) and estrogen (5, 6). Different genes and/or loci of the non-H-2 background have already been reported to be critical for a fatal outcome of malaria (14, 15, 21, 30, 35, 41). Here we report another critical gene of the non-H-2 background, i.e., the *taut* gene, encoding the taurine transporter TAUT. Indeed, deletion of the *taut* gene causes loss of the mice's ability to self-heal blood-stage infections with P. *chabaudi*.

Our data, however, also indicate that it is not the loss of the taut gene or the gene product TAUT per se that causes the fatal outcome of malaria. Rather, it is the physiological consequence, namely, the breakdown of taurine homeostasis, evident as lowered levels of taurine in the cells and blood, since taurine is the major factor transported by TAUT. Indeed, deletion of taut results in a reduction of about 50% in taurine levels in the blood plasma, which, in turn, is associated with a lowering of intracellular taurine levels, as shown previously (20, 50, 51). Moreover, the taurine levels in $taut^{-/-}$ mice are lowered another 25% at peak parasitemia. This suggests that the fatal outcome of P. chabaudi infections during crisis is causally related to taurine deficiency. However, the taurine deficiency per se is not lethal; rather, it becomes lethal only when mice have to respond to P. chabaudi infection. This becomes evident at peak parasitemia, when $taut^{-/-}$ mice exhibit significant increases in parasitemia, systemic cytokine levels, and liver damage relative to those for $taut^{+/+}$ mice, which exhibit normal taurine homeostasis even at peak parasitemia.

There is ample evidence that lowered taurine levels also critically affect the stability of cells (18). In accordance, our findings suggest altered stability of, e.g., macrophages and parasitized erythrocytes. Indeed, P. chabaudi infections in taurinedeficient nonhealer $taut^{-/-}$ mice result in a peak parasitemia that is approximately 60% higher, on average, than that for self-healer taut^{+/+} mice. But even noninfected erythrocytes exhibit a different level of stability, as indicated by previous data showing that erythrocytes of $taut^{-/-}$ mice are characterized by impaired eryptosis (apoptosis of erythrocytes) (31). Such impaired ervptosis may be even further delayed by intraerythrocytic P. chabaudi, as is known to occur for host cells infected by other intracellular parasites (1, 32, 49). Recent evidence indeed has shown impaired eryptosis of erythrocytes infected with Plasmodium berghei (26) or Plasmodium falcipa*rum*, presumably due to a parasite-maintained low Ca^{2+} concentration in the cytosol of the host erythrocyte (23). Moreover, the macrophages of $taut^{-/-}$ mice appear to change their stability in response to malaria, as circumstantially indicated by the increased systemic levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β , which are produced primarily by macrophages. This accords with other data showing, conversely, that taurine is able to dampen the effect of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β (12) and TNF- α (10, 24, 33, 34, 44, 47, 60).

About 80% to 90% of all macrophages reside as Kupffer cells in the liver, in particular in the periportal area, supervising the invasion of pathogens (18). It is therefore reasonable to assume that taurine deficiency also affects the stability of malaria-activated Kupffer cells in taut^{-/-} mice, which presumably release more proinflammatory cytokines than *taut*^{+/+} mice, thus contributing to the increased levels of circulating TNF- α and IL-1 β . The increased release of TNF- α and IL-1 β may, in turn, induce local inflammatory responses, which may be associated with more-pronounced liver injuries in $taut^{-/-}$ mice than in $taut^{+/+}$ mice (4). This view, that increased liver injuries are due predominantly to overwhelming host responses to infection, is also supported by our data showing increased ammonia levels in malaria-infected $taut^{-/-}$ mice and perturbed particle-entrapping activity of the liver at peak parasitemia. However, our analyses of hepatic gene expression indicate that the liver is obviously not uniformly damaged in response to malaria, since only some genes, such as those encoding IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-6, iNOS, NF-κB, and VDR, show increased expression; the expression of others, such as the CYP3A11, CYP7A1, SULT2B1, UGT1A1, and MRP4 genes, is the same in taut^{-/-} mice as in $taut^{+/+}$ mice.

The malaria-induced increase in the systemic ammonia levels of $taut^{-/-}$ mice ultimately contributes to injuries in other organs, which also suffer from the lowered taurine levels due to the breakdown of taurine homeostasis. In particular, it is known that increased ammonia levels lead to hepatic encephalopathy, characterized by astrocyte swelling and low-grade cerebral edema (19, 36, 55). Our data reveal that the brains of the $taut^{-/-}$ mice that succumbed to malaria were massively damaged. Incidentally, human P. falciparum malaria patients suffer from hepatic encephalopathy (25). Although brain damage, such as that which occurs in $taut^{-/-}$ mice, could be a sufficient and exclusive cause for death, our autopsy analysis also revealed massive injuries in other organs, such as the lung, kidney, and heart. Incidentally, $taut^{-/-}$ are prone to pressure overload and cardiac hypertrophy (50, 51). All these data indicate multiple organ failure as the cause of death for malaria-



FIG. 4. Histopathology of tissues of $taut^{-/-}$ mice that succumbed to *P. chabaudi* malaria. (A, B, and C) Slices of the brain including the cortex cerebri. Histological changes of the brain (A and C) include the presence of several parasitized erythrocytes in the cerebral blood vessels, infiltration of malarial-pigment-containing hypertrophic monocytes (A, arrow), endothelial cell activation with enlarged nuclei (C, black arrows), adherence of mononuclear cells to endothelial cells of small cerebral vessels, and focal vessel disruption (C, white arrow) with perivascular hemorrhage (C, double-headed arrow). Arrows in panel B show isolectin IB₄ antibody staining of stimulated murine macrophages in a blood vessel. (D) Slices of heart muscle show interstitial edema, differences in the sizes of cardiomyocytes, and abnormal, thinner myofibers with a wavy appearance. (E) Pulmonary edema of the lung. (F) Hemorrhagi cinfarct of the lung. (G) Isolectin staining showing interstitial stimulated murine pigment-containing macrophages/monocytes in the lung. (H) Arrows indicate chromoprotein cylinders in the kidney. (I) Double-headed arrow shows tubular necrosis in the kidney. (K) Small and large arrows indicate small and large necrotic areas in the liver. Some tissues were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (A, C, D, E, and F) or were subjected to immune staining with the FITC-labeled isolectin IB₄ antibody (B and G). Original magnifications, ×400 (A, B, C, and D), ×100 (E, G, H, and K), and ×200 (F and I).

infected $taut^{-/-}$ mice. Obviously, $taut^{-/-}$ mice, due to their taurine deficiency, are not able to robustly activate those mechanisms that mediate self-healing from *P. chabaudi* malaria, as $taut^{+/+}$ mice do.

Collectively, our data show that the breakdown of taurine homeostasis, manifesting as lowered taurine levels as a consequence of *taut* deletion, is not lethal *per se* but becomes lethal in response to blood-stage malaria. Obviously, the *taut* gene and taurine homeostasis are essential for self-healing of *P. chabaudi* blood-stage malaria. It remains to be seen whether

taurine deficiency also affects the outcome of human malarial infections.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to C. Barthuber and I. Mönnighoff for help with blood analysis and to A. Grunwald and P. Marinovski for technical assistance.

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft through GRK 1427 and SFB 575 as well as by the Centre of Excellence for Biodiversity Research, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Aga, E., D. M. Katschinski, G. van Zandbergen, H. Laufs, B. Hansen, K. Müller, W. Solbach, and T. Laskay, 2002. Inhibition of the spontaneous apoptosis of neutrophil granulocytes by the intracellular parasite Leishmania *major*. J. Immunol. **169:**898–905.
- 2. Aikawa, M., M. Suzuki, and Y. Gutierrez. 1980. Pathology of malaria, p. 47-102. In J. P. Kreier (ed.), Malaria, vol. 2. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 3. Balmer, P., J. Alexander, and R. S. Phillips. 2000. Protective immunity to erythrocytic Plasmodium chabaudi AS infection involves IFN-y-mediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. Parasitology 121:473-482.
- 4. Barua, M., Y. Liu, and M. R. Quinn. 2001. Taurine chloramine inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase and TNF- α gene expression in activated alveolar macrophages: decreased NF-KB activation and IKB kinase activity. J. Immunol. 167:2275-2281.
- 5. Benten, W. P. M., F. Wunderlich, R. Herrmann, and W. N. Kühn-Velten. 1993. Testosterone-induced compared with oestradiol-induced immunosuppression against Plasmodium chabaudi malaria. J. Endocrinol. 139:487-494.
- 6. Benten, W. P. M., F. Wunderlich, and H. Mossmann. 1992. Plasmodium chabaudi: estradiol suppresses acquiring, but not once-acquired immunity. Exp. Parasitol. 75:240-247.
- 7. Bouckenooghe, T., C. Remacle, and B. Reusens. 2006. Is taurine a functional nutrient? Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 9:728-733.
- 8. Butterworth, R. F. 2002. Pathophysiology of hepatic encephalopathy: a new ook at ammonia. Metab. Brain Dis. 17:221-22
- 9. Butterworth, R. F., J. F. Giguère, J. Michaud, J. Lavoie, and G. P. Layrargues. 1987. Ammonia: key factor in the pathogenesis of hepatic encephalopathy. Neurochem. Pathol. 6:1-12.
- 10. Cetiner, M., G. Sener, A. O. Sehirli, E. Ekçsioğlu-Demiralp, F. Ercan, S. Sirvanci, N. Gedik, S. Akpulat, T. Tecimer, and B. C. Yeğen. 2005. Taurine protects against methotrexate-induced toxicity and inhibits leukocyte death. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 209:39-50.
- 11. Chapman, R. A., M. S. Suleiman, and Y. E. Earm. 1993. Taurine and the heart. Cardiovasc. Res. 27:358-363.
- 12. Chorazy, M., E. Kontny, J. Marcinkiewicz, and W. Maśliński. 2002. Taurine chloramine modulates cytokine production by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Amino Acids 23:407-413.
- 13. Doolan, D. L., C. Dobano, and J. K. Baird. 2009. Acquired immunity to malaria, Clin, Microbiol, Rev. 22:13-36.
- 14. Foote, S. J., R. A. Burt, T. M. Baldwin, A. Presente, A. W. Roberts, Y. L. Laural, A. M. Lew, and V. M. Marshall. 1997. Mouse loci for malariainduced mortality and the control of parasitemia. Nat. Genet. 17:380-381.
- 15. Fortin, A., L. R. Cardon, M. Tam, E. Skamene, M. M. Stevenson, and P. Gros. 2001. Identification of a new malaria susceptibility locus (Char4) in recombinant congenic strains of mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98: 10793-10798. (Erratum, 98:14744.)
- 16. Green, T. R., J. H. Fellman, A. L. Eicher, and K. L. Pratt. 1991. Antioxidant role and subcellular localization of hypotaurine and taurine in human neutrophils. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1073:91-97.
- Grimble, R. F. 2006. The effects of sulphur amino acid intake on immune functions in humans. J. Nutr. 136:1660S-1665S.
- 18. Häussinger, D., R. Kubitz, R. Reinehr, J. G. Bode, and F. Schliess. 2004. Molecular aspects of medicine: from experimental to clinical hepatology. Mol. Aspects Med. 25:221–360.
- Häussinger, D., and F. Schliess. 2008. Pathogenetic mechanisms of hepatic encephalopathy. Gut 57:1156–1165. 19
- 20. Heller-Stilb, B., C. van Royen, K. Rascher, H. G. Hartwig, A. Huth, M. W. Seeliger, U. Warskulat, and D. Häussinger. 2002. Disruption of the taurine transporter gene (taut) leads to retinal degeneration in mice. FASEB J. 16:231-233.
- 21. Hernandez-Valladares, M., J. Naessens, J. P. Gibson, A. J. Musoke, S. Nagda, P. Rihet, O. K. Ole-Moi Yoi, and F. A. Iraqi. 2004. Confirmation and dissection of QTL controlling resistance to malaria in mice. Mamm. Genome 15:390-398.
- 22. Huxtable, R. J. 1992. Physiological actions of taurine. Physiol. Rev. 72:101-
- 23. Kasinathan, R. S., M. Föller, S. Koka, S. M. Huber, and F. Lang. 2007. Inhibition of eryptosis and intraerythrocytic growth of Plasmodium falciparum by flufenamic acid. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 374:255-264
- 24. Kincius, M., R. Liang, A. Nickkholgh, K. Hoffmann, C. Flechtenmacher, E. Ryschich, C. N. Gutt, M. M. Gebhard, J. Schmidt, M. W. Büchler, and P. Schemmer. 2007. Taurine protects from liver injury after warm ischemia in rats: the role of Kupffer cells. Eur. Surg. Res. 39:275-283.
- Kochar, D. K., P. Agarwal, S. K. Kochar, R. Jain, N. Rawat, R. K. Pokharna, 25. S. Kachhawa, and T. Srivastava. 2003. Hepatocyte dysfunction and hepatic encephalopathy in Plasmodium falciparum malaria. QJM 96:505-512.
- Koka, S., S. M. Huber, K. M. Boini, C. Lang, M. Föller, and F. Lang. 2007. Lead decreases parasitemia and enhances survival of *Plasmodium berghei*-26 infected mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 363:484-489.
- 27. Kruecken, J., M. A. Dkhil, J. V. Braun, R. M. Schroetel, M. El-Khadragy, P. Carmeliet, H. Mossmann, and F. Wunderlich. 2005. Testosterone suppresses

protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. Infect. Immun. 73:436-443

- 28. Kruecken, J., L. I. Mehnert, M. A. Dkhil, M. El-Khadragy, W. P. M. Benten, H. Mossmann, and F. Wunderlich. 2005. Massive destruction of malariaparasitized red blood cells despite spleen closure. Infect. Immun. 73:6390-6398
- 29. Kurz, A. K., F. Schliess, and D. Häussinger. 1998. Osmotic regulation of the heat shock response in primary hepatocytes. Hepatology **28**:774–781. **Kwiatkowski, D.** 2000. Genetic susceptibility to malaria getting complex.
- Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 10:320-324.
- 31. Lang, P. A., U. Warskulat, B. Heller-Stilb, D. Y. Huang, A. Grenz, S. Myssina, M. Duszenko, F. Lang, D. Häussinger, V. Vallon, and T. Wieder. 2003. Blunted apoptosis of erythrocytes from taurine transporter deficient mice. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. **13**:337–346.
- 32. Liu, L., W. P. M. Benten, L. Wang, X. Hao, Q. Li, H. Zhang, D. Guo, Y. Wang, F. Wunderlich, and Z. Qiao. 2005. Modulation of *Leishmania dono*vani infection and cell viability by testosterone in bone marrow-derived macrophages: signaling via surface binding sites. Steroids 70:604-614.
- 33. Marcinkiewicz, J., A. Grabowska, J. Bereta, K. Bryniarski, and B. Nowak. 1998. Taurine chloramine down-regulates the generation of murine neutrophil inflammatory mediators. Immunopharmacology 40:27-38.
- 34. Marcinkiewicz, J., M. Mak, M. Bobek, R. Biedroń, A. Białecka, M. Koprowski, E. Kontny, and W. Maśliński. 2005. Is there a role of taurine bromamine in inflammation? Interactive effects with nitrite and hydrogen peroxide. Inflamm. Res. 54:42-49.
- 35. Min-Oo, G., A. Fortin, G. Pitari, M. Tam, M. M. Stevenson, and P. Gros. 2007. Complex genetic control of susceptibility to malaria: positional cloning of the Char9 locus. J. Exp. Med. 204:511-524.
- 36. Munoz, S. J. 2008. Hepatic encephalopathy. Med. Clin. North Am. 92:795-812
- 37. Neill, A. L., T. Chan-Ling, and N. H. Hunt. 1993. Comparisons between microvascular changes in cerebral and non-cerebral malaria in mice, using the retinal whole-mount technique. Parasitology 107:477-487.
- Park, E., G. Schuller-Levis, and M. R. Quinn. 1995. Taurine chloramine inhibits production of nitric oxide and TNF- α in activated RAW 264.7 cells by mechanisms that involve transcriptional and translational events. J. Immunol. 154:4778-4784.
- 39. Peters-Regehr, T., J. G. Bode, R. Kubitz, and D. Häussinger. 1999. Organic osmolyte transport in quiescent and activated rat hepatic stellate cells (Ito cells). Hepatology 29:173-180.
- 40. Pinkerton, W., and M. Webber. 1964. A method of injecting small laboratory animals by the ophthalmic plexus route. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 116:959-961.
- 41. Roberts, C. W., W. Walker, and J. Alexander. 2001. Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 14: 476-488.
- 42. Sayles, P. C., and D. L. Wassom. 1988. Immunoregulation in murine malaria. Susceptibility of inbred mice to infection with Plasmodium yoelii depends on the dynamic interplay of host and parasite genes. J. Immunol. 141:241-248.
- 43. Schuller-Levis, G. B., and E. Park. 2004. Taurine and its chloramine: modulators of immunity. Neurochem. Res. 29:117-126.
- Seabra, V., R. F. Stachlewitz, and R. G. Thurman. 1998. Taurine blunts LPS-induced increases in intracellular calcium and TNF- α production by Kupffer cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 64:615-621.
- 45. Stapleton, P. P., L. O'Flaherty, H. P. Redmond, and D. J. Bouchier-Hayes. 1998. Host defense-a role for the amino acid taurine? J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 22:42-48.
- 46. Suzuki, T., T. Suzuki, T. Wada, K. Saigo, and K. Watanabe. 2002. Taurine as a constituent of mitochondrial tRNAs: new insights into the functions of taurine and human mitochondrial diseases. EMBO J. 21:6581-6589.
- 47. Tan, B., D. J. Jiang, H. Huang, S. J. Jia, J. L. Jiang, C. P. Hu, and Y. J. Li. 2007. Taurine protects against low-density lipoprotein-induced endothe lial dysfunction by the DDAH/ADMA pathway. Vascul. Pharmacol. 46:338-345.
- 48. Timbrell, J. A., V. Seabra, and C. J. Waterfield. 1995. The in vivo and in vitro protective properties of taurine. Gen. Pharmacol. 26:453-462.
- 49. Vutova, P., M. Wirth, D. Hippe, U. Gross, K. Schulze-Osthoff, I. Schmitz, and C. G. Lüder. 2007. Toxoplasma gondii inhibits Fas/CD95-triggered cell death by inducing aberrant processing and degradation of caspase 8. Cell. Microbiol. 9:1556-1570.
- 50. Warskulat, U., E. Borsch, R. Reinehr, B. Heller-Stilb, I. Mönnighoff, D. Buchczyk, M. Donner, U. Flögel, G. Kappert, S. Soboll, S. Beer, K. Pfeffer, H. U. Marschall, M. Gabrielsen, M. Amiry-Moghaddam, O. P. Ottersen, H. P. Dienes, and D. Häussinger. 2006. Chronic liver disease is triggered by taurine transporter knockout in the mouse. FASEB J. 20: 574-576
- 51. Warskulat, U., B. Heller-Stilb, E. Oermann, K. Zilles, H. Haas, F. Lang, and D. Häussinger. 2007. Phenotype of the taurine transporter knockout mouse. Methods Enzymol. 428:439-458
- 52. Warskulat, U., F. Zhang, and D. Häussinger. 1997. Taurine is an osmolyte in rat liver macrophages (Kupffer cells). J. Hepatol. 26:1340-1347.

Vol. 78, 2010

- Weik, C., U. Warskulat, J. G. Bode, T. Peters-Regehr, and D. Häussinger. 1998. Compatible organic osmolytes in rat liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. Hepatology 27:569–575.
- Welch, W. J., and C. R. Brown. 1996. Influence of molecular and chemical chaperones on protein folding. Cell Stress Chaperones 1:109–115.
 Wendon, J., and W. Lee. 2008. Encephalopathy and cerebral edema in the
- Wendon, J., and W. Lee. 2008. Encephalopathy and cerebral edema in the setting of acute liver failure: pathogenesis and management. Neurocrit. Care 9:97–102.
- Wettstein, M., and D. Häussinger. 1997. Cytoprotection by the osmolytes betaine and taurine in ischemia-reoxygenation injury in the perfused rat liver. Hepatology 26:1560–1566.
- 57. Wunderlich, F., P. Marinovski, W. P. M. Benten, H. P. Schmitt-Wrede, and

Editor: J. H. Adams

H. Mossmann. 1991. Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. Parasite Immunol. **13**:357–367.

- Wunderlich, F., H. Mossmann, M. Helwig, and G. Schillinger. 1988. Resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* in B10 mice: influence of the H-2 complex and testosterone. Infect. Immun. 56:2400–2406.
 Wunderlich, F., H. Stübig, and E. Königk. 1982. Development of *Plasmo-*
- Wunderlich, F., H. Stübig, and E. Königk. 1982. Development of *Plasmodium chabaudi* in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. J. Protozool. 29:60–66.
- 60. Zhang, F., L. Tong, H. Qiao, X. Dong, G. Qiao, H. Jiang, and X. Sun. 2008. Taurine attenuates multiple organ injury induced by intestinal ischemia reperfusion in rats. J. Surg. Res. 149:101–109.

2.2 Testosterone-induced upregulation of miRNAs in the female mouse liver

Background: Evidence is inc reasing for a new player in gene expression, that is the miRNA. MicroRNAs are sm all (18-25 nts long) non-coding RNAs, which post-transcriptionally regulate gene expression in a sequence-specific manner by binding to the 3'UTR of target genes resulting in either inhibition of translation or degradation of mRNA. Most recent information indicates that there is a sexually dimorphic miRNA expression. Testosterone (T) is known to af fect protein-encoding gene expression directly through androgen receptor which binds to specific androgen response elements in promoters of target genes or indirect through non-genotropic mechanisms. To date, there is no information available about T effects on hepatic miRNA expression *in vivo*.

Methods: Female C 57BL/6 mic e we re t reated with T or v ehicle for 3 we eks twic e a week. Hepatic miRNA expression was determined using miRXplore microarrays and verified by qRT-PCR. Moreover, qRT-PCR analysis is used to detect effects of T during different time-points of T treatment, aft er 12 week s of T wit hdrawal, and aft er in fection with *P. chabaudi* mal aria. Affymetrix microarrays and qRT-PCR analysis are used to identify target genes of miRNAs and *in silico* analysis to find out AREs in the promoter regions.

Results: T caused a transient upregulation of the 6 miRNAs miR-22, miR-690, miR-122, let-7A, miR-30D, and let-7D in the female mouse liver, reaching maximal expression on different timepoints, but disappeared after 1 2 weeks of T withdrawal. Moreover, this upregulated miRNA expression is r obust because it was not affected by *Plasmodium chabaudi* blood-stage malaria. The majority of the 6 upregulated miRNA and their protein-encoding target genes did not contain any ARE in their promoters.

Conclusion: These data provide first indications that T affects hepatic miRNA expression *in vivo* through both genotropic and non-genotropic mechanisms.

Steroids 75 (2010) 998-1004

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Steroids



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/steroids

Testosterone-induced upregulation of miRNAs in the female mouse liver

Denis Delić^a, Christian Grosser^a, Mohamed Dkhil^b, Saleh Al-Quraishy^b, Frank Wunderlich^{a,b,*}

^a Division of Molecular Parasitology and Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Universitaetsstr. 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany ^b Zoology Department, College of Science, King Saud University, 11451 Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 20 January 2010 Received in revised form 21 June 2010 Accepted 22 June 2010 Available online 1 July 2010

Keywords: Testosterone miRNA Androgen receptor Non-genotropic mechanisms Malaria Testosterone (T) regulates expression of protein-encoding genes directly through androgen receptor (AR) targeting androgen response element (ARE) in gene promoters or indirectly through non-genotropic mechanisms, but only limited information is available about T effects on expression of gene-regulatory non-coding miRNAs. Here, we investigate the effect of T on miRNA expression profiles in the female mouse liver using miRXplore microarrays and quantitative RT-PCR. T treatment for 3 weeks induced upregulation of the 6 miRNAs miR-22, miR-690, miR-122, let-7A, miR-30D and let-7D, reaching maximal expression at different time-points during T treatment. This upregulation was transient, i.e. it disappeared after T withdrawal for 12 weeks, and it was rather robust since it was not essentially affected by blood-stage infections with Plasmodium chabaudi malaria. In silico analysis revealed an ARE in the miR-122 promoter, while the other 5 miRNAs did not contain any ARE in their 2000 bp promoters. The T-induced upregulation of the 6 miRNAs coincided with a downregulation of some of their target protein-encoding genes, the majority of which did incidentally not contain any ARE in their promoters. T treatment did not affect expression of AR and estrogen receptor β (ER β), but significantly downregulated the miR-22 target genes $\text{ER}\alpha$ and aromatase. This downregulation is presumably not caused by T after its aromatase-mediated conversion to E₂ through ER, but rather by the T-induced upregulation of miR-22. Collectively, our data suggest that T can regulate expression of distinct miRNAs in vivo by both genotropic and non-genotropic mechanisms.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Testosterone (T) exerts a wide spectrum of physiological and pathological activities: it does not only contribute to sculpturing the male phenotype [1,2], but it is also known, for example, to exhibit immunosuppressive activity [3,4] and to increase susceptibility towards a wide variety of infectious diseases [5,6]. T is known to regulate gene expression through both genotropic and non-genotropic mechanisms. The genotropic T effects manifest themselves as direct action on gene expression through the intracellular androgen receptor (AR) [7]. More specifically, the 110 kDa protein AR binds T and the AR–T-complex is translocated into the nucleus, where it binds to androgen response element (ARE) in promoters of target genes thus inducing or repressing expression of protein-encoding genes [1,8,9]. Non-genotropic mechanisms are regarded as those which are either only indirectly mediated through the AR, i.e. by cross-talk of the T–AR-complex with other

signaling pathways [7,10–13], or as those which are initiated at specific membrane androgen receptors belonging to the G-protein coupled receptors [12–16]. The latter non-genotropic mechanisms are associated with an increase in intracellular free Ca²⁺ concentration [14,17–19], which in turn can also modulate gene expression by cross-talk with other signaling pathways [20].

Recently, microRNAs (miRNAs) are getting more and more attention as regulators of gene expression. These miRNAs are one of the non-coding RNA species which are approximately 20 bp in size and which regulate gene expression by inhibiting translation of RNA into proteins and/or by reducing stability of mRNAs [21–23]. In mice, more than 600 miRNA have been discovered to date [24] and each miRNA is supposed to target hundreds of mRNAs of protein-coding genes, respectively [25]. The miRNAs affect outcome of diseases and they may even function as oncogenes or tumor suppressors [26–32]. However, there is available only very limited information about T action on miRNAs. Only prostate cancer cells and other cancerous cells have been investigated showing T-dependent changes in miRNA expression [33–35]. To our knowledge, however, T effects on miRNAs in organs *in vivo* have not been described to date.

Recent studies have revealed profound and unexpected roles of miRNAs in the control of diverse aspects of the liver, includ-

^{*} Corresponding author at: Division of Molecular Parasitology, Heinrich-Heine-University, Universitaetsstr. 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany. Tel.: +49 211 81 13401; fax: +49 211 81 14734.

E-mail address: frank.wunderlich@uni-duesseldorf.de (F. Wunderlich).

⁰⁰³⁹⁻¹²⁸X/\$ - see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2010.06.010

ing hepatocyte growth, stress response, metabolism, infection, proliferation, gene expression, and maintenance of hepatic phenotype [27,36–38]. The liver is also known as a T target organ. For instance, T affects liver metabolism [41], depresses hepatic immune responses [39,40] and even induces hepatocellular carcinoma [42–44]. Here, we provide first indications that T induces transient expression of 6 different miRNA species in the female mouse liver, at least 5 of them are presumably activated by nongenotropic mechanisms.

2. Experimental

2.1. Mice

Female mice of the inbred strain C57BL/6, bred under specified pathogen-free conditions in the animal facilities of the Heinrich-Heine University Düsseldorf, were used in all experiments. They were housed in plastic cages, and they received a standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) and water ad libitum. The experiments were approved by the state authorities and followed the German law on animal protection.

2.2. Testosterone treatment

Mice at an age of 10-12 weeks received subcutaneous injections of $100 \ \mu$ l sesame oil containing 0.9 mg testosterone (Testosterone-Depot-50; Schering, Berlin, Germany) twice a week for 3 weeks; controls were treated only with the vehicle [45]. This T treatment has been previously shown to increase the circulating T concentrations in female mice from 0.18 ng/ml to 3.79 ng/ml [46], which is in that range normally found in male mice amounting to about 3-5 nM [47]. Discontinuation of T treatment for 12 weeks resulted in a decline of the T levels to 0.21 ng/ml as shown previously [46].

2.3. Malarial infections

Blood-stage infections of *Plasmodium chabaudi* [48,49] were passaged weekly in NMRI mice. C57BL/6 mice were challenged *i. p.* with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Parasitemia was determined in Giemsa-stained tail blood, and cell number was measured in a Neubauer chamber.

2.4. RNA-isolation

Mice were killed by cervical dislocation, livers as eptically removed and pieces of the liver were immediately frozen in nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until use. For isolating RNA, approximately 250 mg frozen liver was homogenized with an ultraturrax in 5 ml Trizol (Peqlab Biotechnology, Erlangen, Germany), mixed with 1 ml chloroform for 15 s, kept at room temperature for 15 min and centrifugated at $3000 \times g$ for 45 min. After isopropanol precipitation of the supernatant, the pellet was washed twice with 80% ethanol, air dried and dissolved in 200 µl RNase-free water. RNA concentrations were determined at 260 nm.

2.5. RNA labeling and hybridization

Quality of RNA samples was controlled using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer platform (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany). Labeling and hybridization was done according to user manuals of the miRXploreTM manufacturer (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany) [24,50]. In brief, the experimental samples were always labeled with the red fluorescent Hy5 and the control miRXplore Universal Reference (UR), representing a defined pool of synthetic microRNAs, was labeled with green fluorescent Hy3. Subsequently, the labeled material was hybridized overnight to miRXploreTMMicroarrays using the a-HybTM Hybridization Station (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany). Fluorescence signals of the hybridized miRXploreTM Microarrays were detected using a laserscanner (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany).

2.6. Data analysis

The miRXploreTM Microarrays were scanned and quantified as detailed previously [24,50]. Mean signal and mean local background intensities were obtained for each spot of the microarray images using the ImaGene software (Biodiscovery, El Segundo, U.S.A.). Low-quality spots were flagged and excluded from data analysis. Unflagged spots were analyzed with the PIQORTM Analyzer software (Miltenyi, Biotec). The PIQOR Analyzer allows automated data processing of the raw data text files derived from the ImaGene software. This includes background subtraction to obtain the net signal intensity, data normalization, and calculation of the Hy5/Hy3 ratios for the species of interest. As an additional quality filtering step, only spots were taken into account for the calculation of the Hy5/Hy3 ratio with a signal that was equal or higher than the 50% percentile of the background signal intensities. A "sample versus universal reference" modus was chosen allowing absolute quantification and indirect comparisons of several experimental samples, i.e. we calculated the ratio of signals from experimental sample versus UR over the ratio of vehicle control versus UR and the resulting re-ratio indirectly reflected the ratio of experimental sample versus control [24].

2.7. Quantitative real-time PCR

RNA was treated with DNase (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) at 37 °C for at least 1 h prior to reverse transcription and then converted into cDNA following the manufacturer's protocol using the miScriptTM Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (gRT-PCR) was performed using the ABI Prism® 7500HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) with miScriptTM SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Primers used for qRT-PCR were commercially provided as $\mathsf{miScript}^{\mathsf{TM}}$ primer assays by Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). PCR reactions were conducted as follows: 94°C for 15 min as initial activation step to activate HotStarTaq DNA polymerase followed by 40 cycles at 94 °C for 15 s, at 55 °C for 35 s and at 70 °C for 30 s. Reaction specificity was checked by analyzing melting curves. Relative quantitative evaluation of amplification data was analyzed using the Taqman7500 system software v.1.2.3f2 (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta ct}$ -method [51]. For quantification, the U6 small nuclear RNA was used as an internal standard.

2.8. Identification of miRNA target genes

Recently, Affymetrix microarrays containing 22,690 probe sets representing 14,000 genes were recently posted at NCBI/GEO DataSets/GSE13388, which were generated from livers obtained from the same female C57BL/6 mice as described here. To determine T-deregulated genes after 3 weeks of T treatment we removed probe sets with an expression intensity <20 in each sample. Only those probe sets were selected, which were at least 2-fold deregulated by T (two-tailed Student's *t*-test with *p*-value < 0.01). Genes were categorized according to their biological pathways using the Databank for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) [52]. To identify and to allocate miRNAs to their corresponding T-deregulated target genes we used the web tool for bioinformatics miRanda algorithms [http://www.microrna.org] [53,54].

1000

able 1
-upregulated miRNA expression in the female mouse liver as revealed by miRXplore microarrays and qRT-PCR.

miRNA name	GeneID	Gene accession	T/C (microarray)	T/C (qRT-PCR)	miRNA functions described to date	PMID
MIR-22	35886	MI0000570	6.49	6.62 ± 1.22	miR-22 inhibits estrogen signaling by directly targeting the ERα mRNA, highly expressed in mammary progenitor cells	19414598, 18079172
MIR-690	38880	MI0004658	5.34	4.43 ± 1.1	miR-690 downregulated by high glucose treatment	19096044
MIR-122	35826	MI0000256	3.70	3.2 ± 1.24	Regulation of lipid metabolism, downregulates the high affinity cationic amino acid transporter CAT-1, downregulated in HCC, targets hepatitis C virus	16459310, 17179747, 19296470, 19021529
LET-7A	38314	MI0000061	2.51	3.9 ± 1.51	Suppresses therapeutics-induced cancer cell death by targeting caspase-3, functions as a potential tumor suppressor in human laryngeal cancer	18758960, 19787239
MIR-30D	35901	MI0000549	2.50	5.2 ± 1.92	Upregulated by glucose treatment, downregulated in human thyroid anaplastic carcinomas	19096044, 17563749
LET-7D	39153	MI0000405	2.28	4.49 ± 1.44	n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids modulate carcinogen-directed non-coding miRNA signatures in rat colon, low-level expression as prognostic marker of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	19825969, 19179615

2.9. Statistical analysis

Significance was evaluated by two-way ANOVA with Dunnett and Bonferoni post hoc tests using the statistical package program SPSS version 17.0.

3. Results

In order to identify possible effects of T on miRNA expression profiles in the female mouse liver, female mice of the inbred strain C57BL/6 were treated with T or vehicle for 3 weeks and, then, RNA was extracted from individual livers of vehicle- and T-treated mice. Equal amounts of RNA were pooled from 3 vehicle-treated mice and 3 T-treated mice, respectively, and these experimental samples were subjected first to a screening using miRXplore[™] microarrays, each containing 634 mouse miRNAs according to miRBase version 12.0. The microarrays obtained from the T-treated sample (T) and that of the vehicle-treated sample (C), represented as false-color images in supplementary material, were evaluated in terms of calculating the Hy5/Hy3 ratios of the experimental samples versus the universal references (T/UR and C/UR). Then, calculation of the re-ratios allowed the direct comparison of T versus C. Only 6 miR-NAs were detected which were at least 2-fold upregulated by T in the female mouse liver. These miRNAs were miR-22, miR-690, miR-122, let-7A, miR-30D and let-7D summarized in Table 1, which also includes their functions ascribed to these miRNAs to date. Then, the T-upregulated expression of the 6 miRNAs was re-investigated by qRT-PCR analysis in the three individual livers of the two pooled samples, respectively, which essentially verified the microarray data (Table 1).

Moreover, about the same expression levels of the 6 miRNAs could be found in a second, completely independent cohort of T-treated mice and vehicle-treated mice as represented in Fig. 1. In this approach, we also tracked the rate of expression of the 6 miR-NAs during the T treatment. Conspicuously, the expression of the 6 different miRNAs is already significantly increased after 1 week of the T treatment (Fig. 1). This is also maximal expression of miR-122 and let-7A, whereas the expression of miR-22, miR-690, miR-30D and let-7D is further increased during the following 2 weeks.



Fig. 1. Upregulation of miRNA expression during treatment with testosterone. Mice were treated with T and vehicle twice a week for 3 weeks. The vertical arrowheads indicate the time-points of the injections. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with livers of 3 T-treated and 3 vehicle-treated mice. Means are given \pm SD. Expression of all miRNAs is significantly increased already after 1 week of T treatment as indicated by one asterisk (p < 0.01). Two asterisks indicate significant upregulation (p < 0.01) after 3 weeks in relation to 1 week T treatment. $\blacksquare - - - \blacksquare$ T-treated mice and $\blacksquare - - - \blacksquare$ vehicle-treated control mice.

The T-induced upregulation of the 6 miRNAs was not persistent, but only transient. Indeed, when qRT-PCR was used to examine the expression of the 6 T-induced miRNAs after 12 weeks of T withdrawal, none of the 6 miRNAs was still upregulated, i.e. the T-induced expression of the 6 miRNAs was reversible (Fig. 2a).

The T treatment for 3 weeks was previously shown to induce a suppression of protective responses of the liver to blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* [39]. In particular, the malaria-induced



Fig. 2. T-induced transient upregulation of hepatic miRNA expression and insensitivity to *P. chabaudi*. (A) The fold induction of miRNAs was determined by qRT-PCR after 3 weeks of T treatment (T) or vehicle treatment (C) and after withdrawal of T (Tw) or vehicle (Cw), respectively. (B) Quantitative RT-PCR was used to determine expression of miRNAs on days 8 *p. i.* after T treatment (T+1) and after T withdrawal for 12 weeks (Tw+1). Relative miRNA expression was normalized to the mean expression of the corresponding control mice (C+1, Cw+1). Values indicate means \pm SD from 3 different mice. Asterisks indicate significant differences (*p* < 0.01).

hepatic alterations differed between T-treated and vehicle-treated mice [39,40]. We therefore wondered if *P. chabaudi* malaria possibly affected the expression of the 6 miRNAs. However, the T-induced expression of the 6 miRNAs is rather stable: it is not affected by malaria at all (Fig. 2b). Indeed, when mice after the 3 weeks treatments with T or vehicle and after T withdrawal for 12 weeks were infected with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes culminating at

Table 2

The 6 T-upregulated miRNAs and their downregulated target genes.

analysis did not reveal any significant effect of *P. chabaudi* infections on the expression levels of the 6 miRNAs in both T-treated and control samples, neither after the 3 weeks T treatment nor after 12 weeks of T withdrawal (Fig. 2b).

The T-induced upregulation of the 6 miRNAs coincided with an at least 2-fold downregulation of some of their known target genes. This was evaluated from the MOE430A Affymetrix chips recently posted at NCBI/GEO DataSets GSE 13388, which were generated from the livers of the same mice investigated here, i.e. 3 chips for 3 T-treated and 3 chips for vehicle-treated mice were evaluated after the end of 3 weeks T treatment and after T withdrawal for 12 weeks. After the T treatment we found a downregulation of 5 target genes for the miR-22, 1 target gene for the miR-690, 2 target genes for the liver-specific miR-122, 6 target genes for the let-7A/let-7D, and 3 target genes for the miR-30D, as summarized in Table 2. Remarkably, the downregulation of the protein-encoding target genes of the 6 different miRNAs was largely abolished after 12 weeks of T withdrawal (Table 2). There was only one exception: the miR-22 targeted mRNA of Cyp17a1 (Table 2). These data could be verified for at least 6 genes arbitrarily selected from Table 2 by qRT-PCR (Fig. 3).

Genotropic effects of T are known to be exerted directly through the androgen receptor (AR) and the androgen response element (ARE) in the target gene promoters, respectively [1]. In order to identify possible ARE-mediated expression of the T-upregulated miRNAs, the data bank ALGGEN with the research tool PROMO [55,56] was used to analyze the 2000 bp DNA upstream regions of the transcription start of the 6 T-sensitive miRNAs. Only 1 of the T-upregulated miRNAs, i.e. the liver-specific miR-122, contained an ARE at position -47 bp to -53 bp. The other 5 miRNAs did not exhibit any ARE in their promoters. Incidentally, the downregulated target genes of the 6 miRNAs did also not contain any ARE. There were only two exceptions: the mRNA-encoding gene for growth hormone receptor targeted by let-7A/let-7D and the mRNA of 5730420B22Rik targeted by miR-22 (Table 2). In accordance, qRT-PCR did not reveal any significant change in the mRNA expression of AR after 3 weeks of T treatment and after 12 weeks of T withdrawal, respectively (Fig. 4).

T is also known to act, after its conversion to estradiol (E_2) by the aromatase Cyp19a1, through the estrogen receptor (ER). However, Fig. 4 shows data obtained with qRT-PCR that T downregulated the mRNA expression of ER α , but did not significantly affect ER β . This downregulation of ER α was transient, i.e. it could be observed only after the 3 weeks of T treatment, but not after 12

miRNA	Target gene	Target gene title	Affymetrix ID	Entrez gene	T/C	Tw/Cw
miR-22	Fmo1	Flavin containing monooxygenase 1	1417429_at	14261	0.49	0.7
	5730420B22Rik	RIKEN cDNA 5730420B22 gene	1427050_at	70561	0.46	0.71
	Nr3c1	Nuclear receptor subfamily 3, group C, member 1	1421866_at	14815	0.34	0.84
	Slc39a14	Solute carrier family 39 (zinc transporter), member 14	1425649_at	213053	0.33	0.96
	Cyp17a1	Cytochrome P450, family 17, subfamily a, polypeptide 1	1417017_at	13074	0.11	0.26
miR-690	Mccc2	Methylcrotonoyl-Coenzyme A carboxylase 2 (beta)	1428021_at	78038	0.43	1.09
miR-122	Nedd4	Neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally downregulated gene 4	1421955_a_at	17999	0.46	0.89
	Ceacam1	CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1	1452532_x_at	26365	0.43	1.13
let-7A/let-/D	Ghr	Growth hormone receptor	1451871_a_at	14600	0.48	1.24
	Dusp6	Dual specificity phosphatase 6	1415834_at	67603	0.46	0.79
	Rtn4	Reticulon 4	1421116_a_at	68585	0.45	0.57
	Sdccag3	Serologically defined colon cancer antigen 3	1431760_a_at	68112	0.45	1.86
	Ceacam1	CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1	1452532_x_at	26365	0.43	1.13
	Mmp19	Matrix metalloproteinase 19	1421976_at	58223	0.4	0.96
miR-30D	Eif4e3	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E member 3	1417977_at	66892	0.47	0.79
	Nedd4	Neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally downregulated gene 4	1421955_a_at	17999	0.46	0.89
	Ahcyl1	S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase-like 1	1425576_at	229709	0.38	1.24



Fig. 3. Verification of gene expression levels evaluated from Affymetrix microarrays. The fold induction of mRNA expression of selected miRNA-regulated target genes *Nr3c1*, *Cyp17a1*, *Ghr*, *Rtn4*, *Mmp9* and *Ahcyl1* was determined by qRT-PCR [49] after T treatment (T) and after T withdrawal for 12 weeks (Tw). Relative mRNA expression was normalized to the mean expression of the corresponding control mice (C, Cw). Values represent means \pm SD from 3 different mice. Asterisks indicate significant differences (p < 0.01).



Fig. 4. Gene expression of AR, ER α , ER β and aromatase CYP19A1. Quantitative RT-PCR [49] detects the mRNA expression profiles in the different groups of mice described in legend to Fig. 2. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to the mean expression of the corresponding control mice. Values represent means ± SD from 3 different mice. Asterisks indicate significant differences (p < 0.01).

weeks of T withdrawal (Fig. 4). Moreover, the mRNA of aromatase was also downregulated after 3 weeks of T treatment, which even remained downregulated after T withdrawal for 12 weeks (Fig. 4). The downregulation of aromatase could be also confirmed by data obtained from Affymetrix microarray analysis (Table 2). Remarkably, however, the transient downregulation of ER α by T could not be confirmed by evaluating the Affymetrix microarrays. The reason is that the signals of ER α were removed from analysis due to the applied criteria with highly significant *p*-values (*p*<0.01) used for evaluation.

4. Discussion

This study has revealed a T-induced upregulation of the 6 miR-NAs miR-22, miR-690, miR-122, let-7A, miR-30D and let-7D in the female mouse liver. None of these miRNAs has been yet reported to be T-responsive in other cells and/or tissues. The upregulation of the 6 hepatic miRNAs is transient, i.e. it has disappeared after 12 weeks of T withdrawal. Moreover, the transient upregulation induced by T is specific since the majority of the miRNA species in the liver is not affected by T at all. Specificity is further supported

by the course of upregulation. Indeed, the 2 miRNAs miR-122 and let-7A reach its maximal expression after 1 week, however the 4 miRNAs miR-22, miR-690, miR-30D and let-7D only after 3 weeks of T treatment. Furthermore, the T-induced transient upregulation of the 6 miRNAs is rather robust, since it is not affectable by blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* malaria. This is remarkable since these infections seriously injure the liver, which becomes evident as dramatic changes in diverse structural and biochemical parameters of the liver [39,40]. For instance, there is an increase in inflammatory infiltrates, in cytoplasmic vacuolization, in the number of binucleated cells and apoptotic bodies, in cell swelling, in the occurrence of malaria pigment, in hyperplasia of Kupffer cells, in increase in total bilirubin, in increased activities of lactate dehydrogenase, aspartate aminotransferase, and alanine aminotransferase, and in a decline of alkaline phosphatase [40].

A direct effect of T on gene expression is mediated through AR by binding to ARE in promoters of target genes [1]. However, the role of AR in the transcription and regulation of miRNA expression has been recently investigated only in different prostate cell lines to date. Thus, ectopic expression of AR in the AR-null prostate cancer cell line PC3 induces differential expression of 11 miRNAs [34,57]. In particular, there is an upregulation of miR-18h, miR-361, and miR-424 and a downregulation of miR-19b miR-29b, miR-128b, miR-146a, miR-221, miR-22 and miR-663 [57]. These miRNAs differ from those 6 miRNAs we have found here in the female mouse liver to be upregulated by T. Additionally, it has been reported that treatment with androgen increases the abundance of miR-125b in AR-negative prostate epithelial cells after transfection with AR [34]. This increase is due to binding of AR to ARE in the promoter of the miR-125b-2 locus. Our study indicates that abundance of AR in the female liver is not affected by T at all. Moreover, only one miRNA, namely miR-122, contains an ARE in the promoter region adjacent to the transcription start. Such a close adjacency is currently considered as to predict an active functional ARE [58]. It is therefore reasonable to assume that the T-induced upregulation of miR-122 in the female mouse liver is mediated through direct ARE-mediated AR signaling. The majority of T-responsive miRNAs in the female mouse liver, however, do not contain any ARE in their promoter regions. A direct ARE-mediated genotropic action of T through AR on these miRNAs appears therefore rather unlikely. In this context, however, it is worthwhile mentioning that, meantime, information has recently become available that genotropic effects are not only mediated through ARE within a 2 kb 5' region of target genes, but also in AR-occupied regions within 10 kb 5'-flanking regulatory sequences, some of which were intragenic and even in gene deserts as revealed in prostate cancer by chromatin immune precipitation analysis [59].

Nonetheless, the T-induced upregulation of only the distinct 5 miRNAs in the liver indicates that the T effect on miRNA expression is mediated through specific mechanisms. One mechanism could be that T is converted by aromatase to E₂ which then induces miRNA expression through ER. However, our data demonstrate that ER β -mRNA is not affected by T treatment, and that the ER α mRNA just as the mRNA of aromatase are even downregulated by T. In this context, it is noteworthy that both $ER\alpha$ [60,61] and aromatase (see Table 2) have been described to be target genes of miR-22. It is therefore conceivable that the T-induced downregulation of ER α and aromatase is not a direct T action on these two genes, but rather an indirect T action through miR-22, i.e. T induces an upregulation of miR-22, which in turn downregulates $\text{ER}\alpha$ and aromatase. This view is supported by recent findings in cultivated Hep-G2- and MCF7-cells that miR-22 targets the 3'-UTR of the ER α -mRNA, downregulates ER α , and represses estrogen signaling [60,61]. It is therefore reasonable that the upregulation of miR-22 as the other 4 miRNAs miR-690, let-7A, miR-30D and let-7D reflects indirect effects of T mediated through specific, but still unknown non-genotropic mechanisms, which may even operate following a primarily direct genotropic T action and which are possibly parts of larger regulatory circuits mediating T effects. Such circuits may involve intracellular transcriptional networks [62] but also supracellular regulatory programs, as e.g. the hypothalamus–pituitary gland–liver axis, which is neonatally imprinted by androgen, which operates through pulsatile versus continuous patterns of growth hormone secretion in males versus females, respectively, and which is affectable by T [63,64].

Collectively, our data provide first indications that T affects expression of miRNAs *in vivo* through both genotropic mechanisms and still unknown non-genotropic mechanisms, which increases complexity of T signaling in general.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft through GRK 1427 and the Centre of Excellence for Biodiversity Research, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2010.06.010.

References

- Centenera MM, Harris JM, Tilley WD, Butler LM. The contribution of different androgen receptor domains to receptor dimerization and signaling. Mol Endocrinol 2008;11:2373–82.
- [2] Arnold AP. The organizational-activational hypothesis as the foundation for a unified theory of sexual differentiation of all mammalian tissues. Horm Behav 2009;5:570–8.
- [3] Seli E, Arici A. Sex steroids and the immune system. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am 2002;22:407–8.
- [4] Chen W, Mempel M, Schober W, Behrendt H, Ring J. Gender difference, sex hormones, and immediate type hypersensitivity reactions. Allergy 2008;11:1418–27.
- [5] Klein SL. The effects of hormones on sex differences in infection: from genes to behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2000;24(6):627–38.
- [6] Roberts CW, Walker W, Alexander J. Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. Clin Microbiol Rev 2001;3:476–88.
- [7] Bennett NC, Gardiner RA, Hooper JD, Johnson DW, Gobe GC. Molecular cell biology of androgen receptor signalling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2010;42(6):813–27.
 [8] Zhou ZX, Wong CI, Sar M, Wilson EM. The androgen receptor: an overview.
- [8] Zhou ZX, Wong CI, Sar M, Wilson EM. The androgen receptor: an overview. Recent Prog Horm Res 1994;49:249–74.
 [9] Quigley CA, Bellis A, de Marschke KB, el-Awady MK, Wilson EM, French FS.
- [9] Quigley CA, Bellis A, de Marschke KB, el-Awady MK, wilson EM, Flench FS. Androgen receptor defects: historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. Endocr Rev 1995;16(3):271–321.
- [10] Picard D. Molecular endocrinology. Steroids tickle cells inside and out. Nature 1998;6675:437–8.
- [11] Rahman F, Christian HC. Non-classical actions of testosterone: an update. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2007;10:371–8.
- [12] Bonaccorsi L, Luciani P, Nesi G, Mannucci E, Deledda C, Dichiara F, et al. Androgen receptor regulation of the seladin-1/DHCR24 gene: altered expression in prostate cancer. Lab Invest 2008;10:1049–56.
- [13] Wendler A, Wehling M. Translational research on rapid steroid actions. Steroids 2010;75(8–9):619–23.
- [14] Benten WP, Lieberherr M, Giese G, Wrehlke C, Stamm O, Sekeris CE, et al. Functional testosterone receptors in plasma membranes of T cells. FASEB J 1999;13(1):123–33.
- [15] Wunderlich F, Benten WPM, Lieberherr M, Guo Z, Stamm O, Wrehlke C, et al. Testosterone signaling in T cells and macrophages. Steroids 2002;67(6): 535–8.
- [16] Gu S, Papadopoulou N, Gehring E, Nasir O, Dimas K, Bhavsar SK, et al. Functional membrane androgen receptors in colon tumors trigger pro-apoptotic responses *in vitro* and reduce drastically tumor incidence *in vivo*. Mol Cancer 2009;8: 114.
- [17] Lieberherr M, Grosse B. Androgens increase intracellular calcium concentration and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate and diacylglycerol formation via a pertussis toxin-sensitive G-protein. J Biol Chem 1994;269(10):7217–23.
- [18] Benten WP, Lieberherr M, Sekeris CE, Wunderlich F. Testosterone induces Ca2+ influx via non-genomic surface receptors in activated T cells. FEBS Lett 1997;407(2):211–4.
- [19] Benten WP, Guo Z, Krücken J, Wunderlich F. Rapid effects of androgens in macrophages. Steroids 2004;69(8–9):585–90.

- [20] Guo Z, Benten WPM, Krücken J, Wunderlich F. Nongenomic testosterone calcium signaling. Genotropic actions in androgen receptor-free macrophages. J Biol Chem 2002;33:29600–7.
- [21] Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 2004;116(2):281–97.
- [22] Ruvkun G. The perfect storm of tiny RNAs. Nat Med 2008;10:1041-5.
- [23] Pawlicki JM, Steitz JA. Nuclear networking fashions pre-messenger RNA and primary microRNA transcripts for function. Trends Cell Biol 2010;20(1): 52–61.
- [24] Bissels U, Wild S, Tomiuk S, Holste A, Hafner M, Tuschl T, et al. Absolute quantification of microRNAs by using a universal reference. RNA 2009;12:2375– 84.
- [25] Griffiths-Jones S, Saini HK, van Dongen S, Enright AJ. miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. Nucleic Acids Res 2008;36:D154–8.
- [26] Catalucci D, Gallo P, Condorelli G. MicroRNAs in cardiovascular biology and heart disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009;4:402–8.
- [27] Chen X. MicroRNA signatures in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(14):1665–72.
- [28] Lu L, Liston A. MicroRNA in the immune system, microRNA as an immune system. Immunology 2009;3:291–8.
- [29] Mott JL. MicroRNAs involved in tumor suppressor and oncogene pathways: implications for hepatobiliary neoplasia. Hepatology 2009;2:630–7.
- [30] Slaby O, Svoboda M, Michalek J, Vyzula R. MicroRNAs in colorectal cancer: translation of molecular biology into clinical application. Mol Cancer 2009;8:102.
- [31] Sonkoly E. Pivarcsi A. microRNAs in inflammation. Int Rev Immunol 2009;6:535-61.
- [32] Taft RJ, Pang KC, Mercer TR, Dinger M, Mattick JS. Non-coding RNAs: regulators of disease. J Pathol 2010;2:126–39.
- [33] Shi X, Tepper CG, deVere White RW. Cancerous miRNAs and their regulation. Cell Cycle 2008;7(11):1529-38.
- [34] Shi X, Tepper CG, White RWD. MicroRNAs and prostate cancer. J Cell Mol Med 2009;5A:1456-65.
- [35] Ribas J, Ni X, Haffner M, Wentzel EA, Salmasi AH, Chowdhury WH, et al. miR-21: an androgen receptor-regulated microRNA that promotes hormonedependent and hormone-independent prostate cancer growth. Cancer Res 2009;18:7165–9.
- [36] Bala S, Marcos M, Szabo G. Emerging role of microRNAs in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(45):5633–40.
- [37] Kerr TA, Davidson NO. Therapeutic RNA manipulation in liver disease. Hepatology 2010;51(3):1055–61.
- [38] Wang K, Zhang S, Marzolf B, Troisch P, Brightman A, Hu Z, et al. Circulating microRNAs, potential biomarkers for drug-induced liver injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;11:4402–7.
- [39] Krücken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RMU, El-Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, et al. Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. Infect Immun 2005;1:436–43.
- [40] Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El-Khadragy M, Borsch E, et al. Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin beta receptor-deficient mice resistant to blood-stage malaria. Microbes Infect 2005;3:399–409.
- [41] Clodfelter KH, Holloway MG, Hodor P, Park S, Ray WJ, Waxman DJ. Sexdependent liver gene expression is extensive and largely dependent upon signal transducer and activator of transcription 5b (STAT5b): STAT5bdependent activation of male genes and repression of female genes revealed by microarray analysis. Mol Endocrinol 2006;6:1333–51.
- [42] Drinkwater NR, Hanigan MH, Kemp CJ. Genetic and epigenetic promotion of murine hepatocarcinogenesis. Prog Clin Biol Res 1990;331:163–76.
- [43] Kemp CJ, Drinkwater NR. The androgen receptor and liver tumor development in mice. Prog Clin Biol Res 1990;331:203–14.
- [44] Nagasue N, Kohno H. Hepatocellular carcinoma and sex hormones. HPB Surg 1992;6(1):1–6.
- [45] Benten WP, Bettenhaeuser U, Wunderlich F, van Vliet E, Mossmann H. Testosterone-induced abrogation of self-healing of *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria in B10 mice: mediation by spleen cells. Infect Immun 1991;59(12):4486–90.
- [46] Benten WP, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW, Wunderlich F. Testosteroneinduced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. J Endocrinol 1997;153(2):275–81.
- [47] Wunderlich F, Marinovski P, Benten WP, Schmitt-Wrede HP, Mossmann H. Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. Parasite Immunol 1991;13(4):357–67.
- [48] Wunderlich F, Stübig H, Königk E. Development of *Plasmodium chabaudi* in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. J Protozool 1982;29(1):60–6.
- [49] Krücken J, Delić D, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, et al. Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against Plasmodium chabaudi malaria. Malar J 2009;8:54, doi:10.1186/1475-2875-8-54.
- [50] Landgraf P, Rusu M, Sheridan R, Sewer A, Iovino N, Aravin A, et al. A mammalian microRNA expression atlas based on small RNA library sequencing. Cell 2007;7:1401–14.
- [51] Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(–Delta Delta C(T)) method. Methods 2001;4:402–8.

1004

- [52] Dennis Jr G, Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC, et al. DAVID: database for annotation, visualization, and integrated discovery. Genome Biol 2003;4(5):P3.
- [53] Enright AJ, John B, Gaul U, Tuschl T, Sander C, Marks DS. MicroRNA targets in Drosophila. Genome Biol 2003;5(1):R1.
- [54] Wei Y, Chen S, Yang P, Ma Z, Kang L. Chracterization and comparative profiling oft he small RNA transcriptomes in two phases of locust. Genome Biol 2009;10(1):R6.
- [55] Messeguer X, Escudero R, Farré D, Núñez O, Martínez J, Albà MM. PROMO: detection of known transcription regulatory elements using species-tailored searches. Bioinformatics 2002;18(2):333–4.
- [56] Farré D, Roset R, Huerta M, Adsuara JE, Roselló L, Albà MM, et al. Identification of patterns in biological sequences at the ALGGEN server: PROMO and MALGEN. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31(13):3651–3.
- [57] Lin S, Chiang A, Chang D, Ying S. Loss of mir-146a function in hormone-refractory prostate cancer. RNA 2008;3:417–24.
 [58] Keller ET, Ershler WB, Chang C. The androgen receptor: a mediator of diverse responses. Front Biosci 1996;1:59–71.

- [59] Adams BD, Furneaux H, White BA. The micro-ribonucleic acid (miRNA) miR-206 targets the human estrogen receptor-alpha (ERalpha) and represses ERalpha messenger RNA and protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. Mol Endocrinol 2007:5:1132-47.
- [60] Pandey DP, Picard D. miR-22 inhibits estrogen signaling by directly targeting the estrogen receptor alpha mRNA. Mol Cell Biol 2009;13:3783-90.
- [61] Jariwala U, Prescott J, Jia L, Barski A, Pregizer S, Cogan JP, et al. Identification of novel androgen receptor target genes in prostate cancer. Mol Cancer 2007;6:39, doi:10.1186/1475-2875-8-54.
- [62] Castellano L, Giamas G, Jacob J, Coombes RC, Lucchesi W, Thiruchelvam P, et al. The estrogen receptor-alpha-induced microRNA signature regulates itself and its transcriptional response. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106: 15732-7.
- [63] Gustafsson J. Steroids and the scientist. Mol Endocrinol 2005;19:1412-7.
- [64] Waxman DJ, Holloway MG. Sex differences in expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. Mol Pharmacol 2009;76:215-28.

2.3 Testosterone-induced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression in female mice sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria infection

Background: Gender is critical for the outcome of numerous diseases, which particularly holds true for a wide variety of infectious diseases, including human malaria. A central role in this gender-dependence is p layed b yt hem ale sex hormone testosterone, which e xhibits immunosuppressive activity and inc reases susceptibility towards infectious diseases. I ndeed, male mice su ccumb to blood stage malaria, while female mice and castrated mice are able to survive and self-heal the same infections. However, T-treatment of the self-healer mice induces a lethal outcome of malaria. Most remarkably, the suppressive lethal T-effect is not reversible, but persists after discontinuation of T-treatment for rather a long time. However, it is not yet known to date as to whether this persistence is associated with any changes in gene expression.

Methods: Female C57BL /6 m ice we re treat ed wit h T for 3 weeks; t hen, T treatm ent was discontinued for 12 weeks before infecting with *P. chabaudi* malaria for 8 days. Hepatic gene expression was examined after 12 weeks of T withdrawal and subsequent infection on day 8 p.i. using Affymetrix microarrays and qRT-PCR analysis.

Results: T treatment resulted in a persistent masculinized hepatic gene expression characterized by an upregulation of male-specific genes *Cyp2d9*, *Cyp7b1*, *Cyp4a10*, *Ugt2b1*, *Ugt2b38*, *Hsd3b5*, and *Slco1a1* and a do wnregulation of female-specific g enes *Cyp2b9*, *Cyp2b13*, *Cyp3a41*, *Cyp3a44*, *Fmo3*, *Sult2a2*, *Sult3a1*, and *BC014805*. The expression of genes e ncoding nuclear receptors was n ot af fected. T in duced persistent upr egulation of markers for hepatocellular carcinoma, as e. g. *Lama3* and *Nox4*, and a persistent suppression of genes involved in immune responses such as *Ifny* and *Igk-C*.

Conclusion: This study provides new d etailed insights of persist ent T effects in the fem ale mouse liver characterized by a masculinized liver metabolism and impaired immune response, which may be critical for the T-induced persistent susceptibility to *P. chabaudi* malaria.

Testosterone-induced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression in female mice sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria infection

Denis Delić¹, Nicole Gailus¹, Hans-Werner Vohr², Mohamed Dkhil³, Saleh Al-Quraishy³ and Frank Wunderlich^{1,3}

¹Division of Molecular Parasitology, Department of Biology and Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University Duesseldorf, Universitaetstrasse 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany

²Bayer Healthcare AG, Department of Molecular and Genetic Toxicology, 42096 Wuppertal, Germany

³Zoology Department, College of Science, King Saud University, 11352 Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

(Correspondence should be addressed to F Wunderlich at Division of Molecular Parasitology, Department of Biology, Heinrich-Heine-University; Email: frank.wunderlich@uni-duesseldorf.de)

Abstract

Testosterone has been previously shown to induce persistent susceptibility to Plasmodium chabaudi malaria in otherwise resistant female C57BL/6 mice. Here, we investigate as to whether this conversion coincides with permanent changes of hepatic gene expression profiles. Female mice aged 10-12 weeks were treated with testosterone for 3 weeks; then, testosterone treatment was discontinued for 12 weeks before challenging with 10⁶ P. chabaudi-infected erythrocytes. Hepatic gene expression was examined after 12 weeks of testosterone withdrawal and after subsequent infection with P. chabaudi at peak parasitemia, using Affymetrix microarrays with 22 690 probe sets representing 14 000 genes. The expression of 54 genes was found to be permanently changed by testosterone, which remained changed during malaria infection. Most genes were involved in liver metabolism: the female-prevalent genes Cyp2b9, Cyp2b13, Cyp3a41, Cyp3a44, Fmo3, Sult2a2, Sult3a1, and BC014805 were repressed, while the male-prevalent genes Cyp2d9, Cyp7b1, Cyp4a10, Ugt2b1, Ugt2b38, Hsd3b5, and Slco1a1 were upregulated. Genes encoding different nuclear receptors were not persistently changed. Moreover, testosterone induced persistent upregulation of genes involved in hepatocellular carcinoma such as Lama3 and Nox4, whereas genes involved in immune response such as Ifny and Igk-C were significantly decreased. Our data provide evidence that testosterone is able to induce specific and robust long-term changes of gene expression profiles in the female mouse liver. In particular, those changes, which presumably indicate masculinized liver metabolism and impaired immune response, may be critical for the testosterone-induced persistent susceptibility of mice to P. chabaudi malaria.

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

Introduction

Testosterone is known to increase susceptibility to a wide variety of infectious diseases (Müller 1992, Klein 2000, Roberts et al. 2001, Marriott & Huet-Hudson 2006), which also concerns human malaria (Müller 1992, Kurtis et al. 2001, Muehlenbein et al. 2005). In the experimental mouse malaria Plasmodium chabaudi, testosterone has been shown to induce a lethal outcome of otherwise self-healing infections (Wunderlich et al. 1988, 1991). Remarkably, this testosterone-induced conversion from resistance to susceptibility becomes somehow imprinted in female mice, i.e. it persists for rather a long time. Thus, when mice are pretreated with testosterone for 3 weeks, and then testosterone treatment is discontinued for 12 weeks, thereafter the mice are still susceptible to P. chabaudi infections (Benten et al. 1997). Obviously, this testosterone-induced susceptibility persists, even though the circulating testosterone levels have declined to those levels characteristic for female mice after withdrawal for 12 weeks (Benten *et al.* 1997). This indicates that testosterone is able to induce changes in mice, which continue to exist at low testosterone levels.

The liver is known to be a target organ for testosterone to mediate intrahepatic immune responses (Häussinger *et al.* 2004) and to play a central role in malaria. Indeed, the liver is not only that site in which the pre-erythrocytic development of malaria parasites takes place, but also it is an important effector against malarial blood stages (Balmer *et al.* 2000, Krücken *et al.* 2005), though largely neglected by current research. Moreover, specific populations of lymphocytes have been described to be generated in the liver, which mediate novel protective immune mechanisms against malaria blood stages in the mouse (Mannoor *et al.* 2001,

DOI: 10.1677/JME-10-0026

Online version via http://www.endocrinology-journals.org

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

^{0952-5041/10/045-379 © 2010} Society for Endocrinology Printed in Great Britain

2002). Also, Kupffer cells are able to eliminate, via phagocytosis, parasite-derived material such as hemozoin and even *Plasmodium*-infected erythrocytes (Aikawa *et al.* 1980). Moreover, the liver is known for its sexual dimorphism, in particular for its sex- and testosteronedependent pattern of phase I and phase II metabolism (Waxman & Holloway 2009). All this information led us to suppose that the liver may be one of those sites which is critically involved in mediating the suppressive testosterone effects on *P. chabaudi* malaria.

Testosterone acts on gene expression either directly through the androgen receptor (AR; Zhou et al. 1994, Quigley et al. 1995, Bennett et al. 2009) or indirectly by crosstalk with other signaling pathways (Guo et al. 2002, Rahman & Christian 2007, Wendler & Wehling 2009). Moreover, testosterone has been described to induce changes in gene expression, including those genes involved in liver metabolism (Kato & Onada 1970, Krücken et al. 2005, Waxman & Holloway 2009). However, there is no information available that testosterone is able to induce permanent changes in gene expression of the liver, i.e. changes that persist even after withdrawal of testosterone. This view prompted us to investigate possible permanent testosterone effects on hepatic gene expression using the Affymetrix microarray technology. At least, the present study provides evidence that testosterone is able to induce permanent changes in the expression of distinct genes in the liver, which, when once induced by treatment with testosterone for 3 weeks, remain existing even for at least 12 weeks after discontinuation of the testosterone treatment. In addition, the expression of such genes is rather robust upon infecting with P. chabaudi malaria, which is discussed with respect to relevance for the testosterone-induced persistent susceptibility of mice to P. chabaudi malaria.

Materials and methods

Mice

C57BL/6 mice were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions at the central animal facilities of our university. Experiments were performed with female mice. They were housed in plastic cages, and they received a standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) and water *ad libitum*. The experiments were approved by the state authorities and followed German law on animal protection.

Testosterone treatment

Mice aged 10–12 weeks received s.c. injections of 100 μ l sesame oil containing 0.9 mg testosterone (Testosterone-Depot-50, Schering, Berlin, Germany) twice a week for 3 weeks (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988, Benten *et al.* 1997).

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

Controls were treated only with vehicle, i.e. sesame oil. Thereafter, they were kept under standard conditions for 12 weeks.

Infections

Blood stages of *P. chabaudi* were passaged weekly in NMRI mice (Wunderlich *et al.* 1982, Krücken *et al.* 2009). C57BL/6 mice were challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Parasitemia was determined in Giemsa-stained tail blood, and cell number was measured in a Neubauer chamber.

RNA isolation

Three mice per time point were killed by cervical dislocation, and livers were aseptically removed. Liver pieces were rapidly frozen in melting nitrogen and stored at -80 °C. For isolation of RNA, ~ 250 mg frozen liver were homogenized with an ultra turrax in 5 ml Trizol (Peqlab Biotechnology, Erlangen, Germany) for 1 min, mixed with 1 ml chloroform for 15 s, incubated for 15 min at room temperature, and centrifugated at 3000 *g* for 45 min. The supernatant was treated with isopropanol and centrifugated, and the pellet was washed twice with 80% ethanol, air-dried, and dissolved in 200 µl RNase-free water. RNA concentrations were determined at 260 nm, and the quality of the RNA was examined with agarose gel electrophoresis.

Hybridization of microarrays

Quality control of RNA was performed with a Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) on an RNA 6000 Nano chip. RNA was quantified using the RiboGreen RNA Quantitation kit (Molecular Probes, Leiden, The Netherlands). Biotinlabeled cRNA was synthesized from 5 µg total RNA using the One cycle kit (Affymetrix, Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Biotinlabeled cRNA (15 µg) was then hybridized to Affymetrix MOE430A Gene Chips for 16 h at 45 °C. The chips were stained and washed on an Affymetrix Fluidics Station 400, and the fluorescence of the hybridized cRNA was read with an Affymetrix 300 Scanner. The chips were quality controlled with the software 'Expressionist Refiner' (GeneData AG, Basel, Switzerland) detecting and correcting gradients, spots, and distortions. Each probe set is represented by 11 pairs of 25 mer perfect match and mismatch oligonucleotides. Using the MAS 5.0 statistical algorithms implemented in the Expressionist software, the intensities of all 11 probe pairs per probe were condensed to one intensity value. For comparability, the microarrays were scaled after condensing to an average signal intensity of 100.

Data analysis

Gene expression analysis was done using the software 'Expression Analyst' (GeneData AG). Gene expression profiles between individual mice were overall compared by principal component analysis using Genesis 1.7.2. (Sturn et al. 2002). To select testosterone-deregulated genes, we removed probe sets with an expression intensity <20 in each sample. In the next step, only those probe sets were selected, which were deregulated twofold by testosterone on day 0 post infectionem (p.i.) and on day 8 p.i., and these were subjected to two-way ANOVA (P < 0.01). Genes were analyzed by the Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery (Dennis et al. 2003) and categorized according to their major biological pathways involved. Genes with similar expression patterns were identified using Gene Cluster 3.0 (Eisen et al. 1998, de Hoon et al. 2004). Data were log₂-transformed and normalized to the mean expression value for control mice. Hierachical clustering was done using uncentered correlation and average linkage mode.

Quantitative real-time PCR

All RNA samples were treated with DNase of the DNAfree kit (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) for 1 h and then converted into cDNA following the manufacturer's protocol using the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription (RT) kit (Qiagen). Amplifications were performed in the ABI Prism 7500HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems) using QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions using gene-specific QuantiTect primer assays (Qiagen) for prominin 1 (Prom1), 5'-nucleotidase, ecto (Nt5e), sulfotransferase family 2A, dehydroepiandrosteronepreferring, member 2 (Sult2a2), 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 5 (Hsd3b5), elongation of very long chain fatty acid-like 3 (Elovl3), interferon gamma $(Ifn\gamma)$, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (Ppara), liver X receptor (Lxr, listed as Nr1h3 in the MGI database), retinoid X receptor alpha (Rxra), pregnane X receptor (Pxr, Nr1i2), farnesoid X receptor (Fxr, Nr1h4), Ar, estrogen receptor alpha (ERa, Esr1), estrogen receptor beta (ER\$, Esr2), aryl hydrocarbon receptor (*Ahr*), hepatic nuclear factor 4 alpha (*Hnf4* α), constitutive androstane receptor (Car, Nr1i3), and vitamin D receptor (VDR). PCRs were conducted as follows: 2 min at 50 °C to activate uracil-N-glycosylase (UNG), 95 °C for 10 min to deactivate UNG and to activate the PCR, 45 cycles at 94 °C for 15 s, at 60 °C for 30 s, and at 72 °C for 30 s. Reaction specificity was checked by performing dissociation curves after PCR. Relative quantitative evaluation of amplification data was done using Taqman7500 system software v.1.2.3f2 (Applied Biosystems), and the mRNA was normalized to 18S rRNA. The relative expression was measured using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_t}$ method (Livak & Schmittgen 2001).

Statistical analysis

Student's *t*-test was used for determination of significant differences (P < 0.05).

Results

Experimental design

This study is aimed at identifying genes in the female mouse liver, i) the expression of which is persistently deregulated by testosterone and ii) which even remains deregulated during malaria infection. To this end, we followed the experimental outline given in Fig. 1. Female C57BL/6 mice were treated with testosterone or vehicle twice a week for 3 weeks. The testosteronetreated mice were previously shown to loose their capability of self-healing malaria infections when challenged with 10⁶ P. chabaudi-infected erythrocytes (Wunderlich et al. 1988, 1991). The treatment was discontinued for 12 weeks, before the mice were challenged with P. chabaudi malaria reaching peak parasitemia of $\sim 50\%$ on day 8 p.i. in both testosteroneand vehicle-pretreated mice. Previously, we have shown that, though the circulating testosterone levels have declined to values characteristic for untreated females, from 3.79 to 0.21 ng/ml, by the end of the 12-week period of testosterone withdrawal, the mice still succumb to malaria (Benten et al. 1997). Livers were aseptically removed from three animals at each of the four time points on days 0 and 8 p.i., i.e. at C_{d0}, C_{d8}, T_{d0}, and T_{d8} as outlined in Fig. 1. RNA was extracted from individual livers before subjecting to Affymetrix chip analysis. The used MOE430A array contains 22 690 oligo probe sets representing 14 000 different genes. Persistent testosterone effects were identified by twoway ANOVA test evaluating only those genes with at least twofold expression changes at a highly significant *P* value <0.01. Functional annotations of the genes were searched in several databases including SwissProt, Proteome, PubMed, and NetAffx from Affymetrix and

		C_{d0} C_{d8}
Pretreatment of mice for 3 weeks	Withdrawal of treatment for 12 weeks	Plasmodium chabaudi for 8 days
+ Testosterone	- Testosterone	Γ _{d0} Τ _{d8}

Figure 1 Experimental outline. Mice were treated with testosterone (T) or vehicle (C) twice a week for 3 weeks. The treatment was then discontinued for 12 weeks, before mice were challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Livers were removed from three mice just prior to infection at C_{d0} and T_{d0} as well as at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. at C_{d8} and T_{d8}.

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

were categorized into nine different groups. Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) was used to verify expression profiles of several, arbitrarily selected genes from chips.

Overall expression

Principal component analysis revealed that the overall expression profiles were relatively similar among the three different biological replicates per time point, but differed among the four different time points (Fig. 2). The numbers of testosterone-deregulated genes identified on the microarrays of the four different groups are summarized in a Venn diagram (Fig. 3). In toto, the expression of 143 genes was still deregulated by testosterone after 12 weeks of testosterone withdrawal, especially 48 genes were upregulated and 95 genes were downregulated by testosterone (horizontal ellipses in Fig. 3). Upon infection with P. chabaudi malaria, 63 genes were deregulated, with 30 genes upregulated and 33 genes downregulated (vertical ellipses in Fig. 3). In particular, 24 genes out of the 48 upregulated genes on day 0 p.i. were still upregulated, and 29 genes out of the 95 genes downregulated by testosterone remained suppressed on day 8 p.i. (Fig. 3). Only one gene was upregulated by testosterone on day 0 p.i. and became relatively downregulated by malaria on day 8 p.i. (Fig. 3).

Gene expression profiles

Out of the 143 genes persistently deregulated by testosterone at the end of the 12-week period of testosterone withdrawal, 54 genes remained significantly deregulated during infection with *P. chabaudi* malaria on day 8 p.i. (Table 1; cf. overlaps in Venn diagram of Fig. 3). The expression profile clustering of these genes is presented in Fig. 4.

Testosterone persistently upregulated the gene expression of well-known male-prevalent enzymes such as CYP2D9, CYP7B1, CYP4A10, UGT2B1, UGT2B38, and



Figure 2 Principal component analysis represents the three major vectors contributing to variance between arrays. Variations exist in expression profiles within and between triplicates.







Figure 3 Venn diagram summarizing the numbers of testosteronederegulated genes on day 0 p.i. (horizontal ellipses) and testosterone-deregulated genes on day 8 p.i. (vertical ellipses). The overlap of the ellipses represents the numbers of those genes persistently deregulated by testosterone.

HSD3B5 as well as the male-prevalent transporter SLCO1A1 (Table 1). By contrast, there also remained a persistent downregulation of gene expression of female-prevalent enzymes such as CYP2B9, CYP2B13, CYP3A41, CYP3A44, FMO3, SULT2A2, and SULT3A1 as well as the female-prevalent transporter BC014805. Remarkably, 27 genes, i.e. 50% of the genes, which were deregulated by testosterone, belonged to the categories phase I and phase II metabolism, lipid, and general metabolism. Phase I expression of genes encoding CYP2B13, CYP3A41, and FMO3 and phase II expression of genes encoding SULT2A2 and SULT3A1 were persistently suppressed by testosterone (>100-fold), whereas HSD3B5 showed the highest persistent testosterone-upregulated expression (>100-fold; Table 1).

Remarkably, the expression of four genes, which were involved in cancerogenic processes, was persistently deregulated by testosterone. These genes encode LAMA3, NOX4, RAD51L1, and PROM1 (Table 1). LAMA3 is an indicator of hepatocellular carcinoma dedifferentiation, NOX4 is normally expressed in cancerous tissues, RAD51L1 is involved in genetic instability, and PROM1 is a marker for hematopoietic and endothelial progenitor cells. Furthermore, persistent deregulation also occurred with four genes involved in signal transduction and genes encoding diverse transporters and seven genes of miscellaneous function.

Long-term testosterone-induced deregulation also occurred in expression of genes involved in the immune response, in particular those encoding IFN γ

Table 1 Express	tion of genes persistently deregul	lated by te	stosteron	e and their functio	ns annotat	ed to date		
Gene symbol	Gene name	T _{d0} /C _{d0}	T _{d8} /C _{d8}	Affymetrix probe ID	Entrez gene	Representative public ID (A)	Functions	PMID
Phase I metabolisr <i>MGC25972</i>	m Similar to cytochrome	390-20	42.70	1424352_at	277 753	BC025936	Decreased expression in HGF-knockout mice	17241389
Cyp2d9	P450, 4a10 Cytochrome P450, family 2,	22.58	4.38	1419349_a_at	13 105	BC010593	Male-specific; regulated by GH; sterol	16547391,
Cyp7b1	subfamily d, polypeptide 9 Cytochrome P450, family 7, subfamily b, polypeptide 1	5.37	3.59	1421075_s_at	13 123	NM_007825	16z-hydroxylase Oxysterol-7-a-hydroxylase involved in synthesis of 7-a-hydroxylated bile acids;	4074718 9295351, 8530364,
Cyp7b1	Cytochrome P450, family 7,	4.45	3.55	1421074_at	13 123	NM_007825	male-specific expression in the liver	11284/40
Fmo2	subramily b, polypeptide 1 Flavin-containing	0.36	0.42	1422904_at	55 990	NM_018881	Typically expressed at high levels in lung	16872995
Cyp3a44	Cytochrome P450, family 3,	0.10	0.20	1426064_at	337 924	AB039380	Female-specific expression depends on GH	12147261
Cyp2b9	Cytochrome P450, family 2,	0-06	0.13	1419590_at	13 094	NM_010000	Female-specific expression depends on GH	15381067
Cyp3a41	Cytochrome P450, family 3,	0.02	0.01	1419704_at	53 973	NM_017396	Female-specific isoenzyme	10775455
Fmo3	subramily a, polypeptide 41 Flavin-containing	0-01	0.02	1449525_at	14 262	NM_008030	Female-specific expression in the liver	7473608
Cyp2b13	monooxygenase 3 Cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily b, polypeptide 13	<0.01	0-01	1449479_at	13 089	NM_007813	Female-specific expression	15155787
Phase II metabolis <i>CmI5</i> Ugt2b38	sm Camello-like 5 UDP glucuronosyltransferase 0 family nolvmortials B20	9-51 9-47	24.01 3.06	1424811_at 1424934_at	69 049 71 773	BC024605 BC027200	Putative N-acetyltransferase Male-predominant expression in the liver; industive of #corts by Acetorator	19131521
Cml4 Ugt2b1	 clamity, pulypeptide 550 Camello-like 4 UDP glucuronoxyltransferase of tamily polymorphila P1 	6·30 1·76	8-91 2-08	1419520_at 1424934_at	68 396 71 773	NM_023455 BC027200	Inductive effects by testosterolie Putative N-acetyltransferase Male-predominant expression in the liver;	19131521
Sult3a1	 z raminy, polypepilue D1 Sulfotransferase family 3A, mombor 1 	0-01	0.04	1421669_at	57 430	NM_020565	rinductive effects by testosterorie Female-specific expression	16807285
Sult2a2	Sulfotransferase family 2A, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA)-preferring, member 2	< 0.01	<0.01	1419528_at	20 865	NM_009286	Female-specific expression in the liver; involved in control of the amounts of active androgens in cells; protects against the toxic effects of lithncholic acid	8570624, 9566751, 16864508
Lipid metabolism <i>Elovi3</i>	Elongation of very long chain fatty acids (FEN1/Elo2, SUR4/Elo3, yeast)-like 3	40-51	6.61	1420722_at	12 686	BC016468	Circadian expression in the liver, cold induction in brown adipose tissue is controlled by PPAR _{&} and crucial for	17003504, 15855229
Vidir	Very low-density	0-21	0.30	1434465_x_at	22 359	AV333363	accumulation of very long chain Involved in uptake of triglycerides	11453330
Vidir	lipoprotein receptor Very Iow-density Iinonrotein recentor	0.17	0.22	1417900_a_at	22 359	NM_013703		
1810022C23Rik	RIKEN CDNA 1810022C23 gene	0.06	0.19	1451588_at	69 123	BC014724	78% identical and 85% similar to murine peroxisomal delta 3, delta 2-enoyl- coenzymeA isomerase involved in β-oxidation of fatty acids	11781327
								(continued)

www.endocrinology-journals.org

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

29

Permanent changes by testosterone of liver gene expression · D DELIĆ and others 383

Table 1 Continu∉	þe							
Gene symbol	Gene name	T _{d0} /C _{d0}	T _{d8} /C _{d8}	Affymetrix probe ID	Entrez gene	Representative public ID (A)	Functions	DIMD
Hao3	Hydroxyacid oxidase (glycolate oxidase) 3	0.02	0.05	1418654_at	56 185	NM_019545	Peroxisomal-2-hydroxy acid oxidase	10777549
General metabolis Hsd3b5	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-5, deho / E > b bodo	1203-67	119-72	1420531_at	15 496	NM_008295	Involved in steroid synthesis with both dehydrogenase and isomerase activity;	8319586, 8477648, 8647215
Ela3b Serpine2	Letta co 20-20-cetta Elastase 3B, pancreatic Serine (or cysteine) proteinase inhibitor, clade E, member 2	4.19 2.91	3.82 2.78	1415884_at 1416666_at	67 868 20 720	NM_026419 NM_009255	Thate-specific Protease of the exocrine pancreas Plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI1); protective against malaria, since disruption of the <i>Pai1</i> gene results in partial loss of the ability to control the course of <i>P. chabaudi</i> infortione.	2826474 15618182
4833442J19Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4833442J19 gene	2.80	2.29	1427202_at	320 204	AV002340	Highly conserved protein containing putative methyltransferase domain	
Csad	Cysteine sulfinic acid	2-37	2.74	1427981_a_at	246 277	AY033912	Rate-limiting enzyme in taurine biosynthesis	11997111
Mcm10	Minichromosome maintenance deficient 10	2.20	2.16	1433408_a_at	70 024	AK010648	DNA replication protein required for assembly and progression of the replication fork	19081065
Serpinb1a	Co. Coronacae) Serine (or cysteine) proteinase inhibitor, clade B, member 1a	0.42	0.46	1416318_at	66 222	AF426024	Inhibitor of neutrophil serine proteases (elastase, cathepsin G and proteinase 3)	17664292
Serpinb1a	Serine (or cysteine) proteinase inhibitor, clade B, member 1a	0.36	0.41	1448301_s_at	66 222	AF426024		
Nt5e	5/ nucleotidase, ecto	0.18	0.22	1422974_at	23 959	NM_011851	Reduced activity by ischemia	9306922
Lama3	Laminin, alpha 3	3-93	2.64	1427512_a_at	16 774	X84014	Expression correlated with dedifferentiation	12079511
Nox4	NADPH oxidase 4	3.88	2.52	1419161_a_at	50 490	AB041034	NADPH oxidase generating ROS; Nox4 is most frequently expressed in tumor cells	11376945, 15155719
Nox4 Rad5111 Prom1	NADPH oxidase 4 RAD51-like 1 (S. <i>cerevisiae</i>) Prominin 1	3·29 0·24 0·06	2·44 0·55 0·51	1451827_a_at 1421430_at 1419700_a_at	50 490 19 363 19 126	BC021378 NM_009014 NM_008935	Involved in genetic instability Marker for hematopoletic and endothelial progenitor cells	15723711 1569483
Immune response Ifn _Y C6	Interferon gamma Complement component 6	11-72 8-66	0-58 6-37	1425947_at 1449308_at	15 978 12 274	K00083 NM_016704	Plays a protective role during cerebral malaria Complement component produced in the liver; higher expression in males than	16088835 4007963
Ckif Tox	Chemokine-like factor Thymocyte selection- associated HMG box gene	0-43 0-38	0-49 0-55	1436242_a_at 1425484_at	75 458 252 838	BE852312 BB547854	Chemoattractant for leukocytes Chemoattractant for leukocytes Upregulated in immature thymocytes but not in matured naive T-cells upon stimulation	11415443 11850626
Lag3 Igk-C	Lymphocyte activation gene 3 Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 8 (V8)	0.36 0.22	0·54 0·52	1449911_at 1426200_at	16 768 16 071	NM_008479 AY058910	or the 1-centreceptors Negatively regulates T-cell proliferation	12421911 (continued)

384 D DELIĆ and others · Permanent changes by testosterone of liver gene expression

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

30

www.endocrinology-journals.org
Table 1 Continue	þ							
Gene symbol	Gene name	T _{d0} /C _{d0}	T _{d8} /C _{d8}	Affymetrix probe ID	Entrez gene	Representative public ID (A)	Functions	DIM
Signal transductio Prir	n Prolactin receptor	0.50	0.48	1425853_s_at	19 116	M22958	Treatment of female mice with testosterone	6329976
Prir Dscr111	Prolactin receptor Down syndrome critical region gene 1-like 1	0-45 0-25	0.52 0.31	1448556_at 1421425_a_at	19 116 53 901	BC005555 NM_030598	reduces <i>Prir</i> levels Mimics the inhibitory effects of DSCR1 on calcineurin signaling pathways in	10756093
Mmd2	Monocyte to macrophage differentiation-associated 2	0.23	0.47	1424534_at	75104	BC025064	endothelial cells and inhibits angiogenesis Member of the PAQR seven transmembrane protein family that also encompasses	16044242, 12617826
Mmd2	Monocyte to macrophage differentiation-associated 2	0.23	0.47	1438654_x_at	75 104	AV269411	non-genomic progesterone receptors	
Transport Slco1a1	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family,	25-65	22.65	1420379_at	28 248	AB031813	Organic anion transporter with male preponderance in the liver; regulated by	16807376, 12399219
Slco1a1	member 1a1 Solute carrier organic anion transporter family,	22.05	41.28	1449844_at	28 248	AB031813	androgens and GH secretion pattern	
Slc1a4	Solute carrier family 1 (glutamate/neutral amino acid transporter),	0.37	0.44	1423549_at	55 963	BB277461	Neutral amino acid transporter	12533615
D630002G06 C730048C13Rik	Hypothetical protein D630002606/RIKEN cDNA	0.17	0.31	1451635_at	236 293- 319 800	AB056443	Cation transport protein	
D630002G06	U / 300400 I 3 gene Hypothetical protein De20002006	0.15	0.31	1425222_x_at	236 293	AB056443	Cation transport protein	
AB056442 BC014805	cDNA sequence BC014805 cDNA sequence BC014805	0.05	0.11 0.15	1419751_x_at 1425751_at	171 405 236 149	NM_134256 AJ132857	Organic anion transporter 6 64% identical and 79% similar to SIc22a9, an organic anion transporter in	16150593
BC014805	cDNA sequence BC014805	0.04	0.13	1425752_at	236 149	AJ132857	transepithelial transport of steroid sulfates	
Miscellaneous <i>Omd</i> Susd4	Osteomodulin Sushi domain-containing	17·26 8·14	2·55 2·49	1418745_at 1424221_at	27 047 96 935	NM_012050 BC021842	Bone-specific extracellular matrix protein Unknown	10607915
2810439F02Rik	protein 4 RIKEN cDNA 2810439F02	3.49	3.04	1426223_at	72 747	BC020021	Unknown	
Clec2h	gene C-type lectin domain fomily of mombor b	2.88	3.16	1451438_s_at	94 071	AF350410	Unknown	
Arrdc4	Arrestin domain-containing	0.42	0.54	1426818_at	66412	BC025091	Unknown	
Pcp4I1	Purkinje cell protein 4-like 1	0-41	0.36	1452913_at	66 425	AV337888	Reported to be expressed only in the central	15053978
2610528H13Rik	Coiled-coil domain containing 25	0-37	0.55	1451799_at	67 179	BC025545	unknown	

www.endocrinology-journals.org

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379–390

31



Figure 4 Hierarchical cluster analysis of expression levels of persistently deregulated genes by testosterone, with the upregulated genes on the left and the downregulated genes on the right. Analysis was performed using Gene Cluster 3. All expression levels were normalized to the mean signal intensity of control mice (C_{d0} ; cf. outline in Fig. 1), and data are log₂-transformed. Green and red colors represent down- and upregulation respectively as indicated by the logarithmic color scale bar.

and IGK-C (Table 1). Out of the 24 upregulated genes, 3 genes encoding CYP2D9, ELOVL3, and SUSD4 remained upregulated, but at significantly lower levels after infection on day 8 p.i. By contrast, only the expression of *Ifn* γ was increased by testosterone on day 0 p.i. (T_{d0}/C_{d0}=11·78), but its upregulation appeared relatively suppressed on day 8 p.i. (T_{d8}/C_{d8}=0·58), i.e. it was strongly induced by infection at C_{d8} than at T_{d8} (Table 1). Finally, Fig. 5 shows that the expression profiles of arbitrarily selected genes from microarrays, i.e. testosterone-upregulated *Hsd3b5*, *Elovl3*, and *Ifn* γ and testosterone-downregulated *Sult2a2*, *Nt5e*, and *Prom1*, could be verified by real-time PCR analysis.

Nuclear receptors

Nuclear receptors play a central role in liver metabolism of endo- and xenobiotics (Tirona & Kim 2005, Plant & Aouabdi 2009). However, some nuclear receptors such as RXR α , LXR α , and PPAR α are not represented on the Affymetrix chip, and others may be removed according to the criteria we applied for analysis. We therefore decided to re-examine a possible persistent testosterone effect on expression of genes encoding some known nuclear receptors using qRT-PCR. Table 2 summarizes data obtained for 12 different receptors. It is conspicuous that after testosterone withdrawal for

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

12 weeks, only the expression of *Car* was more than twofold downregulated. However, expression of *Car* did not remain deregulated by testosterone after infection with *P. chabaudi* on day 8 p.i.

Discussion

Using Affymetrix microarray technology, the present study has revealed that, among 14 000 genes examined, only 54 genes were persistently deregulated by testosterone in livers of female mice and remained deregulated after subsequent infection with *P. chabaudi* for 8 days. The fact that only 54 genes out of 14 000 are persistently deregulated by testosterone indicates that this deregulation reflects specific testosterone effects rather than long-term toxic testosterone can be summarized into three groups: 1) genes involved in liver metabolism, 2) genes involved in memory for the specific testosterone.

Most of the genes permanently changed by testosterone belong to the first group, i.e. genes encoding enzymes involved in phase I–III liver metabolism. Conspicuously, there is a persistent downregulation of some female-prevalent genes such as *Cyp2b9*, *Cyp2b13*, *Cyp3a41*, *Cyp3a44*, *Fmo3*, *Sult2a2*, *Sult3a1*, and



Figure 5 Expression of testosterone-deregulated genes analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR. Gene expression profiles of testosterone-upregulated *Hsd3b5*, *Ifn*₇, and *Elovl3* on the left and testosterone-downregulated *Nt5e*, *Prom1*, and *Sult2a2* on the right, as revealed by microarrays, can be verified by real-time PCR analysis. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to the mean expression of control mice (C_{d0}). For definition of C_{d0}, C_{d8}, T_{d0}, and T_{d8}, see outline in Fig. 1. Means ± s.p. from three different mice are indicated for each group. Significant differences between T_{d0} and C_{d0} are indicated by *, and between T_{d8} and C_{d8} by § using *t*-test (*P*<0.05).

BC014805, and an upregulation of some male-prevalent genes such as *Cyp2d9*, *Cyp7b1*, *Hsd3b5*, *Ugt2b1*, *Ugt2b38*, and *Slco1a1* (cf. Table 1). The testosterone-induced permanent changes of these genes contribute to an at least partial masculinization of the metabolism of the female mouse liver. Such a masculinization is ultimately also in accordance with the testosterone-induced permanent changes of those genes listed in the second group, which are involved in and contribute to hepatocellular carcinogenesis, such as *Lama3* and *Nox4.* Indeed, hepatocellular carcinoma is known for a long time to be much more prevalent in male mice than in female mice (Drinkwater *et al.* 1990, Kemp & Drinkwater 1990, Nagasue & Kohno 1992). The changes of *Igk-C* and *Ifn* γ in the third group of testosterone-deregulated genes indicate that testosterone also affects genes involved in the immune response, though our data cannot discriminate as to whether testosterone affects only genes of intrahepatic T- and B-cells and/or also circulatory B- and T-cells. At least,

Table 2 Effects of testosterone pretreatment and *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria on gene expression of different nuclear receptors in the female mouse liver as revealed by quantitative reverse transcription-PCR

Gene symbol	Gene name	T_{d0}/C_{d0}	T _{d8} /C _{d8}
Pparα	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha	0.76 ± 0.07	1·25±0·18
$Lxr\alpha$ (Nr1h3)	Liver X receptor alpha	0.76+0.06	0.72+0.19
Rxrα	Retinoid X receptor alpha	0.53 ± 0.33	0.92 ± 0.33
Pxr (Nr1i2)	Pregnane X receptor	1.13 ± 0.12	1.01 ± 0.57
Fxr (Nr1h4)	Farnesoid X receptor	0.56 ± 0.42	0.98 ± 0.09
Ar	Androgen receptor	0.91 ± 0.22	1.15 ± 0.27
$ER\alpha$ (Esr1)	Estrogen receptor alpha	0.88 ± 0.22	1·19±0·21
$ER\beta$ (Esr2)	Estrogen receptor beta	1·46±0·33	0·95±0·14
Ahr	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor	1·16±0·16	1·09±0·17
Hnf4α	Hepatic nuclear factor 4 alpha	1·28±0·33	1·13±0·38
Car (Nr1i3)	Constitutive androstane receptor	0.31 ± 0.06	0·99 <u>+</u> 0·26
Vdr	Vitamin D receptor	ND	0·31±0·17

www.endocrinology-journals.org

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

the persistent downregulation of Igk-C by testosterone indicates that testosterone ultimately leads to a partially reduced production of antibodies. Indeed, this confirms previous studies that testosterone lowers the production of antibodies (Fujii *et al.* 1975, Hirota *et al.* 1980, Morton *et al.* 1981, Kincade *et al.* 1994, Benten *et al.* 1997). More complicated is the situation with $Ifn\gamma$ which is upregulated by the end of the testosterone withdrawal period, but the subsequent malaria infection induces expression of $Ifn\gamma$ in both the vehicle- and the testosterone-pretreated mice, however, at a higher extent in control than in testosterone-pretreated mice.

The mechanisms by which testosterone exerts reprograming of gene expression, evidenced as permanent changes in the expression of distinct genes in the female mouse liver, are unknown, but are expected to be rather complex and, possibly, even to be different for different genes, involving both direct and indirect actions of testosterone on gene expression (Wunderlich et al. 2002, Centenera et al. 2008, Bennett et al. 2009). An indirect action of testosterone may also take place through the hypothalamus-pituitary gland-liver axis, which is imprinted neonatally by androgens and which operates through pulsatile versus continuous patterns of GH secretion in males versus females respectively (Colby et al. 1973, Einarson et al. 1973, Sakuma et al. 2002, Gustafsson 2005, Waxman & Holloway 2009). Indeed, this axis is currently envisaged as to maintain the sexual dimorphism of hepatic gene expression, especially expression of cytochrome P450 genes involved in liver metabolism. GH in turn activates the GH-responsive transcription factor STAT5b, which is, besides HNF4a, essential for establishment and maintenance of sexually dimorphic gene expression in the liver of male mice (Clodfelter et al. 2007, Holloway et al. 2007, 2008). In female mice, however, STAT5b plays only - if at all - a minor role in sexually dimorphic pattern of hepatic gene expression (Holloway et al. 2007). Remarkably, our microarray and qRT-PCR data indicate that testosterone affects expression of neither Stat5b nor $Hnf4\alpha$ in the female mouse liver. Also, any other transcription factors including common nuclear factors are apparently not affected by testosterone. Moreover, testosterone-induced reprograming of liver gene expression may involve changes in the epigenome. Indeed, steroid hormones are known to induce long-lasting chromatin remodeling through epigenetic mechanisms, as e.g. DNA methylation and/or covalent modifications of histones (Grunstein 1997, Goldberg et al. 2007, Murray et al. 2009, Waxman & Holloway 2009).

Some of those genes that may be important for the testosterone-induced persistent susceptibility to *P. chabaudi* malaria have been possibly not detected due to masking since our experiments have been conducted with livers *in toto.* Also, it is not unlikely

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

that genes may be critical in other organs, as e.g. in the spleen representing the other major effector site against blood stage malaria (Wunderlich et al. 2005). Nevertheless, it appears as if the testosterone-induced permanent changes we have found in hepatic expression of those genes involved in liver metabolism and in particular those involved in immune response are presumably relevant for the testosterone-induced persistent susceptibility to P. chabaudi malaria. For instance, masculinization of liver metabolism possibly reflects a decreased hepatic capacity to detoxify substances, which are derived in abundance from destroyed parasites and host cells during malaria infection. At least, the testosterone-induced decrease in production of antibodies and IFNy indicates an association with the testosterone-induced persistent susceptibility to P. chabaudi malaria. Indeed, the current view predominates that protective immunity to P. chabaudi malaria is eventually mediated through antibodies (Achtman et al. 2005, 2007) requiring activation by the T_H2 response. However, this activation has to be preceded by an IFN_γ-dependent activation of the T_H1 response (Taylor-Robinson & Phillips 1998, Balmer et al. 2000, Su & Stevenson 2000, Batchelder et al. 2003, Cernetich et al. 2006). The specific upregulation of $Ifn\gamma$ we observe after testosterone withdrawal could reflect an overactivation of the $T_{\rm H}$ 1 response; the delicately balanced switching to the $T_{\rm H}2$ response may be then perturbed (Zhang *et al.* 2000), thus delaying the maturation and secretion of the antibodies from plasma B cells. In addition, the testosterone-increased production of IFN γ may perturb the proper activation of those genes, which encode, e.g. other effectors directed against infections such as diverse GTPases (Boehm et al. 1998, Klamp et al. 2003, Degrandi et al. 2007).

Declaration of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest that could be perceived as prejudicing the impartiality of the research reported.

Funding

This work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft through GRK1427 and the Centre of Excellence for Biodiversity Research, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

References

Achtman AH, Bull PC, Stephens R & Langhorne J 2005 Longevity of the immune response and memory to blood-stage malaria infection. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* 297 71–102. (doi:10.1007/3-540-29967-X_3)

www.endocrinology-journals.org

- Achtman AH, Stephens R, Cadman ET, Harrison V & Langhorne J 2007 Malaria-specific antibody responses and parasite persistence after infection of mice with *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi*. *Parasite Immunology* **29** 435–444. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.2007.00960.x)
- Aikawa M, Suzuki M & Gutierrez Y 1980 Pathology of Malaria. In *Malaria*, vol 2, pp 47–102. Ed. JP Kreier. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Balmer P, Alexander J & Phillips RS 2000 Protective immunity to erythrocytic *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection involves IFNγmediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. *Parasitology* **121** 473–482. (doi:10.1017/S0031182099006757)
- Batchelder JM, Burns JM, Cigel FK, Lieberg H, Manning DD, Pepper BJ, Yañez DM, van der Heyde H & Weidanz WP 2003 *Plasmodium chabaudi adami*: interferon-γ but not IL-2 is essential for the expression of cell-mediated immunity against blood-stage parasites in mice. *Experimental Parasitology* **105** 159–166. (doi:10.1016/j. exppara.2003.12.003)
- Bennett NC, Gardiner RA, Hooper JD, Johnson DW & Gobe GC 2009 Molecular cell biology of androgen receptor signalling. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 42 813–827. (doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.11.013)
- Benten WP, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW & Wunderlich F 1997 Testosterone-induced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. *Journal of Endocrinology* 153 275–281. (doi:10.1677/joe.0.1530275)
- Boehm U, Guethlein L, Klamp T, Ozbek K, Schaub A, Fütterer A, Pfeffer K & Howard JC 1998 Two families of GTPases dominate the complex cellular response to IFN-γ. *Journal of Immunology* 161 6715–6723.
- Centenera MM, Harris JM, Tilley WD & Butler LM 2008 The contribution of different androgen receptor domains to receptor dimerization and signaling. *Molecular Endocrinology* **22** 2373–2382. (doi:10.1210/me.2008-0017)
- Cernetich A, Garver LS, Jedlicka AE, Klein PW, Kumar N, Scott AL & Klein SL 2006 Involvement of gonadal steroids and gamma interferon in sex differences in response to blood-stage malaria infection. *Infection and Immunity* 74 3190–3203. (doi:10.1128/IAI. 00008-06)
- Clodfelter KH, Miles GD, Wauthier V, Holloway MG, Zhang X, Hodor P, Ray WJ & Waxman DJ 2007 Role of STAT5a in regulation of sex-specific gene expression in female but not male mouse liver revealed by microarray analysis. *Physiological Genomics* **31** 63–74. (doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00055.2007)
- Colby HD, Gaskin JH & Kitay JI 1973 Requirement of the pituitary gland for gonadal hormone effects on hepatic corticosteroid metabolism in rats and hamsters. *Endocrinology* **92** 769–774. (doi:10.1210/endo-92-3-769)
- Degrandi D, Konermann C, Beuter-Gunia C, Kresse A, Würthner J, Kurig S, Beer S & Pfeffer K 2007 Extensive characterization of IFN-induced GTPases mGBP1 to mGBP10 involved in host defense. *Journal of Immunology* 179 7729–7740.
- Dennis G, Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC & Lempicki RA 2003 DAVID: database for annotation, visualization, and integrated discovery. *Genome Biology* 4 P3. (doi:10.1186/gb-2003-4-5-p3)
- Drinkwater NR, Hanigan MH & Kemp CJ 1990 Genetic and epigenetic promotion of murine hepatocarcinogenesis. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research* 331 163–176.
- Einarson K, Gustafsson J & Stenberg A 1973 Neonatal imprinting of liver microsomal hydroxylation and reduction of steroids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 248 4987–4997.
- Eisen MB, Spellman PT, Brown PO & Botstein D 1998 Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns. *PNAS* 95 14863–14868. (doi:10.1073/pnas.95.25.14863)
- Fujii H, Nawa Y, Tsuchiya H, Matsuno K, Fukumoto T, Fukuda S & Kotani M 1975 Effect of a single administration of testosterone on the immune response and lymphoid tissues in mice. *Cellular Immunology* 20 315–326. (doi:10.1016/0008-8749(75)90108-2)

www.endocrinology-journals.org

Goldberg AD, Allis CD & Bernstein E 2007 Epigenetics: a landscape takes shape. *Cell* 128 635–638. (doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.006)
Grunstein M 1997 Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. *Nature* 389 349–352. (doi:10.1038/38664)

- Guo Z, Benten WPM, Krücken J & Wunderlich F 2002 Nongenomic testosterone calcium signaling. Genotropic actions in androgen receptor-free macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 29600–29607. (doi:10.1074/jbc.M202997200)
- Gustafsson J 2005 Steroids and the scientist. *Molecular Endocrinology* **19** 1412–1417. (doi:10.1210/me.2004-0479)
- Häussinger D, Kubitz R, Reinehr R, Bode JG & Schliess F 2004 Molecular aspects of medicine: from experimental to clinical hepatology. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* 25 221–360. (doi:10.1016/j. mam.2004.02.001)
- Hirota Y, Suzuki T & Bito Y 1980 The development of unusual B-cell functions in the testosterone-propionate-treated chicken. *Immunology* **39** 29–36.
- Holloway MG, Cui Y, Laz EV, Hosui A, Hennighausen L & Waxman DJ 2007 Loss of sexually dimorphic liver gene expression upon hepatocyte-specific deletion of Stat5a–Stat5b locus. *Endocrinology* 148 1977–1986. (doi:10.1210/en.2006-1419)
- Holloway MG, Miles GD, Dombkowski AA & Waxman DJ 2008 Liverspecific hepatocyte nuclear factor-4α deficiency: greater impact on gene expression in male than in female mouse liver. *Molecular Endocrinology* **22** 1274–1286. (doi:10.1210/me.2007-0564)
- de Hoon MJ, Imoto S, Nolan J & Miyano S 2004 Open source clustering software. *Bioinformatics* 20 1453–1454. (doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/bth078)
- Kato R & Onada K 1970 Studies on the regulation of the activity of drug oxidation in rat liver microsomes by androgen and estrogen. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **19** 1649–1660. (doi:10.1016/0006-2952(70)90328-X)
- Kemp CJ & Drinkwater NR 1990 The androgen receptor and liver tumor development in mice. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research* 331 203–214.
- Kincade PW, Medina KL & Smithson G 1994 Sex hormones as negative regulators of lymphopoiesis. *Immunological Reviews* 137 119–134. (doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1994.tb00661.x)
- Klamp T, Boehm U, Schenk D, Pfeffer K & Howard JC 2003 A giant GTPase, very large inducible GTPase-1, is inducible by IFNs. *Journal of Immunology* **171** 1255–1265.
- Klein SL 2000 The effects of hormones on sex differences in infection: from genes to behavior. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 24 627–638. (doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00027-0)
- Krücken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RMU, El-Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2005 Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. *Infection and Immunity* **73** 436–443. (doi:10.1128/IAI.73.1.436-443. 2005)
- Krücken J, Delić D, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2009 Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Malaria Journal* 8 54. (doi:10. 1186/1475-2875-8-54)
- Kurtis JD, Mtalib R, Onyango FK & Duffy PE 2001 Human resistance to *Plasmodium falciparum* increases during puberty and is predicted by dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels. *Infection and Immunity* 69 123–128. (doi:10.1128/IAI.69.1.123-128.2001)
- Livak KJ & Schmittgen TD 2001 Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(–Delta Delta *C*(T)) method. *Methods* **25** 402–408. (doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262)
- Mannoor MK, Weerasinghe A, Halder RC, Reza S, Morshed M, Ariyasinghe A, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2001 Resistance to malarial infection is achieved by the cooperation of NK1.1(+) and NK1.1(-) subsets of intermediate TCR cells which are constituents of innate immunity. *Cellular Immunology* **211** 96–104. (doi:10.1006/ cimm.2001.1833)

Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (2010) 45, 379-390

390 D DELIC and others · Permanent changes by testosterone of liver gene expression

- Mannoor MK, Halder RC, Morshed SRM, Ariyasinghe A, Bakir HY, Kawamura H, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2002 Essential role of extrathymic T cells in protection against malaria. *Journal of Immunology* 169 301–306.
- Marriott I & Huet-Hudson YM 2006 Sexual dimorphism in innate immune responses to infectious organisms. *Immunologic Research* 34 177–192. (doi:10.1385/IR:34:3:177)
- Morton JI, Weyant DA, Siegel BV & Golding B 1981 Androgen sensitivity and autoimmune disease. I. Influence of sex and testosterone on the humoral immune response of autoimmune and non-autoimmune mouse strains to sheep erythrocytes. *Immunology* 44 661–669.
- Muehlenbein MP, Alger J, Cogswell F, James M & Krogstad D 2005 The reproductive endocrine response to *Plasmodium vivax* infection in Hondurans. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 73 178–187.
- Müller HE 1992 The more effective immune system of women against infectious agents. Wiener Medizinische Wochenschrift 142 389–395.
- Murray EK, Hien A, de Vries GJ & Forger NG 2009 Epigenetic control of sexual differentiation of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Endocrinology* 150 4241–4247. (doi:10.1210/en.2009-0458)
- Nagasue N & Kohno H 1992 Hepatocellular carcinoma and sex hormones. HPB Surgery 6 1–6. (doi:10.1155/1992/72761)
- Plant S & Aouabdi S 2009 Nuclear receptors: the controlling force in drug metabolism of the liver. *Xenobiotica* **39** 597–605. (doi:10.1080/ 00498250903098218)
- Quigley CA, De Bellis A, Marschke KB, el-Awaby MK, Wilson EM & French FS 1995 Androgen receptor defects: historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. *Endocrine Reviews* 16 271–321. (doi:10. 1210/edrv-16-3-271)
- Rahman F & Christian HC 2007 Non-classical actions of testosterone: an update. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 18 371–378. (doi:10.1016/j.tem.2007.09.004)
- Roberts CW, Walker W & Alexander J 2001 Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 14 476–488. (doi:10.1128/CMR.14.3.476-488.2001)
- Sakuma T, Endo Y, Mashino M, Kuroiwa M, Ohara A, Jarukamjorn K & Nemoto N 2002 Regulation of the expression of two femalepredominant CYP3A mRNAs (CYP3A41 and CYP3A44) in mouse liver by sex and growth hormones. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **404** 234–242. (doi:10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00329-6)
- Sturn A, Quackenbush J & Trajanoski Z 2002 Genesis: cluster analysis of microarray data. *Bioinformatics* 18 207–208. (doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/18.1.207)
- Su Z & Stevenson MM 2000 Central role of endogenous gamma interferon in protective immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection. *Infection and Immunity* 68 4399–4406. (doi:10. 1128/IAI.68.8.4399-4406.2000)

- Taylor-Robinson AW & Phillips RS 1998 Infective dose modulates the balance between Th1- and Th2-regulated immune responses during blood-stage malaria infection. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 48 527–534. (doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1998.00437.x)
- Tirona RG & Kim RB 2005 Nuclear receptors and drug disposition gene regulation. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 94 1169–1186. (doi:10.1002/jps.20324)
- Waxman DJ & Holloway MG 2009 Sex differences in the expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. *Molecular Pharmacology* 76 215–228. (doi:10.1124/mol.109.056705)
- Wendler A & Wehling M 2009 Translational research on rapid steroid actions. *Steroids* 75 619–623. (doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2009. 09.007)
- Wunderlich F, Stübig H & Königk E 1982 Development of *Plasmodium chabaudi* in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. *Journal of Protozoology* **29** 60–66. (doi:10.1111/j.1550-7408.1982.tb02880.x)
- Wunderlich F, Mossmann H, Helwig M & Schillinger G 1988 Resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* in B10 mice: influence of the H-2 complex and testosterone. *Infection and Immunity* 56 2400–2406.
- Wunderlich F, Marinovski P, Benten WP, Schmitt-Wrede HP & Mossmann H 1991 Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasite Immunology* **13** 357–367. (doi:10.1111/j. 1365-3024.1991.tb00289.x)
- Wunderlich F, Benten WPM, Lieberherr M, Guo Z, Stamm O, Wrehlke C, Sekeris CE & Mossmann H 2002 Testosterone signaling in T cells and macrophages. *Steroids* 67 535–538. (doi:10.1016/S0039-128X(01)00175-1)
- Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El-Khadragy M, Borsch E, Hermsen D, Benten WPM, Pfeffer K, Mossmann H *et al.* 2005 Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin beta receptor-deficient mice resistant to blood-stage malaria. *Microbes and Infection* **7** 399–409. (doi:10.1016/j.micinf. 2004.11.016)
- Zhang Z, Chen L, Saito S, Kanagawa O & Sendo F 2000 Possible modulation by male sex hormone of Th1/Th2 function in protection against *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* AS infection in mice. *Experimental Parasitology* **96** 121–129. (doi:10.1006/expr.2000. 4572)
- Zhou ZX, Wong CI, Sar M & Wilson EM 1994 The androgen receptor: an overview. Recent Progress in Hormone Research 49 249–274.

Received in final form 6 September 2010

Accepted 14 September 2010

Made available online as an Accepted Preprint 15 September 2010

2.4 Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria

Background: MiRNAs exhibit a wide spectrum of biological functions and are increasingly reported to be associated with the outcome of several human malignancies and even infectious diseases. Moreover, miRNAs control diverse aspects of the liver, including hepatocyte growth, stress response, metabolism, infection, proliferation, gene expression, and maintenance of hepatic phenotype. miRNAs play a key role in both innate and adaptive immunity, but there is only little information available about their role in the response of the anti-malaria effector-site liver in female mice.

Methods: Female C57BL/6 mice were challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes and homologuously re-infected after 56 days *p.i.*. The miRNA expression patterns were examined on days 0 and 8 *p.i.* after primary infection, and on days 0 and 8 *p.i.* after secondary infection using miRXplore microarrays and qRT-PCR. ELISA was used to determine IgG levels on the different time-points and light microscopy and PCR-analysis of a *P. chabaudi* specific protein-encoding mRNA, Pc90, was used to detect the presence of *P. chabaudi*-infected parasites. Inflammatory and liver metabolism marker genes were analyzed by qRT-PCR.

Results: Primary infections resulted in approximately 50% peak parasitemia on day 8 and approximately 80% survival, whereas secondary infections were characterized by 1.5% peak parasitemia and 100% survival. In immune mouse liver, there were still *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes. Moreover, immune mice contained increased levels of IgG2a- and IgG2b-isotypes. Primary infections were described by a transcriptional upregulation of IL-1 β , TNF α , IFN γ , NF κ B, and iNOS, and a transcriptional downregulation of CYP7A1 and SULT2A2. The hepatic miRNA signature is designated by an upregulation of the 3 miRNA-species miR-26b, MCMV-miR-M23-1-5p, and miR-1274a, and a downregulation of the 16 miRNA-species miR-101b, let-7a, let-7g, miR-193a-3p, miR-192, miR-142-5p, miR-465d, miR-677, miR-98, miR-694, miR-374^{*}, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, miR-377, miR-20a^{*}, and miR-466d-3p.

Conclusion: This study describes persistently deregulated miRNAs as potential new players in acquired protective immunity against *P. chabaudi* malaria.

ORIGINAL PAPER

Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria

Denis Delić • Mohamed Dkhil • Saleh Al-Quraishy • Frank Wunderlich

Received: 1 October 2010 / Accepted: 29 October 2010 © Springer-Verlag 2010

Abstract Evidence is accumulating that miRNAs are critically implicated in the outcome of diseases, but little information is available for infectious diseases. This study investigates the hepatic miRNA signature in female C57BL/6 mice infected with self-healing Plasmodium chabaudi malaria. Primary infections result in approximately 50% peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i., approximately 80% survival, and development of protective immunity. The latter is evidenced as 100% survival and 1.5% peak parasitemia upon homolog re-infections of those mice which are still alive on day 56 after primary infection. Such immune mice exhibit increased levels of IgG2a and IgG2b isotypes and still contain P. chabaudi-infected erythrocytes in their livers as revealed by light microscopy and PCR analysis. Primary infections, but not secondary infections, induce an upregulation of hepatic mRNAs encoding IL-1β, TNFα, IFNγ, NF-κB, and iNOS, and a downregulation of mRNAs for CYP7A1 and SULT2A2, respectively. Using miRXplore microarrays containing 634 mouse miRNAs in combination with quantitative RT-PCR, the liver is found to respond to primary infections with an upregulation of the three miRNA species miR-26b,

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s00436-010-2152-z) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

D. Delić • F. Wunderlich (⊠) Molecular Parasitology, Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University, Universitaetsstr. 1, 40225, Duesseldorf, Germany e-mail: frank.wunderlich@uni-duesseldorf.de

M. Dkhil · S. Al-Quraishy · F. Wunderlich Zoology, College of Science, King Saud University, 11352, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Published online: 18 November 2010

MCMV-miR-M23-1-5p, and miR-1274a, and a downregulation of the 16 miRNA species miR-101b, let-7a, let-7g, miR-193a-3p, miR-192, miR-142-5p, miR-465d, miR-677, miR-98, miR-694, miR-374^{*}, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, miR-377, miR-20a^{*}, and miR-466d-3p, respectively. Surprisingly, about the same pattern of miRNA expression is revealed in immune mice, and this pattern is even sustained upon homolog re-infections of immune mice. These data suggest that development of protective immunity against malarial blood stages of *P. chabaudi* is associated with a reprogramming of the expression of distinct miRNA species in the female mouse liver.

Introduction

Natural immunity against malaria is directed against the blood stages of the parasitic protozoon Plasmodium and can be acquired after repeated infections (Cohen et al. 1982; Miller et al. 2002; Doolan et al. 2009). A general feature of this immunity is that it can suppress disease symptoms, but it is not able to prevent parasitemia during malaria season (Gomase and Tagore 2008; Pierce and Miller 2009; Goodman and Draper 2010). The rodent malaria Plasmodium chabaudi is a convenient model to investigate blood-stage malaria: it shares several characteristics with Plasmodium falciparum, the most virulent humanpathogenic malaria species (Mehlhorn 2008; Mackinnon and Read 2003). Both P. falciparum and P. chabaudi prefer normocytes as host cells (Pasvol et al. 1980; Jarra and Brown 1989; Clough et al. 1998). Both species exhibit cytoadherence and sequestration of the schizont stages from peripheral circulation to internal microvasculature, which are considered as major virulence factors of human malaria (Roberts et al. 2000; Pain et al.

Deringer

2001). Moreover, both malaria species induce strainspecific immunity (Snounou et al. 1989; Mota et al. 1998) and display clonal antigenic variation (Biggs et al. 1991; Roberts et al. 1992).

Primary blood-stage infections with P. chabaudi malaria induce innate and adaptive responses, which help to self-heal and to survive the infections. This self-healing is associated with the development of immune mechanisms protecting against secondary homolog re-infections (Wunderlich and Helwig 1987; Jarra and Brown 1989; Langhorne et al. 2002). Remarkably, self-healing and acquisition of immunity against P. chabaudi malaria can even take place in the absence of secondary lymphoid organs as we have previously shown in lymphotoxin β receptor-deficient mice (Krücken et al. 2005; Wunderlich et al. 2005). Even the spleen of these mice exhibits severe defects such as absence of the marginal zone, T/B cell segregation, and absence of the follicular dendritic cell network (Fütterer et al. 1998; Fu and Chaplin 1999), which suggests at least an impairment of the widely accepted function of the spleen as the major effector site against blood-stage malaria.

The liver plays a central role in malaria. It is not only that site in which pre-erythrocytic development of *Plasmodium* takes place but also this lymphoid organ (Häussinger et al. 2004; Crispe 2009) apparently differentiate to an essential effector against blood-stage malaria (Balmer et al. 2000; Krücken et al. 2005). Indeed, blood-stage malaria activates Kupffer cells, which constitute 80–90% of all macrophages, which are then able to phagocytose *Plasmodium*-infected erythrocytes (Dockrell et al. 1980; Taverne et al. 1987; Delić et al. 2010). Moreover, specific extrathymic lymphocyte populations are generated in the liver, which mediate protective immunity to blood-stage malaria (Mannoor et al. 2001, 2002). Even the liver metabolism, especially its detoxifying capacity, appears to be critical for the outcome to blood-stage malaria (Delić et al. 2010).

During the last years, evidence is accumulating that miRNAs are involved in the control of diseases. MicroRNAs are small non-coding RNAs, approximately 20 bp in size, that are involved in post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression by affecting both the stability and translation of mRNAs (Bartel 2004; Ruvkun 2008; Pawlicki and Steitz 2010). In mice, more than 600 miRNA have been discovered to date (Bissels et al. 2009) and each miRNA is supposed to target hundreds of mRNAs of protein-coding genes, respectively (Griffiths-Jones et al. 2008). There is also evidence that characterizes miRNAs as key regulators of immune reactions (Baltimore et al. 2008; Bi et al. 2009; Davidson-Moncada et al. 2010). Thus, a number of miRNAs are implicated in both innate and adaptive immune responses, including the release of inflammatory mediators, the proliferation of monocytes and neutrophils, the development and differentiation of B and T cells and antibody switching

(Li et al. 2007; O'Connell et al. 2007; Johnnidis et al. 2008; Lindsay 2008). Moreover, miRNAs are known to control diverse features of the liver, including hepatocyte growth, stress response, metabolism, infection, proliferation, gene expression, and maintenance of hepatic phenotype (Bala et al. 2009; Chen 2009; Lu and Liston 2009; Wang et al. 2009; Kerr and Davidson 2010). However, only little information is available about the role of miRNAs in infectious diseases and the miRNA signature of anti-malaria effector organs has not yet been investigated in response to malaria.

This prompted us to investigate possible effects of blood-stage malaria on the miRNA signature of the liver of female mice. Here, we show that self-healing infections with *P. chabaudi* blood-stage malaria induce changes in the hepatic miRNA, which remain sustained in immune mice, even after homolog re-infections.

Material and methods

Mice

C57BL/6 mice were bred under specified pathogen-free conditions in the animal facilities of the Heinrich-Heine University Düsseldorf. They were housed in plastic cages, and they received a standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) and water ad libitum. The experiments were approved by the state authorities and followed the German law on animal protection.

Malaria infections

Blood-stage infections of *P. chabaudi* (Wunderlich et al. 1982; Krücken et al. 2009) were passaged weekly in NMRI mice. Female C57BL/6 mice were challenged *i. p.* with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Parasitemia was determined in Giemsa-stained tail blood. Erythrocytes were counted in a Neubauer chamber.

Preparation of sera and livers

Mice were anesthetized and blood was taken from the retroorbital plexus. After clotting and centrifugation, supernatants were used as sera and stored at -20° C until use. Immediately after taking blood, mice were killed by cervical dislocation. Livers were aseptically removed, cut up in sterile PBS, and frozen at -80° C until use—if not otherwise stated.

Histopathology

Pieces of livers, freshly prepared, were fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin at room temperature before

embedding in paraffin. Sections were cut and stained with hematoxylin/eosin.

Elisa of IgG isotypes

Sera were assayed for IgG antibodies as described previously (Benten et al. 1997). In brief, maxiSorp F96 microtiter plates (Nunc, Wiesbaden, Germany) were coated first with capture antibody specific for mouse IgG isotypes overnight at 4°C. Then, serially diluted sera were added at 37°C for 1 h before incubation with biotinylated secondary antibodies at 37°C for 45 min. Thereafter, streptavidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase complex (Amersham-Buchler, Braunschweig, Germany) was added at 37°C for 45 min before loading with 0.53 mg/ml 1,2-phenylendiamine (DAKO, Copenhagen, Germany) and 1.6 μ l/ml 30% H₂O₂ in each well. Absorbance was measured at 492 nm.

RNA isolation

Approximately 250 mg frozen liver was homogenized in 5 ml Trizol (Peqlab Biotechnology, Erlangen, Germany), before mixing with 1 ml chloroform and centrifugating at $3,000 \times g$ for 45 min. The supernatant was precipitated with isopropanol and subsequently the pellet was washed twice with 80% ethanol, air-dried, and dissolved in 200 µl RNase-free water. RNA concentrations were determined at 260 nm and quality control was generally determined by agarose gelelectrophoresis.

RNA labeling and hybridization of microarrays

The Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer platform (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany) was used to control the quality of RNA samples, before the RNA was labeled and hybridized according to protocols of the miRXplore[™] manufacturer (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany) (Landgraf et al. 2007; Bissels et al. 2009). The control miRXplore Universal Reference (UR), representing a defined pool of synthetic microRNAs, was labeled with green fluorescent Hy3. The experimental samples were labeled with the red fluorescent Hy5. Subsequent hybridization was done overnight to miRXplore[™]Microarrays using the a-Hyb[™] Hybridization Station (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany). The hybridized miRXplore[™] Microarrays were monitored for fluorescence signals using a laser scanner (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany).

Data analysis

The miRXplore[™] Microarrays were scanned and quantified as detailed previously (Landgraf et al. 2007; Bissels et al. 2009). In brief, the ImaGene software (Biodiscovery, El

Segundo, USA) was used to determine mean signal and mean local background intensities for each spot of the microarray images. Low-quality spots were flagged and excluded from data analysis, and unflagged spots were evaluated using the PIQOR[™] Analyzer software (Miltenyi, Biotec), which allows automated data processing of the raw data text files derived from the ImaGene software. After background subtraction, the net signal intensity was subjected to data normalization and calculation of the Hy5/Hy3 ratios for the species of interest. Only those spots were taken into account for the calculation of the Hy5/Hy3 ratio, which are characterized by a signal that was equal or higher than the 50% percentile of the background signal intensities. The "sample versus universal reference" modus was chosen for absolute quantification and indirect comparisons of multiple experimental samples. Accordingly, the ratio of signals from experimental sample versus UR over the ratio of vehicle control versus UR was calculated and the resulting re-ratio yielded the ratio of experimental sample versus control (Bissels et al. 2009).

Quantification of miRNA

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) were performed with miScript[™] SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) using the ABI Prism® 7500HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany). RNA was treated with DNase (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) at 37°C for at least 1 h prior to conversion into cDNA following the manufacturer's protocol using the miScript[™] Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Primers for miR-1274A, miR-26B, miR-101B, let-7A, miR-694, let-7B, and miR-122 were commercially provided as miScript[™] primer assays by Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). PCRs were as follows: 94°C for 15 min as initial activation step to activate HotStarTaq DNA polymerase followed by 40 cycles at 94°C for 15 s, at 55°C for 35 s, and at 70°C for 30 s. Reaction specificity was analyzed by melting curves, and the Taqman7500 system software v.1.2.3f2 (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen 2001) were applied for relative quantitative evaluation of amplification data. The U6 small nuclear RNA was used as an internal quantification standard.

Quantification of mRNA

RNA samples were first treated with DNase as described above and then converted into cDNA following the manufacturer's protocol using the QuantiTectTM Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The Quanti-TectTM SYBR[®] Green PCR kit (Qiagen) was used for

amplifications according to the manufacturer's instructions using gene-specific QuantiTect[™] primer assay (Qiagen) for 18S rRNA, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis factor alpha, IL-6, interferon gamma (IFN γ), nuclear factor κB (NF- κB), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), cytochrome P450, family 7, subfamily a, polypeptide 1 (CYP7A1), sulfotransferase family 2A, member 2 (SULT2A2), and the pair for the P. chabaudi-specific Pc90 primer was synthesized using the sense (5'-AAT GCT CCT GAA GAA ACT CAA GCC GAA GAA AT-3') and antisense (5'-TTG CAA TCT CGA CAT TTT CAT CAA CCG TAA AG-3') primers. PCRs were conducted as follows: 2 min at 50°C to activate uracil-N-glycosylase (UNG), 95°C for 10 min to deactivate UNG and to activate the PCR, 45 cycles at 94°C for 15 s, at 60°C for 30 s, and at 72°C for 30 s. Reaction specificity was checked by performing dissociation curves after PCR and agarose gelelectrophoresis.

Statistical analysis

Significance was evaluated by two-way ANOVA (p < 0.01) with Dunnett and Bonferoni post hoc tests using the statistical package program SPSS version 17.0.

Results

Female mice of the inbred strain C57BL/6 are able to survive blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* malaria. When mice were challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes, the infections took a self-healing course in more than 80% of the mice (Fig. 1). The pre-crisis phase of infection culminates at a peak parasitemia of approximately 50% on day 8 p.i. The subsequent crisis phase is characterized by a dramatical decline of parasitemia to approximately 1% to 2% on day 13 p.i., before a second smaller peak of approximately 15% followed on day 18 p.i. Thereafter, parasitemia declined to below 0.1% and *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes largely disappeared from the peripheral blood (Wunderlich and Helwig 1987; Jarra and Brown 1989).

Self-healing is associated with acquisition of protective immune mechanisms against *P. chabaudi* malaria. Indeed, homolog re-infections of mice after 8 weeks of primary infections resulted in survival of all mice with a remarkable low peak parasitemia of only approximately 1.5% on day 8 after re-infection (Fig. 1). Such immune mice exhibited a strong increase in circulating total IgG-antibodies, mainly due to increased levels of IgG2a and IgG2b isotypes (Table 1), which is consistent with previous studies (Langhorne et al. 2002; Smith and Taylor-Robinson 2003; Wipasa et al. 2009). Remarkably, *P. chabaudi*-infected



Fig. 1 Primary (**a**) and secondary (**b**) *P. chabaudi* infections in female C57BL/6 mice. Mice were infected with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. All values are given as means \pm SD (*n*=8)

erythrocytes, which had disappeared from peripheral blood, were still apparent in liver sections of immune mice before reinfection on day 56 after primary infection (Fig. 2). In accordance, analysis with quantitative RT-PCR clearly revealed *P. chabaudi*-specific mRNA encoding the parasite protein Pc90 in the liver (Fig. 3). This protein is the major immunogenic parasite protein localized at the host erythrocyte membrane: it is synthesized by trophozoite stages of *P. chabaudi*, it is exported to the host cell cytoplasm, and it finally associates with the inner surface of the plasma membrane of host erythrocytes (Wunderlich et al. 1985; 1987; 1988a, b, c; Lanners et al. 1999). The cDNA sequence of Pc90 has been largely characterized (Schmitt-Wrede et al. 1993; also Hartz et al. 1993; Giraldo et al. 1999).

The liver strongly responded to primary infections. At peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i., there was a dramatic increase in the mRNAs of the cytokines IL-1 β , TNF α , and

Table 1	IgG-isotypes	in	naive	(N_{d0})	and	immune	(I_{d0})) mice
---------	--------------	----	-------	------------	-----	--------	------------	--------

N _{d0}	I _{d0}
1,706.34±107.5	12,757.71±1,048.6
223.165±24.9	195.52±39
9.21±2.7	518.08±122.8
3,497.12±492.5	12,567.31±1,846.5
469.87±87	604.32±77.9
	$\begin{array}{c} N_{d0} \\ \\ 1,706.34 \pm 107.5 \\ 223.165 \pm 24.9 \\ 9.21 \pm 2.7 \\ 3,497.12 \pm 492.5 \\ 469.87 \pm 87 \end{array}$



Fig. 2 Light microscopy of liver sections of non-infected naïve (**a**) and immune female C57BL/6 mice (**b**). Arrows indicate *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes in immune mice after 56 days of primary infection

IFN γ , respectively (Fig. 4). Also, mRNA expression of NF- κ B and iNOS was upregulated, while the mRNA expression of CYP7A1 and SULT2A2 involved in phases I and II liver metabolism were downregulated at peak



Fig. 3 Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of 18S rRNA and Pc90 mRNA. The PCR products of the mouse 18S rRNA (146 bp) and the *P. chabaudi* specific Pc90 mRNA (90 bp) were seperated on a 1% agarose gel. *M* marker; *ntc* non-template control; N_{d0} and I_{d0} indicate non-infected naïve and immune mice, N_{d8} and I_{d8} after infection and homolog re-infection on day 8 p.i., respectively

parasitemia (Fig. 5). Surprisingly, immune mice exhibited about the same level of TNF α - and iNOS-mRNA in comparison with naïve mice, whereas the mRNA expression of IL-1 β , IFN γ , IL-6, NF- κ B, CYP7A1, and SULT2A2 were even significantly downregulated. Also, it is remarkable that none of these examined mRNAs in immune mice did significantly respond to homolog re-infections, in contrast to primary infections in naïve mice (Figs. 4, 5).

The miRNA signature of the liver was investigated using the miRXplore microarray technology. Pieces of frozen liver were taken from three naïve and immune mice of the same age of 19 weeks as well as three naïve and immune mice after infection with 10⁶ P. chabaudi-infected erythrocytes on day 8 p.i, respectively. Equal amounts of RNA of the individual mice were pooled from the four groups of mice, and these RNAs were subjected to a screening using miRXplore' microarrays containing 634 mouse miRNAs according to miRBase version 12.0. Hy5/Hy3 false-color images of the scanned microarrays are shown in Fig. S1 (supplemental material), and the signal intensities of those miRNAs, which passed the quality filtering are contained in the double-log scatter plots in Fig. 6 (Material and methods). Calculation of the re-ratios detected 19 miRNAs being at least 2-fold up- or downregulated in mice with primary infections of P. chabaudi at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. (Table 2).

Surprisingly, about the same deregulation of miRNA expression was also detected in immune mice on day 56 after the primary infections and was even sustained upon homolog re-infection on day 8 p.i. In toto, the expression of the three miRNAs miR-26b, MCMV-miR-M23-1-5p, and miR-1274a was upregulated, whereas the expression of 16 miRNAs was downregulated as summarized in Table 2. These downregulated miRNAs comprised miR-101b, let-7a, let-7g, miR-193a-3p, miR-192, miR-142-5p, miR-465d, miR-677, miR-98, miR-694, miR-374*, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, miR-377, miR-20a*, and miR-466d-3p. Table 2 also contain the annotated functions of these deregulated miRNAs, as far as known. The P. chabaudi-induced deregulation of the miRNAs was also verified for six arbitrarily selected miRNAs by quantitative RT-PCR in six individual livers obtained from each of the four groups of mice, respectively, which essentially confirmed the microarray data (Fig. 7).

Discussion

This is the first study that reports malaria-induced changes in the miRNA-signature of an anti-malaria effector site. Indeed, the female mouse liver responds to self-healing infections with blood stages of *P. chabaudi* with an altered expression of 19 different miRNA species. Surprisingly, these changes remain sustained in those mice which have acquired immunity, even after homolog re-infection. Fig. 4 Quantitative RT-PCR of hepatic cytokines in naïve (N_{d0}) and immune mice (I_{d0}) as well as after infection with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. (N_{d8}, I_{d8}). Values represent means \pm SD (*n*=6). *Asterisks* indicate significant differences (*p*<0.01) with respect to N_{d0}



Actually, primary infections of *P. chabaudi* at peak parasitemia have induced a 2- to 3-fold upregulation of the three miRNA species miRNAs miR-26b, MCMV-miR-M23-1–5p, and miR-1274a, and a 1.5–15-fold downregulation of the 16 miRNA species miR-101b, let-7a, let-7 g, miR-193a-3p, miR-192, miR-142-5p, miR-465d, miR-677, miR-98, miR-694, miR-374^{*}, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, miR-377, miR-20a^{*}, and miR-466d-3p. The upregulated miRNA miR-1274a is relatively abundant in the liver, but its functions are completely unknown to date, just as those of the seven downregulated miRNAs miR-465d, miR-677, miR-694, miR-374^{*}, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, and miR-466d-3p. The other 11 miRNAs appear to be involved in processes normally associated with apoptosis and cancer (Table 2). According to our databank researches, however, the functions of none of these 11 miRNA species are known in context with malaria at all.

The liver is known as a lymphoid organ and is able to generate intrahepatic innate and adaptive immune responses (Häussinger et al. 2004; Crispe 2009). Here, the liver has been found to respond to primary infections at peak parasitemia with dramatic increases in mRNA expression



Fig. 5 Quantitative RT-PCR of mRNAs of NF-κB, iNOS, CYP7A1, and SULT2A2 in naïve and immune and upon infection with *P. chabaudi* malaria on day 8 p.i. Further eyplanations, see legend to Fig. 4

Fig. 6 Double-log scatter plots of non-infected naïve (N_{d0}) and immune (I_{d0}) female C57BL/6 mice as well as naïve (N_{d8}) and immune (I_{d8}) mice upon infections with *P. chabaudi* on day 8 p.i. The signal intensities of each miRNA that passed the quality filtering are represented by a *dot. X*-axis: Hy3 signal intensity (experimental sample), *y*-axis: Hy5 signal intensity (universal reference)



of the cytokines IL-1 β , TNF α , and IFN γ as well as in NF-KB and iNOS mRNA expression. These factors are basically involved in the regulation of immune responses and host defense against infections in general and against blood-stage malaria in particular (McCall and Sauerwein 2010). Conspicuously, however, primary infections of P. chabaudi do not induce any changes in the expression of those miRNA species which have been reported to be associated with diverse aspects ascribed to innate immune responses, though corresponding hybridization signals can be observed on our microarrays (Fig. S1). For instance, the P. chabaudi infections do not affect those miRNA species, which have been described to be involved in TLR-induced signaling such as miR-21, miR-25, miR-27b, miR-100, miR-140, miR-142-3p, miR-181c, miR-187, miR-194, miR-214, miR-223, and miR-224 (Moschos et al. 2007; Sonkoly et al. 2008); in proliferation and activation of neutrophils, as e. g., miR-223 (Johnnidis et al. 2008); and in regulation of the inflammatory response of macrophages, as e.g. miR-132, miR-146, and miR-155 (Taganov et al. 2007). Moreover, it is known that IL-1 β and TNF α downregulate liver metabolism (Kim et al. 2004; Krücken et al. 2005). In accordance, our data show that primary blood-stage infections with P. chabaudi have induced a downregulation of the mRNA expression of CYP7A1 and SULT2A2, which are typical enzymes of phases I and II liver metabolism, respectively. Again, however, it is conspicuous that *P. chabaudi* malaria does not change those miRNA species which are known to be associated with liver metabolism, as e.g. miR-21, being majorly involved in hepatocyte proliferation (Marquez et al. 2010).

The changes of the hepatic miRNA signature induced by P. chabaudi malaria are rather robust: they persist even after parasitemias of primary infections have largely resolved. This resolution coincides with acquisition of stable protective immune mechanisms. This becomes evident in secondary infections with P. chabaudi. Homolog re-infections result only at very low peak parasitemia of approximately 1.5% on day 8 p.i., in contrast to approximately 50% in primary infections. Protective immunity is known to be mediated by antibodies, in particular by IgG2a and IgG2b isotypes, which are dramatically increased in immune mice, in accordance with previous studies (Su and Stevenson 2000; Langhorne et al. 2002; Smith and Taylor-Robinson 2003; Wipasa et al. 2009). Once again, however, it is conspicuous that we have not detected any changes of those miRNA species which are currently known to be critically involved in adaptive immune responses such as antibody formation, development and maturation of B cells, and formation of memory B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, and CD8⁺ T

 Table 2 P.chabaudi reprogrammed miRNA expression in the female mouse liver as revealed by miRXplore microarrays

miRNA name	GeneID	Gene accession	Nd0	Nd8	Id0	Id8	miRNA functions described to date	PMID
miR-1274A	40350	MI0009969	28.85	83.38	72.19	52.66	unknown	
MCMV-miR-M23-1-5P	40249	MI0006252	7.69	16.62	13.20	12.21	mouse cytomegalovirus-regulated miRNA	
miR-26B	35892	MI0000575	1.30	2.60	2.44	2.63	the miR-26 status of patients is with hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with survival and response to adjuvant therapy with interferone alpha	19812400
miR-142-5P	39219	MI0000167	0.15	0.11	0.06	0.05	repressed in murine and human lung cancers	19228723, 19618089
miR-192	35876	MI0000551	1.15	0.56	0.64	0.64	p53-responsive miR-192 is capable of inducing cell cycle arrest, regulates dihydrofolate reductase and cellular proliferation through the p53-miRNA circuit, potential biomarker for drug-induced liver injury	19074875, 19088023, 19246379
miR-193A-3P	39256	MI0000235	0.67	0.32	0.49	0.47	downregulation of expression through tumor-specific hypermethylation	18381414
let-7G	39156	MI0000137	0.35	0.17	0.19	0.18	decreased expression in heptocelluler carcinoma cell lines	19912688
let-7A	38314	MI0000061	0.92	0.37	0.42	0.44	suppresses therapeutics-induced cancer cell death by targeting caspase-3, functions as a potential tumor suppressor in human larvngeal cancer	18758960, 19787230
miR-466D-3P	40131	MI0005546	0.46	0.10	0.14	0.22	unknown	
miR-101B	38961	MI0000648	3.30	0.92	1.02	1.35	decreased in Hmga1-knockout mouse embryonic fibroblasts	19169275
miR-20A*	39973	MI0000568	0.26	0.05	0.06	0.11	upregulated in colonic cancer tissues	20132431
miR-377	35914	MI0000794	0.13	0.02	0.02	0.04	overexpression of miR-377 in diabetic nephropathy indirectly leads to increased fibronectin protein production	18716028
miR-374*	39863	MI0004125	0.42	0.05	0.04	0.09	unknown	
miR-694	38884	MI0004664	0.37	0.04	0.04	0.08	unknown	
miR-450B-5P	38803	MI0004705	0.60	0.06	0.05	0.12	unknown	
miR-465D	38812		0.58	0.06	0.06	0.12	unknown	
miR-677	38867	MI0004634	0.51	0.05	0.04	0.09	unknown	
miR-98	38497	MI0000586	0.49	0.05	0.05	0.09	regulates expression of tumor suppressor gene FUS1, estradiol induces expression of miR-98	19671678, 19528081
miR-464	38808	MI0002399	0.53	0.04	0.04	0.09	unknown	

cells, though their hybridization signals are available on the microarrays. For instance, miR-155 regulates the generation of Ig-class-switched plasma cells and targets the transcription factor Pu.1, which is important for the production of antibodies (Vigorito et al. 2007). Also, miR-155 mutant mice display defective B- and T-cell immunity and abnormal function of antigen-presenting cells (Rodriguez et al. 2007; Thai et al. 2007). The miRNA species miR-16,

miR-21, miR-142-3p, miR-150, miR-15b, and let-7f have been found to control T-cell differentiation and activation (Neilson et al. 2007; Bi et al. 2009). The undetectability of any changes in these hepatic miRNA species that are normally associated with adaptive immune responses is the more astonishing since the liver contains both intra-hepatic B and T cells and also migratory B and T cells, in particular during *P. chabaudi* infections (Krücken et al. 2005). A Fig. 7 Expression of selected miRNA species evaluated by miRXplore microarrays. The fold change of miRNA expression of miR-1274A, miR-26B, miR-101B, let-7A, miR-694, and let-7G was determined by qRT-PCR for naïve mice on days 0 (Nd0) and 8 p.i. (Nd8) and for immune mice on days 0 (Id0) and 8 p.i. (Id8). Values represent means±SD from six different mice. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences (p<0.01)



plausible explanation is, therefore, that there occur changes in expression of miRNAs of B and T cells, but these changes cannot be detected due to masking effects since our microarray analysis has been conducted with livers in toto. On the other hand, this observation is not valid for all miRNAs. Indeed, we observe a slight downregulation of miR-142-5p in immune mice, and this miRNA species is known to be downregulated during T-cell activation and differentiation, especially during differentiation from double-negative to double-positive T cells (Sonkoly et al. 2008).

The mechanisms, whereby *P. chabaudi* infections induce changes in the hepatic miRNA signature, are completely unknown to date. However, the persistence of these changes in immune mice and upon re-infections suggests that these changes in the liver induced by the malarial infections are rather robust. The most straight forward explanation is that epigenetic mechanisms are involved, which may reprogram hepatic miRNA expression. Consistent with this view is our finding that the miRNA-species miR-193a-3p and miR-101b are persistently downregulated by primary infections. Indeed, the expression of miR-

193a-3p is known to be downregulated through tumorspecific hypermethylation (Kozaki et al. 2008) and miR-101b to be decreased in high mobility group a 1 (hmga1)-knockout mice (De Martino et al. 2009). Moreover, very recent information even indicates that there exist an intricate network between the epigenetic machinery and miRNAs (Iorio et al. 2010). The expression of miRNA genes cannot be only epigenetically regulated but also miRNAs per se can induce epigenetic changes in expression of other genes. Future work is required to unravel these reprogramming mechanisms and their relevance for the strongly decreased pathogenecity of malarial infections in mice which have acquired immunity to malaria. At least, our data suggest that miRNAs in the liver, during its differentiation to an effector site against malarial blood stages, are new players in acquiring protective immunity against P. chabaudi malaria.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft through GRK 1427 and the Centere of Excellence for Biodiversity Research, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

References

- Bala S, Marcos M, Szabo G (2009) Emerging role of microRNAs in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 15:5633–5640
- Balmer P, Alexander J, Phillips RS (2000) Protective immunity to erythrocytic *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection involves IFNgamma-mediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. Parasitol 121:473–482
- Baltimore D, Boldin MP, O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Taganov KD (2008) MicroRNAs: new regulators of immune cell development and function. Nat Immunol 9:839–845
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116:281–297
- Benten WP, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW, Wunderlich F (1997) Testosterone-induced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. J Endocrinol 153:275–281
- Bi Y, Liu G, Yang R (2009) MicroRNAs: novel regulators during the immune response. J Cell Physiol 218:467–472
- Biggs BA, Gooze L, Wycherley K, Wollish W, Southwell B, Leech JH, Brown GV (1991) Antigenic variation in *Plasmodium falciparum*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:9171–9174
- Bissels U, Wild S, Tomiuk S, Holste A, Hafner M, Tuschl T, Bosio A (2009) Absolute quantification of microRNAs by using a universal reference. RNA 12:2375–2384
- Chen X (2009) MicroRNA signatures in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 15:1665–1672
- Clough B, Atilola FA, Black B, Pasvol G (1998) The role of rosetting in the multiplication of *Plasmodium falciparum*: rosette formation neither enhances nor targets parasite invasion into uninfected red cells. Br J Haematol 100:99–104
- Cohen S, Lambert PH, Cohen S, Warren KS (1982) Immunology of parasitic infections, 2nd edn. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 422–474
- Crispe IN (2009) The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annu Rev Immunol 27:147–163
- Davidson-Moncada J, Papavasiliou FN, Tam W (2010) MicroRNAs of the immune system: roles in inflammation and cancer. Ann NY Acad Sci 1183:183–194
- De Martino I, Visone R, Fedele M, Petrocca F, Palmieri D, Martinez Hoyos J, Forzati F, Croce CM, Fusco A (2009) Regulation of microRNA expression by HMGA1 proteins. Oncogene 28:1432–1442
- Delić D, Warskulat U, Borsch E, Al-Qahtani S, Al-Quraishi S, Häussinger D, Wunderlich F (2010) Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion. Infect Immun 78:1642–1649
- Dockrell HM, De Souza JB, Playfair HL (1980) The role of the liver in immunity to blood-stage murine malaria. Immunol 41:421– 430
- Doolan DL, Dobaño C, Baird JK (2009) Acquired immunity to malaria. Clin Microbiol Rev 22:13–36
- Fu YX, Chaplin DD (1999) Development and maturation of secondary lymphoid tissues. Annu Rev Immunol 17:399–433
- Fütterer A, Mink K, Luz A, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Pfeffer K (1998) The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. Immunity 9:59–70
- Giraldo LE, Jennings GJ, Deleersnijder W, Hamers-Casterman C, Wiser MF (1999) Characterization of a *Plasmodium chabaudi* gene encoding a protein with glutamate-rich tandem repeats. Parasitol Res 85:41–46
- Gomase VS, Tagore S (2008) Blood stage parasites: sufficient to induce protective immunity. Curr Drug Metab 9:238–240
- Goodman AL, Draper SJ (2010) Blood-stage malaria vaccines recent progress and future challenges. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 104:189–211
- Griffiths-Jones S, Saini HK, van Dongen S, Enright AJ (2008) miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. Nucleic Acids Res 36: D154–D158

- Hartz D, Ayane M, Chluba-De Tapia J, Wirbelauer C, Langhorne J, Gillard-Blass S (1993) Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA fragment from *Plasmodium chabaudi* that contains repetitive sequences coding for a potentially lysine-rich aspartic acid-rich protein. Parasitol Res 79:133–139
- Häussinger D, Kubitz R, Reinehr R, Bode JG, Schliess F (2004) Molecular aspects of medicine: from experimental to clinical hepatology. Mol Aspects Med 25:221–360
- Iorio MV, Piovan C, Croce CM (2010) Interplay between microRNAs and the epigenetic machinery: An intricate network. Biochim Biophys Acta. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.05.005
- Jarra W, Brown KN (1989) Protective immunity to malaria: studies with cloned lines of rodent malaria in CBA/Ca mice. IV. The specificity of mechanisms resulting in crisis and resolution of the primary acute phase parasitaemia of *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* and *P. yoelii yoelii*. Parasite Immunol 11:1–13
- Johnnidis JB, Harris MH, Wheeler RT, Stehling-Sun S, Lam MH, Kirak O, Brummelkamp TR, Fleming MD, Camargo RD (2008) Regulation of progenitor cell proliferation and granulocyte function by microRNA-223. Nature 451:1125–1129
- Kerr TA, Davidson NO (2010) Therapeutic RNA manipulation in liver disease. Hepatology 51:1055–1061
- Kim MS, Shigenaga J, Moser A, Grunfeld C, Feingold KR (2004) Suppression of DHEA sulfotransferase (Sult2A1) during the acute-phase response. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 287: E731–E738
- Kozaki K, Imoto I, Mogi S, Omura K, Inazawa J (2008) Exploration of tumor-suppressive microRNAs silenced by DNA hypermethylation in oral cancer. Cancer Res 68:2094–2105
- Krücken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RM, El-Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, Mossmann H, Wunderlich F (2005) Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. Infect Immun 73:436–443
- Krücken J, Delić D, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, Mossmann H, Wunderlich F (2009) Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. Malar J 8:54
- Landgraf P, Rusu M, Sheridan R, Sewer A, Iovino N, Aravin A, Pfeffer S, Rice A, Kamphorst AO, Landthaler M, Lin C, Socci ND, Hermida L, Fulci V, Chiaretti S, Foà R, Schliwka J, Fuchs U, Novosel A, Müller RU, Schermer B, BisselsU IJ, Phan Q, Chien M, Weir DB, Choksi R, De Vita G, Frezzetti D, Trompeter HI, Hornung V, Teng G, Hartmann G, Palkovits M, Di Lauro R, Wernet P, Macino G, Rogler CE, Nagle JW, Ju J, Papavasiliou FN, Benzing T, Lichter P, Tam W, Brownstein MJ, Bosio A, Borkhardt A, Russo JJ, Sander C, Zavolan M, Tuschl T (2007) A mammalian microRNA expression atlas based on small RNA library sequencing. Cell 7:1401–1414
- Langhorne J, Quin SJ, Sanni LA (2002) Mouse models of blood-stage malaria infections: immune responses and cytokines involved in protection and pathology. Chem Immunol 80:204–228
- Lanners HN, Bafford RA, Wiser MF (1999) Characterization of the parasitophorous vacuole membrane from *Plasmodium chabaudi* and implications about its role in the export of parasite proteins. Parasitol Res 85:349–355
- Li QJ, Chau J, Ebert PJ, Sylvester G, Min H, Liu G, Braich R, Manoharan M, Soutschek J, Skare P, Klein LO, Davis MM, Chen CZ (2007) miR-181a is an intrinsic modulator of T cell sensitivity and selection. Cell 129:147–161
- Lindsay MA (2008) microRNAs and the immune response. Trends Immunol 29:343–351
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C (T)) Method. Methods 4:402–408
- Lu L, Liston A (2009) MicroRNA in the immune system, microRNA as an immune system. Immunology 3:291–298

- Mackinnon MJ, Read AF (2003) Virulence in malaria: an evolutionary viewpoint. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 359:965–986
- Mannoor MK, Weerasinghe A, Halder RC, Reza S, Morshed M, Ariyasinghe A, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H, Abo T (2001) Resistance to malarial infection is achieved by the cooperation of NK1.1(+) and NK1.1(-) subsets of intermediate TCR cells which are constituents of innate immunity. Cell Immunol 211:96–104
- Mannoor MK, Halder RC, Morshed SR, Ariyasinghe A, Bakir HY, Kawamura H, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H, Abo T (2002) Essential role of extrathymic T cells in protection against malaria. J Immunol 169:301–306
- Marquez RT, Wendlandt E, Galle CS, Keck K, McCaffrey AP (2010) MicroRNA-21 is upregulated during the proliferative phase of liver regeneration, targets Pellino-1, and inhibits NF-kappaB signaling. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 298:G535–G541
- McCall M B, Sauerwein RW (2010) Interferon-{gamma}-central mediator of protective immune responses against the preerythrocytic and blood stage of malaria. J Leukoc Biol. doi:10.1189/jlb.0310137
- Mehlhorn H (2008) Encyclopedia of parasitology. Springer, Berlin
- Miller LH, Baruch DI, Marsh K, Doumbo OK (2002) The pathogenic basis of malaria. Nature 415:673–679
- Moschos SA, Williams AE, Perry MM, Birrell MA, Belvisi MG, Lindsay MA (2007) Expression profiling in vivo demonstrates rapid changes in lung microRNA levels following lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation but not in the anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoids. BMC Genomics 8:240
- Mota MM, Brown KN, Holder AA, Jarra W (1998) Acute *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* malaria infection induces antibodies which bind to the surfaces of parasitized erythrocytes and promote their phagocytosis by macrophages in vitro. Infect Immun 66:4080–4086
- Neilson JR, Zheng GX, Burge CB, Sharp PA (2007) Dynamic regulation of miRNA expression in ordered stages of cellular development. Genes Dev 21:578–589
- O'Connell RM, Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Cheng G, Baltimore D (2007) MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:1604–1609
- Pain A, Ferguson DJP, Kai O, Urban BC, Lowe BS, Marsh K, Roberts DJ (2001) Platelet-mediated clumping of *Plasmodium falciparum*infected erythrocytes is a common adhesive phenotype and is associated with severe malaria. Proc Natl Acad Sci 98:1805–1810
- Pasvol G, Weatherall DJ, Wilson RJM (1980) The increased susceptibility of young red cells to invasion by the malarial parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. Br J Haematol 45:285–295
- Pawlicki JM, Steitz JA (2010) Nuclear networking fashions premessenger RNA and primary microRNA transcripts for function. Trends Cell Biol 20(1):52–61
- Pierce SK, Miller LH (2009) World Malaria Day 2009: what malaria knows about the immune system that immunologists still do not. J Immunol 182:5171–5177
- Roberts DJ, Craig AG, Berendt AR, Pinches R, Nash G, Marsh K, Newbold CI (1992) Rapid switching to multiple antigenic and adhesive phenotypes in malaria. Nature 357:689–692
- Roberts DJ, Pain A, Kai O, Kortok M, Marsh K (2000) Autoagglutination of malaria-infected red blood cells and malaria severity. Lancet 355:1427–1428
- Rodriguez A, Vigorito E, Clare S, Warren MV, Couttet P, Soond DR, van Dongen S, Grocock RJ, Das PP, Miska EA, Vetrie D, Okkenhaug K, Enright AJ, Dougan G, Turner M, Bradley A (2007) Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function. Science 316:608–611

Ruvkun G (2008) The perfect storm of tiny RNAs. Nat Med 10:1041-1045

Schmitt-Wrede HP, Qiao ZD, Wunderlich F (1993) A cDNA putatively encoding the Pc90 erythrocyte membrane antigen of *Plasmodium chabaudi*. Parasitol Res 79:80–81

- Smith EC, Taylor-Robinson AW (2003) Parasite-specific immunoglobulin isotypes during lethal and non-lethal malaria infections. Parasitol Res 89:26–33
- Snounou G, Jarra W, Viriyakosl S, Wood JC, Brown KN (1989) Use of a DNA probe to analyse the dynamics of infection with rodent malaria parasites confirms that parasite clearance during crisis is predominantly strain- and species-specific. Mol Biochem Parasitol 37:37–46
- Sonkoly E, Ståhle M, Pivarcsi A (2008) MicroRNAs and immunity: novel players in the regulation of normal immune function and inflammation. Semin Cancer Biol 18:131–140
- Su Z, Stevenson MM (2000) Central role of endogenous gamma interferon in protective immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection. Infect Immun 68:4399–4406
- Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Baltimore D (2007) MicroRNAs and immunity: tiny players in a big field. Immunity 26:133–137
- Taverne J, Rahman D, Dockrell HM, Alavi A, Leveton C, Playfair JHL (1987) Activation of liver macrophages in murine malaria is enhanced by vaccination. Clin Exp Immunol 70:508–514
- Thai TH, Calado DP, Casola S, Ansel KM, Xiao C, Xue Y, Murphy A, Frendewey D, Valenzuela D, Kutok JL, Schmidt-Supprian M, Rajewsky N, Yancopoulos G, Rao A, Rajewsky K (2007) Regulation of the germinal center response by microRNA-155. Science 316:604–608
- Vigorito E, Perks KL, Abreu-Goodger C, Bunting S, Xiang Z, Kohlhaas S, Das PP, Miska EA, Rodriguez A, Bradley A, Smith KG, Rada C, Enright AJ, Toellner KM, Maclennan IC, Turner M (2007) microRNA-155 regulates the generation of immunoglobulin class-switched plasma cells. Immunity 27:847–859
- Wang K, Zhang S, Marzolf B, Troisch P, Brightman A, Hu Z, Hood LE, Galas DJ (2009) Circulating microRNAs, potential biomarkers for drug-induced liver injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 11:4402–4407
- Wipasa J, Hemsokana P, Ruankham T, Hongsibsong S (2009) Investigation of memory responses following *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection in mice distinct in susceptibility to clinical malaria. Parasitol Res 106:283–287
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M (1987) *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: red blood cells with altered membrane proteins in immune mice. Eur J Cell Biol 43:499–500
- Wunderlich F, Stübig H, Königk E (1982) Development of *Plasmodium chabaudi* in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. J Protozool 29:60–66
- Wunderlich F, Schillinger G, Helwig M (1985) Fractionation of *Plasmodium chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes into parasites and ghosts. Z Parasitenkd 71:545–551
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Vial H, Philippot J, Speth V (1987) Isolation and characterization of parasites and host cell ghosts from erythrocytes infected with *Plasmodium chabaudi*. Mol Biochem Parasitol 23:103–115
- Wunderlich F, Brenner HH, Helwig M (1988a) Plasmodium chabaudi malaria: protective immunization with surface membranes of infected erythrocytes. Infect Immun 56:3326–3328
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Speth V (1988b) Cryptic disposition of antigenic parasite proteins in plasma membranes of erythrocytes infected with *Plasmodium chabaudi*. Mol Biochem Parasitol 30:55–65
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Speth V, Wiser MF (1988c) Expression of the parasite protein Pc90 in plasma membranes of erythrocytes infected with *Plasmodium chabaudi*. Eur J Cell Biol 47:157–164
- Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El-Khadragy M, Borsch E, Hermsen D, Benten WPM, Pfeffer K, Mossmann H, Krücken J (2005) Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin beta receptor-deficient mice resistant to blood-stage malaria. Microbes Infect 3:399–409

2.5 Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in female mice having acquired testosterone-unresponsive immunity to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria

Background: Protective immunity against *P. chabaudi* malaria, when once established, has become unresponsive to T. Those mice, which acquire protective immunity, concomitantly acquire T-unresponsiveness. However, it is completely unknown to date as to whether this acquired T-unresponsiveness of immunity encompasses the lymphoid anti-malaria effector site liver.

Methods: Naïve and immune female C57BL/6 mice, which have acquired immunity to *P*. *chabaudi* malaria, were treated with T for 3 weeks. Then, immune mice were challenged with 10^6 *P.chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes for one day. T-induced effects on the hepatic gene expression were examined in immune and naïve mice using Affymetrix microarrays and qRT-PCR analysis. These methods are also used to identify *P. chabaudi*-induced effects on hepatic gene expression in T-treated and vehicle-treated immune mice.

Results: A significantly decreased number of genes, i. e. 39 genes vs. 156 genes, were identified, whose mRNA expression is T-responsive in immune vs. naïve mice. In both groups of mice, T treatment resulted in a strong masculinized hepatic gene expression characterized by an upregulation of male-specific genes *Cyp2d9*, *Cyp7b1*, *Ugt2b1*, *Hsd3b2* and *Hsd3b5*, and a downregulation of female-specific genes *Cyp2b9*, *Cyp2b13*, *Cyp3a41*, *Cyp3a44*, *Cyp7a1*, *Fmo3*, and *Sult2a2*. HSD3B5, encoding an important T-metabolizing enzyme, is 5-fold higher expressed in immune mice than in naïve mice. Moreover, Stom, which is involved in erythropiesis, and Ehmt2, which is responsible for the T_H1/T_H2 -balance, were T-downregulated in naïve mice, but T-unresponsive in immune mice. T-unresponsive genes encompass those which encode diverse regions of heavy and light chains of IgG-antibodies, infection-inducible acute phase proteins SAA1, SAA2, and ORM2, and cytokines IL-1β, IL-6, TNFα, and IFNγ as well as iNOS, which are even not inducible by infection in immune vs. naïve mice.

Conclusion: This study shows that the occurrence of adaptive persistent changes in the liver of female mice resulting in an attenuated T-unresponsiveness of gene expression, possibly due to diminished effective T, upon acquiring T-unresponsive, IgG-antibody mediated protective immunity to blood-stage malaria of *P. chabaudi*.

Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in female mice having acquired testosterone-unresponsive immunity to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria

Denis Delić¹, Heidrun Ellinger-Ziegelbauer², Hans-Werner Vohr², Mohamed Dkhil^{3,4}, Saleh Al-Quraishy³ and Frank Wunderlich^{1,3,*}

¹Division of Molecular Parasitology and Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Universitaetsstr. 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany
²Bayer Healthcare AG, Department of Molecular and Genetic Toxicology, 42096 Wuppertal, Germany
³Zoology Department, College of Science, King Saud University, 11451 Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
⁴Department of Zoology, Faculty of Science, Beni-Suef University, Egypt
* for correspondence:
Prof. Dr. Frank Wunderlich
Division of Molecular Parasitology, Heinrich-Heine-University
Universitaetsstr. 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany
Phone: (+49)-178-3524210; Fax: (+49)-211-81-13
E-mail: frank.wunderlich@uni-duesseldorf.de

Running title: Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone in malaria-immune mice Keywords: testosterone, gene expression, liver, immunity, malaria

Abstract

Acquisition of protective immunity against *P. chabaudi* malaria coincides with an acquired unresponsiveness to testosterone (T). Here, we have investigated as to whether a T-unresponsiveness becomes also evident in the liver as an important T-target and anti-malaria effector site. Using Affymetrix microarray technology, in combination with quantitative RT-PCR, we have identified a significantly decreased number of genes, i. e. 39 genes vs. 156 genes among 14,000 genes, whose hepatic mRNA expression is T-responsive in immune vs. naïve mice. Among the T-responsive genes, there are those encoding the T-downregulated female-prevalent enzymes CYP2B9, CYP2B13, CYP3A41, CYP3A44, CYP7A1, FMO3 and SULT2A2, and the T-upregulated male-prevalent enzymes CYP2D9, CYP7B1, UGT2B1, HSD3B2 and HSD3B5. Remarkably, the T-metabolizing enzyme exhibits even a 5-fold T-induced increase in its mRNA expression in immune mice. The T-unresponsive genes encompass those which encode (i) diverse regions of heavy and light chains of IgG-

antibodies, (ii) the T_H2 -response promoting EHMT2, (iii) the erythrocyte membrane protein band 7.2 STOM , and (iv) the infection-inducible acute phase proteins SAA1, SAA2, and ORM2. The cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and IFN γ , as well as iNOS, are even not inducible by infection in immune vs. naïve mice. Collectively, our data indicate the occurrence of adaptive persistent changes in the liver of female mice resulting in an attenuated Tunresponsiveness of gene expression, possibly due to diminished effective T, upon acquiring T-unresponsive, IgG-antibody mediated protective immunity to blood-stage malaria of *P. chabaudi*.

Introduction

Testosterone (T) is known to promote a wide variety of diseases incl. different forms of cancer such as prostate cancer (Wirén & Stattin, 2008, Rhoden & Averbeck 2009, Wu et al. 2010) and hepatocarcinoma (Drinkwater et al. 1990, Kemp & Drinkwater 1990, Nagasue & Kohno 1992). T also contributes to the higher preponderance of infectious diseases in males than in females (Müller 1992, Klein 2000, Roberts et al. 2001, Verthelyi 2001, Marriott & Huet-Hudson, 2006), including the four different human pathogenic malaria species P. falciparum, P. ovale, P. malariae, and P. vivax (Müller 1992, Kurtis et al. 2001, Muehlenbein et al. 2005). An extreme sex-dependence due to testosterone has been also described for the experimental malaria Plasmodium chabaudi (Wunderlich et al. 1988, 1991, Mossmann et al. 1997). Indeed, male mice succumb to blood-stage infections, whereas the same infections take a self-healing course after lowering the circulating T-levels after castration, as it is also typical for female mice. Conversely, T-treatment of females and castrated males results in a lethal outcome (Wunderlich et al. 1988, 1991). Obviously, T suppresses the development of protective immunity against malarial blood-stages. This immunosuppressive T-effect is not transient, but rather persistent, i. e. it is sustained even after withdrawal of T for 12 weeks (Benten et al. 1997).

The liver plays a central role both in malaria and as a target for testosterone. Indeed, the liver as an important lymphoid organ (Häussinger *et al.* 2004, Crispe 2009) is not only that site in which the pre-erythrocytic development of the blood-stages of malaria takes place (Mehlhorn 2001), but also the liver apparently differentiates to an effector site against the malarial blood stages (Krücken *et al.* 2005, Delić *et al.* 2010). The importance of the liver as a prominent anti-malaria effector site has been recently also demonstrated in lymphotoxin β

receptor-deficient mice (Wunderlich *et al.* 2005). These mice are devoid of secondary lymphoid tissues and their spleen is defect (Fütterer *et al.* 1998, Fu & Chaplin 1999), but they are rather resistant to malaria, i. e. they are able to self-heal blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* (Wunderlich *et al.* 2005). The liver is also known to generate extrathymic T cells conferring protective immunity to blood stage malaria (Balmer *et al.* 2000, Mannoor *et al.* 2001, 2002). Moreover, the Kupffer cells, which contribute 80-90% of all macrophages, are able to eliminate *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes (Dockrell *et al.* 1980, Taverne *et al.*, 1987, Delić *et al.* 2010). Even the metabolism of the liver apparently contributes to its antimalaria effector function, since it is required for detoxification of endogenous substances originated during malaria infections (Delić *et al.* 2010). Moreover, the liver is characterized by a sexual dimorphism, especially by a sex- and testosterone-dependent pattern of phase I-and phase II metabolism (Kato & Onada 1970, Waxman and Holloway 2009). It is therefore not astonishing that T apparently impairs the differentiation of the liver to an anti-malaria effector during a malaria infection (Krücken *et al.* 2005).

There is information available that T suppresses only the development of protective immunity against *P. chabaudi* malaria. When once acquired, however, protective immunity has become unresponsive to T (Wunderlich *et al.* 1992). Obviously, mice which have acquired protective immunity, have concomitantly acquired a T-unresponsiveness. However, it is completely unknown to date as to whether this acquired T-unresponsiveness of immunity also encompasses the liver. This prompted us to investigate the effect of T on the liver transcriptome in immune mice, i. e. those mice which have already acquired T-unresponsive protective immunity to *P. chabaudi*.

Materials and methods

Mice

Mice of the inbred strain C57BL/6 were bred under specified pathogen-free conditions at the central animal facilities of our university. They were housed in plastic cages and received a standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) and water *ad libitum*. The experiments were performed exclusively with female mice and were approved by the State authorities.

Testosterone treatment

Naïve mice aged 16-18 weeks and immune mice received subcutaneous injections of 100 μ l sesame oil containing 0.9 mg T (Testosterone-Depot-50, Schering, Berlin, Germany) twice a week for 3 weeks (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988, Delić *et al.* 2010). Controls were treated only with the vehicle.

Infections

P. chabaudi was passaged weekly in NMRI mice (Wunderlich *et al.* 1982, Krücken *et al.* 2009). Female C57BL/6 mice were challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Parasitemia was determined in Giemsa-stained blood from the tail, and cell number was measured in a Neubauer chamber.

Mice immune to P. chabaudi

Approximately 10-12 weeks old C57BL/6 mice were challenged with *P. chabaudi*. Those mice which survived these infections for at least 6 weeks were taken as immune mice for T-treatment.

RNA-Isolation

Mice were killed by cervical dislocation, livers aseptically removed, and liver pieces rapidly frozen in nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until use. RNA was isolated as described recently (Delić *et al.* 2010) using approximately 250 mg frozen liver homogenized in 5 ml Trizol (Peqlab biotechnology, Erlangen, Germany). RNA concentrations were determined at 260 nm and RNA-quality was examined by agarose gel electrophoresis.

Hybridization of microarrays

Quality of RNA was re-controlled with a Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) on a RNA 6000 Nano chip. The One cycle kit (Affymetrix, Inc. Santa Clara, USA) was then used to synthesize biotin-labeled cRNA from 5µg total RNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Approximately 15µg biotin-labeled cRNA was then hybridized to Affymetrix MOE430A Gene Chips[®] for 16 h at 45 °C, before staining and washing on an Affymetrix Fluidics Station 400. The fluorescence of the hybridized cRNA was read with an Affymetrix 300 Scanner. The chips were quality-controlled with the software "Expressionist Refiner" (GeneDataAG, Basel, Switzerland) which corrected gradients, spots and distortions. Each probe set is represented by 11 pairs of 25mer perfect match and mismatch oligonucleotides. The intensities of all 11 probe pairs per probe were

condensed to one intensity value using the MAS 5.0 statistical algorithms implemented in the Expressionist software. For reasons of comparability, the microarrays were scaled after condensing to an average signal intensity of 100.

Data analysis

The software 'Expression Analyst' (GeneDataAG, Basel, Switzerland) was applied for gene expression analysis. Overall expression between individual mice was compared by principal component analysis using Genesis 1. 7. 2. (Sturn, 2002). Only those probe sets were evaluated which revealed an expression intensity > 20 in each sample and were more than 2-fold deregulated. These probe sets were then subjected to two-way ANOVA (p < 0.01). Genes were analyzed using the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Database (DAVID) (Dennis *et al.* 2003) and categorized according to their major biological pathways involved. Gene Cluster 3.0 (Eisen *et al.* 1998, de Hoon *et al.* 2004) was used for principal component analysis. Data were log_2 -transformed and normalized to the mean expression value for control mice. Hierachical clustering was done using uncentered correlation and average linkage mode.

Quantitative real-time PCR

All RNA samples were treated with DNase of the DNA-freeTM Kit (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) for 1 h, before cDNA was synthesized using the QuantiTectTM Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's protocol. The QuantiTectTM SYBR[®] Green PCR kit (Qiagen) was applied for amplifications in the ABI Prism[®] 7500HT Sequence Detection System (AppliedBiosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions using gene-specific QuantiTectTM primer assays (Qiagen) for cytochrome P450, family 7, subfamily a, polypeptide 1 (Cyp7a1), 5'nucleotidase, ecto (5Nte), sulfotransferase family 2A, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA)preferring, member 2 (Sult2a2), 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 5 (Hsd3b5), complement component 6 (C6), interferone gamma (Ifny), interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). PCR reactions were as follows: 2 min at 50 °C to activate uracil-N-glycosylase (UNG), 95 °C for 10 min to deactivate UNG and to activate the PCR reaction, 45 cycles at 94 °C for 15 sec, at 60 °C for 30 sec and at 72 °C for 30 seconds. Reaction specifity was checked by performing dissociation curves after PCR. The Taqman75000 system software v.1.2.3f2 (AppliedBiosystems) was used for relative quantitative evaluation. The mRNA was

normalized to 18S rRNA and its relative expression was determined with the $2^{-\Delta\Delta}$ ct method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

Statistical analysis

Significance was evaluated by two-way ANOVA with Dunnett and Bonferoni post-hoc-tests using the statistical package program SPSS version 17.0.

Results

T-unresponsiveness of acquired immunity

Female mice of the inbred strain C57BL/6 are able to self-heal blood-stage infections with *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. When mice are challenged with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes, approximately 80% of the mice survive the infections (Fig. 1). A fulminant peak parasitemia of approximately 48% occurred on day 8 *p.i.*, which is followed by a smaller peak of approximately 12% on day 16 *p.i.*. Testosterone (T) prevents self-healing and all mice succumb to infection, mainly during the crisis phase between day 8 and day 13 of infection, and peak parasitemia is raised to approximately 70%.

Mice which have self-healed the infections have acquired protective immunity. This becomes evident upon homolog re-infections of those mice, which have survived primary infections, as survival of all mice without any visible symptoms of sickness and as a very low peak parasitemia of approximately 3% on day 8 *p.i.* (Fig. 1). T-pretreatment of immune mice for 3 weeks affects neither survival rate nor causes any significant rise in parasitemia (Fig. 1).

T-responsive genes in liver of immune vs. naïve mice

In order to identify possible effects of T on hepatic gene expression in immune mice, we have used Affymetrix microarray analyses for comparing immune mice vs. naïve mice. Both naïve and immune mice were treated with T or vehicle for three weeks, before individual livers were subjected to Affymetrix microarray analysis.

The principal component analysis in Fig. 2 reveals that the overall expression profiles were relatively similar among the three different biological replicates in the four different mouse groups, but differ between the four groups, i. e. (i) control naïve mice (C), (ii) naïve mice

treated with T (T), (iii) control immune mice (C_{imm}), and immune mice treated with T (T_{imm}), respectively.

The Venn-Diagram in Fig. 3 summarizes the numbers of T-upregulated and Tdownregulated genes in immune vs. naïve mice identified by Affymetrix microarrays. *In toto*, the expression of 156 genes was affected by T in naïve mice with 51 T-upregulated and 105 T-downregulated genes (horizontal ellipses in Fig. 3). By contrast, significantly less genes respond to T in immune mice: the expression of only 39 genes is affected, with 17 Tupregulated genes and 22 T-downregulated genes (vertical ellipses in Fig. 3). The overlap of the ellipses represents the same genes deregulated by T in both immune and naïve mice (Fig. 3).

T-responsive hepatic gene expression in immune vs. naïve mice

Fig. 4 shows the expression profile clustering of T-responsive genes in livers of immune and naïve mice. The evaluated data are summarized in Table 1, which also provides information about functional annotations of the genes as searched in several databases including NettAffx (Affymetrix), SwissProt, Proteome, and Pubmed. We have categorized the genes in 10 different groups.

In the categories of liver metabolism, i. e. phase I and phase II metabolism and general metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins (Table 1), the gene expression of 22 genes is significantly affected by T in immune mice, in contrast to 50 genes in naïve mice. There are only 4 genes among the 50 T-responsive genes in naïve mice, which have significantly become T-unresponsive in immune mice, namely *Pfkfb3, C1galt1, Habp2*, and *Usp12*, respectively (Table 1). Most conspicuously, T induces a strong masculinization of expression of those genes. In particular, T upregulates the expression of genes encoding male-prevalent enzymes such as CYP2D9, CYP7B1, UGT2B1, HSD3B5, and HSD3B2, whereas T downregulates that of female-prevalent enzymes such as CYP2B9, CYP3A41, CYP3A44, CYP7A1, FMO3 and SULT2A2, respectively. The T-induced response of these genes is about the same in both immune and naïve mice. Only the male-prevalent HSD3B5 exhibits a T-induced 5-fold higher expression in immune than naïve mice.

In the categories of cell cycle/apoptosis/carcinogenesis and cytoskeleton, the expression of the 2 genes *Lama3* and *Nox4* is significantly changed by T in immune mice, whereas 12 genes are T-responsive in naïve mice. Among the latter, the four genes *Gadd45g*, *Phlda1*, *Lasp1*, and *Stom* have become unaffectable by T in immune mice (Table 1).

The category of genes involved in immunity contains only 2 genes, which are T-responsive in immune mice, whereas 12 genes are deregulated by T in naïve mice (Table1). The complement component C6 exhibits an approximately 2-fold higher expression in T-treated immune mice than in T-treated naïve mice. The expression of the cytokine inducible SH2containing protein Cish is significantly upregulated by T in naïve mice, while the same gene is T-unresponsive in immune mice (Table 1).

The expression of only 7 genes, summarized in the categories of gene regulation and signal transduction (Table 1), were significantly deregulated by T in immune mice, while the expression of 39 genes responded to T in naïve mice. The following genes, whose expression was significantly deregulated by T in naïve mice, became T-unresponsive in immune mice: *Foxq1, Foxa1, Fbxw11, Ehmt1, Egfr, Plk3, Sorbs1, Rad23a, Spred1, Hnf4a,* and *Sdc1,* respectively (Table 1).

Furthermore, the expression of only 8 genes, which belong to the categories transporter or miscellaneous functions, was T-responsive in immune mice, whereas 43 genes were T-affectable in naïve mice. The genes *Chacl1, Slc9a8, Zfml, Mrpl15, Sel1h, D4Wsu53e*, and *Rnf14* became T-unresponsive in immune mice (Table 1).

Finally, Fig. 5 shows that the mRNA expression profiles of arbitrarily selected genes from microarrays, i. e. the T-upregulated *Hsd3b5* and *C6* as well as the T-downregulated *Cyp7a1*, *Sult2a2*, *IL-1* β and *Nt5e*, could be essentially verified by quantitative RT-PCR analysis.

T-unresponsive genes encoding antibody chains

Protective immunity to *P. chabaudi* malaria is mediated by antibodies (Wunderlich *et al.* 1992, Su & Stevenson 2000, Langhorne *et al.* 2002, Achtman *et al.* 2005, 2007). We have therefore tried to identify T-induced changes in expression of genes encoding immunoglobulins in the liver of immune mice. To this end, we have compared the groups C, C_{imm}, T, and T_{imm} using two-way ANOVA analysis. Expectedly, the liver of immune mice expresses a number of genes encoding diverse regions of IgG such as the IgG heavy chains IgH-1A, IgH-4, and IgH-6, the kappa and lamda light chains IgK-V21, IgK-V8, IgK-V28, IGK-V32, and IGL-V1 (Table 2). Also, we have identified those genes encoding the joining chain IgJ and heavy chains of IgM in immune mice. None of these genes were significantly affected by pre-treatment with T (Table 2).

T-unresponsiveness of genes affected by P. chabaudi

In order to explore possible T-effects on expression of *P. chabaudi*–affectable genes, immune mice (C_{imm}) and T-treated immune mice (T_{imm}) were challenged with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes for 1 day (C_{inf} , T_{inf}), before individual livers were subjected to Affymetrix microarray analysis.

Principal component analysis revealed that the overall expression profiles were relatively similar among the three different biological replicates within the four described mouse groups. Only marginal differences exist in the overall gene expression between C_{imm} and C_{inf} as well as T_{imm} and T_{inf} , but somewhat larger differences can be observed between C_{imm} and T_{imm} , as well as C_{inf} and T_{inf} (Fig. 2).

Two-way ANOVA analysis over the four groups C_{imm}, C_{inf}, T_{imm}, and T_{inf} surprisingly revealed that the *P. chabaudi* infections affected hepatic expression of only 4 genes in immune mice. The expression of the genes encoding the acute phase proteins SAA2, SAA1, and ORM2 were upregulated and that of TXNL1 was significantly downregulated. In T-pretreated immune mice, the expression of *Saa2*, *Saa1*, *Orm2*, and *Acnat2* was upregulated by infection, whereas *Tenc1*, *Adamts5*, *Nt5e*, *Atoh8*, and *Lipg* were significantly downregulated. Remarkably, there was only one gene, namely *Acnat2*, whose response to *P. chabaudi* was significantly affectable by T (Table 3).

To our surprise, none of the genes encoding the cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , ans INF γ , as well as iNOS were identified to be affected by infection in immune mice as identified by the Affymetrix microarrays. However, this result could be confirmed using quantitative RT-PCR analysis. The expression of these genes was completely unresponsive to *P.chabaudi* infection in immune mice on day 1 *p.i.* and even on day 8 *p.i.* (Fig. 6). Moreover, this unresponsiveness is not changed by pre-treatment with T (Fig. 6). By contrast, hepatic expression of these genes resulted in a massive induction of mRNA in naïve mice on day 1 *p.i.* and day 8 *p.i.* Pre-treatment with T did not significantly influence this infection-induced upregulation in naïve mice. IL-6 mRNA expression was not detected in naïve mice on day 8 *p.i.*, whereas T-treatment induced an upregulation of IL-6 mRNA expression on day 8 *p.i.*. In immune mice, the mRNA expression of genes encoding IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and INF γ , and iNOS are obviously affected neither by infection nor T-pre-treatment.

Discussion

Mice which have acquired immunity to *P. chabaudi* malaria have concomitantly acquired an unresponsiveness to testosterone (T), evidenced here as a T-induced lethal outcome of blood-

stage malaria in only naïve mice, but not in immune mice (Fig. 1). Our data indicate that this acquisition of T-unresponsive immunity is associated with an attenuated T-responsiveness of gene expression in the liver, which is both a T-target organ (Holloway *et al.* 2008) and an immune organ (Häussinger *et al.* 2004, Crispe 2009) involved in host defense against blood-stage malaria (Krücken *et al.* 2005, Wunderlich *et al.* 2005, Delić *et al.* 2010). This attenuated T-responsiveness manifests itself as (i) a decrease in T-responsive genes, and (ii) an increased T-responsiveness of 2 genes, when immune mice are compared with naïve mice.

. Moreover, there is a decrease in malaria-inducible genes in immune mice.

Overall, we have identified only 39 T-responsive genes in immune mice vs. 156 genes in naïve mice among 14,000 genes as analyzed by Affymetrix microarray technology. Among the 39 T-responsive genes, a number of gender-specific genes have retained their Tresponsiveness during acquisition of T-unresponsive immunity. Indeed, the expression of genes encoding the male-prevalent enzymes CYP2D9, CYP7B1, UGT2B1, HSD3B5 and HSD3B2 is upregulated by T, whereas it is downregulated in genes encoding the femaleprevalent enzymes such as CYP2B9, CYP2B13, CYP3A41, CYP3A44, CYP7A1, FMO3 and SULT2A2, respectively, in both immune and naïve mice. Incidentally, the gene encoding HNF4 α , which has been previously described to be involved in the control of sexually dimorphic gene expression (Clodfelter et al. 2007, Holloway et al. 2008) has lost its Tresponsiveness in immune mice. This supports our previous view that HNF4 α is not directly involved in the control of gender-specific gene expression in female mice (Delić et al. 2010). Remarkably, the expression of gender-specific genes reveals approximately the same Tresponsiveness in immune and naïve mice, with one spectacular exception: this is the gene encoding HSD3B5 which was even 5-fold more upregulated by T in immune than naïve mice. This enzyme is involved in the metabolism of steroid hormones (Wang et al. 2005). It is therefore reasonable to assume that the increased expression of this enzyme contributes to lower concentrations of effective T in the liver of immune mice in comparison to naïve mice.

Among those genes, whose hepatic expression has lost their T-responsiveness with acquiring immunity, we have identified Stomatin (*Stom*). This encodes the erythrocyte membrane protein band 7.2b. The deregulation of band 7.2b is known to be associated with stomatocytosis, in which erythrocyte membrane permeability is changed leading to final hemolytic anemia (Fricke *et al.* 2003). The non-responsiveness of Stom to T is consistent with previous findings suggesting that erythrocytes of immune mice are more robust and less penetrable by malaria parasites in immune than naïve mice (Wunderlich *et al.* 1987). Moreover, it is noteworthy that C1galt1 is another gene which has lost its T-responsiveness in

immune mice. The protein-encoding gene C1galt1 is known to be involved in thrombopoiesis. Conceivably, T induces an increased thrombopoiesis in naïve mice vs. immune mice. Furthermore, genes encoding the transcription factors FOXQ1 and FBXW11 are not T-responsive in immune mice. FOXQ1 is an important regulator of NK cell effector function (Jonsson & Peng 2005) and FBXW11 is described to be involved in the ubiquitination-dependent destruction of IkBa (Suzuki *et al.* 2000), which is the inhibitor of NF-kB (Baldwin 1996). The latter is a multifunctional transcription factor that regulates the expression of a number of genes involved in immune and inflammatory responses. Also, Cish has lost its T-responsiveness, which is an important negative regulator of cytokine signaling after infection (Hanada *et al.* 2003).

Genes encoding diverse regions of heavy and light chains of IgG antibodies have been identified to be T-unresponsive in immune mice. Though our data cannot discriminate between intrahepatic and/or immigrant B cells, they are compatible with other findings showing that production of protective antibodies by B cells is T-insensitive and adoptive transfer of such antibodies can protect T-treated naïve mice from a lethal outcome (Wunderlich et al. 1992). Also, we have found that IgM-encoding genes are T-unresponsive. This supports the view that T suppresses development of the antibody response of protective immunity at a rather early stage in naïve mice. For instance, the formation of protective antibodies requires a T_H2-response preceded by a T_H1-response (von der Weid & Langhorne 1993). Previously, we have found that T persistently upregulates the $T_{\rm H}1$ promoting IFN γ (Delić et al. 2010), and the production of biologically active IL-10, an inhibitor of T_H2response, is almost completely suppressed by T in naïve mice (Mossmann et al. 1997). Obviously, T shifts the delicate balance between T_H1- and T_H2- response in direction to the T_H1-response, thus ultimately impairing the formation of protective antibodies. This view is further corroborated by our present finding that the euchromatic histone lysine Nmethyltransferase 2 (Ehmt2) is identified to be T-unresponsive in immune mice, whereas its expression is decreased by T in naïve mice. This gene is thought of mediating epigenetic changes in genes which are involved in the switch of T_H1-response to T_H2-response. Indeed, mice with a T-cell specific deletion of this gene fail to develop a protective T_{H2} cell response after infection with the helminth parasite Trichuris muris (Lehnertz et al. 2010).

Collectively, a series of changes have been here identified, in response to T, in the liver transcriptome of immune mice as compared with naïve mice. Overall, immune mice are characterized by an attenuated T-responsiveness of hepatic gene expression. Moreover, our finding is noteworthy, that important inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α and

IFN γ , as well as iNOS are not inducible by *P. chabaudi* infections in the liver transcriptome of immune mice, in contrast to naïve mice. This is also consistent with our very recent finding that there occurs a reprogramming of the hepatic miRNA-signature in mice during acquisition of immunity (Delić *et al.* 2010). It is rather obvious that the liver undergoes adaptive persistent changes upon acquiring protective immunity to blood-stage malaria of *P. chabaudi*. All these data emphasize the role of the liver as an important effector site against blood-stage malaria.

Declaration of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft through GRK1427 and the Centre of Excellence for Biodiversity Research, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi-Arabia.

References

- Achtman AH, Bull PC, Stephens R & Langhorne J 2005 Longevity of the immune response and memory to blood-stage malaria infection. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* **297** 71–102.
- Achtman AH, Stephens R, Cadman ET, Harrison V & Langhorne J 2007 Malaria-specific antibody responses and parasite persistence after infection of mice with *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi*. *Parasite Immunology* **29** 435–444.
- Baldwin AS 1996 The NF-kappa B and I kappa B proteins: New discoveries and insights. *Annual Review of Immunology* **14** 649-683.
- Balmer P, Alexander J & Phillips RS 2000 Protective immunity to erythrocytic *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection involves IFNgamma-mediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. *Parasitology* **121** 473–482.
- Benten WP, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW & Wunderlich F 1997 Testosteroneinduced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. *Journal of Endocrinology* **153** 275–281.

- Clodfelter KH, Miles GD, Wauthier V, Holloway MG, Zhang X, Hodor P, Ray WJ & Waxman DJ 2007 Role of STAT5a in regulation of sex-specific gene expression in female but not male mouse liver revealed by microarray analysis. *Physiological Genomics* **31** 63– 74.
- Crispe IN 2009 The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annual Review of Immunology 27 147-163.
- Delić D, Gailus N, Vohr HW, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishy S & Wunderlich F 2010 Testosteroneinduced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* [Epub ahead of prinf].
- Delić D, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishy S & Wunderlich F 2010 Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasitology Research* [Epub ahead of print].
- Delić D, Warskulat U, Borsch E, Al-Qahtani S, Al-Quraishi S, Häussinger D & Wunderlich F 2010 Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion. *Infection and Immunity* **78** 1642-1649.
- Dennis G, Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC & Lempicki RA 2003 DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery. *Genome Biology* **4** P3.
- Dockrell HM, De Souza JB, Playfair HL 1980 The role of the liver in immunity to bloodstage murine malaria. *Immunology* **41** 421-430.
- Drinkwater NR, Hanigan MH & Kemp CJ 1990 Genetic and epigenetic promotion of murine hepatocarcinogenesis. *Progress Clinical Biology Research* **331** 163–176.
- Eisen MB, Spellman PT, Brown PO & Botstein D 1998 Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns. *Proceedings of the National Acadamy of Sciences* U.S.A. 95 14863–14868.
- Fricke B, Argent AC, Chetty MC, Pizzey AR, Turner, EJ, Ho MM, Iolascon A, von Düring M & Stewart GW 2003 The "stomatin" gene and protein in overhydrated hereditary stomatocytosis. *Blood* **102** 2268-2277.
- Fu YX & Chaplin DD 1999 Development and maturation of secondary lymphoid tissues. Annual Review of Immunology 17 399-433.

- Fütterer A, Mink K, Luz A, Kosco-Vilbois MH & Pfeffer K 1998 The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Immunity* 9 59-70.
- Hanada T, Kinjyo I, Inagaki-Ohara K & Yoshimura A 2003 Negative regulation of cytokine signaling by CIS/SOC3 family proteins and their roles in inflammatory diseases. *Reviews* of Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology 149 72-86.
- Häussinger D, Kubitz R, Reinehr R, Bode JG & Schliess F 2004 Molecular aspects of medicine: from experimental to clinical hepatology. *Molecular aspects of Medicine* 25 221-360.
- Hoon MJL de, Imoto S, Nolan J & Miyano S 2004 Open source clustering software. *Bioinformatics* **20** 1453–1454.
- Holloway MG, Cui Y, Laz EV, Hosui A, Hennighausen L & Waxman DJ 2007 Loss of sexually dimorphic liver gene expression upon hepatocyte-specific deletion of Stat5a-Stat5b locus. *Endocrinology* 148 1977–1986.
- Holloway MG, Miles GD, Dombkowski AA & Waxman DJ 2008 Liver-specific hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha deficiency: greater impact on gene expression in male than in female mouse liver. *Molecular Endocrinology* 22 1274–1286.
- Hoon MJL de, Imoto S, Nolan J & Miyano S 2004 Open source clustering software. *Bioinformatics* **20** 1453–1454.
- Jonsson H & Peng SL 2005 Forkhead transcription factors in immunology. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **62** 397-409.
- Kato R & Onada K 1970 Studies on the regulation of the activity of drug oxidation in rat liver microsomes by androgen and estrogen. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **19** 1649-1660.
- Kemp CJ & Drinkwater NR (1990) The androgen receptor and liver tumor development in mice. Progress Clinical Biology Research 331: 203–214.
- Klein SL 2000 The effects of hormones on sex differences in infection: from genes to behavior. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* **24** 627–638.
- Krücken J, Delić D, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2009 Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Malaria Journal* 8 54.

- Krücken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RMU, El-Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2005 Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to bloodstage malaria. *Infection and Immunity* **73** 436–443.
- Kurtis JD, Mtalib R, Onyango FK & Duffy PE 2001 Human resistance to *Plasmodium falciparum* increases during puberty and is predicted by dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels. *Infection and Immunity* **69** 123-128.
- Langhorne J, Quin SJ & Sanni LA 2002 Mouse models of blood-stage malaria infection: immune responses and cytokines involved in protection and pathology. *Chemical Immunology* 80 204-228.
- Lehnertz B, Northrop JP, Antigano F, Burrows K, Hadidi S, Mullaly SC, Rossi FM & Zaph C 2010 Activating and inhibitory functions for the histone lysine methyltransferase G9a in T helper cell differentiation and function. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207 915-922.
- Livak KJ & Schmittgen TD 2001 Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25** 402–408.
- Mannoor MK, Weerasinghe A, Halder RC, Reza S, Morshed M, Ariyasinghe A, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2001 Resistance to malarial infection is achieved by the cooperation of NK1.1(+) and NK1.1(-) subsets of intermediate TCR cells which are constituents of innate immunity. *Cellular Immunology* **211** 96–104.
- Mannoor MK, Halder RC, Morshed SRM, Ariyasinghe A, Bakir HY, Kawamura H, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2002 Essential role of extrathymic T cells in protection against malaria. *Journal of Immunology* **169** 301–306.
- Marriott I & Huet-Hudson YM 2006 Sexual dimorphism in innate immune responses to infectious organisms. *Immunologic Research* **34** 177–192.
- Mehlhorn H 2008 Encyclopedia of parasitology. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.
- Mossmann H, Benten WPM, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Kühn-Velten WN, Reinauer H & Wunderlich F 1997 Dietary testosterone suppresses protective responsiveness to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Life Science* **60** 839-848.

- Muehlenbein MP, Alger J, Cogswell F, James M & Krogstad D 2005 The reproductive endocrine response to *Plasmodium vivax* infection in Hondurans. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **73** 178-187.
- Müller HE 1992 The more effective immune system of women against infectious agents. *Wiener Medizinische Wochenschrift* 389–395.
- Nagasue N & Kohno H 1992 Hepatocellular carcinoma and sex hormones. *HPB Surgery* **6** 1–6.
- Rhoden EL & Averbeck MA 2009 Testosterone therapy and prostate carcinoma. *Current Urology Reports* **10** 453-459.
- Roberts CW, Walker W & Alexander J 2001 Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **14** 476–488.
- Sturn A, Quackenbush J & Trajanoski Z 2002 Genesis: cluster analysis of microarray data. *Bioinformatics* **18** 207–208.
- Su Z & Stevenson MM 2000 Central role of endogenous gamma interferon in protective immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection. *Infection and Immunity* 68 4399–4406.
- Suzuki H, Chiba T, Suzuki T, Fujita T, Ikenoue T, Omata M, Furuichi K, Shikama H & Tanaka T 2000 Homodimer oft wo F-box proteins beta TrCP1 or beta TrCP2 binds to IkappaBalpha for signal-dependent ubiquitination. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275** 2877-2784.
- Taverne J, Rahman D, Dockrell HM, Alavi A, Leveton C & Playfair JHL 1987 Activation of liver macrophages in murine malaria is enhanced by vaccination. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* **70** 508-514.
- Verthelyi D 2001 Sex hormones as immunomodulators in health and disease. *International Immunopharmacology* **1** 983-993.
- Wang XJ, Chamberlain M, Vassieva O, Henderson CJ & Wolf CR 2005 Relationchip between hepatic phenotype and changes in gene expression in cytochrome P450 reductase (POR) null mice. *Biochemical Journal* 388 857-867.
- Waxman DJ & Holloway MG 2009 Sex differences in the expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. *Molecular Pharmacology* 76 215–228.

- Weid T von der & Langhorne J 1993 The roles of cytokines produced in the immune response to the erythrocytic stages of mouse malarias. *Immunobiology* **189** 397-418.
- Wirén S & Stattin P 2008 Androgens and prostate cancer risk. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 22 601-613.
- Wu Y, Chhipa RR, Cheng J, Zhang H, Mohler JL & Ip C 2010 Androgen receptor-mTOR crosstalk is regulated by testosterone availability for prostate cancer cell survival. *Anticancer Research* **30** 3895-3901.
- Wunderlich F, Benten WPM, Bettenhaeuser U, Schmitt-Wrede HP & Mossmann H 1992 Testosterone-unresposiveness of existing immunity against *Plamodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasite Immunology* 14 307-320.
- Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El-Khadragy M, Borsch E, Hermsen D, Benten WPM, Pfeffer K, Mossmann H & Krücken J 2005 Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin beta receptor-deficient mice resistant to bloodstage malaria. *Microbes and Infection* 7 399–409.
- Wunderlich F & Helwig M 1987 *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: red blood cells with altered membrane proteins in immune mice. *European Journal of Cell Biology* **43** 499-500.
- Wunderlich F, Marinovski P, Benten WP, Schmitt-Wrede HP & Mossmann H 1991 Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasite Immunology* **13** 357–367.
- Wunderlich F, Mossmann H, Helwig M & Schillinger G 1988 Resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* in B10 mice: influence of the H-2 complex and testosterone. *Infection and Immunity* **56** 2400–2406.
- Wunderlich F, Stübig H & Königk E 1982 Development of *Plasmodium chabaudi* in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. *Journal of Protozoology* **29** 60-66.

Figure legends

Figure 1 Course of blood-stage infections with *P. chabaudi* in naïve and immune C57BL/6 mice. Mice were pre-treated with T or vehicle for 3 weeks before infecting with 10^6 *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes. Values represent means \pm SD (n=8). Only half of the SD bar is given for clarity reasons.
Figure 2 Principal component analysis represents the three major vectors contributing to variance between arrays. Variations exist in expression profiles between triplicates of different mouse groups, whereas similarity occurs within triplicates of a given mouse group. C, control naïve mice; T, T-treated mice; C_{imm} , immune mice; T_{imm} , T-treated immune mice; C_{inf} , immune mice infected with *P. chabaudi* for 1 day; T_{imm} , T-treated immune mice infected with *P. chabaudi* for 1 day.

Figure 3 Venn-diagram summarizing the numbers of T-affected genes in naïve mice (horizontal ellipses) and T-affected genes in immune mice (vertical ellipses). The overlap of the ellipses represents numbers of those genes deregulated by T in both groups of mice.

Figure 4 Hierarchical cluster analysis of hepatic expression levels of T-deregulated genes in immune and naïve mice. The T-upregulated genes are shown on the left and the T-downregulated genes on the right. Analysis was performed using Gene Cluster 3. The expression levels of immune mice (C_{imm}), T-pre-treated naïve mice (T), and immune mice (T_{imm}) were normalized to the mean signal intensity of control naïve mice (C) and data are log_2 -transformed. Yellow and blue colors represent up- and downregulation, respectively, as indicated by the logarithmic color scale bar.

Figure 5 Verification of microarray data by quantitative real-time PCR. Gene expression microarray profiles of T-upregulated *Hsd3b5* and *C6* as well as T-downregulated *Nt5e, Cyp7a1, IL-1β* and *Sult2a2* reveal about the same T-induced deregulation by real-time PCR analysis. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to the mean expression of control mice (C). Values represent means \pm SD from 3 different mice in each group. * indicates significant differences (p < 0.01).

Figure 6 Quantitative RT-PCR of cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , IFN γ and iNOS in vehicletreated immune (C_{imm}) and T-treated immune mice (T_{imm}), infected with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*parasitized erythrocytes. Values represent means \pm SD (n=3). Asterisks indicate significant differences (p<0.01) with respect to C_{imm}.



Figure 1



Figure 2



T-downregulated genes in naive mice







Figure 4







Figure 6

DIIM	16547391,	40/4/18 9295351, 8530364, 11284740	10490589	10462538	19358898 11160642, 12384299		1036899	16872995 14623888,	9721182 12147261	15761033	10775455 15381067	15155787 7473608		10315101	19151521 8570624, 9566751, 16864508	8319586, 8477648, 8477315	11126611 11126611	10773455	15845370	8647315	18757308	17997977	12097155	16702728	10194414	19289130 14578854	19513116	10876094
Functions	male-specific; regulate by growth hormone; sterol 16a-hydroxylase	oxysterol-7-α-hydroxylase involved in synthesis of 7-α-hydroxylated bile acids; male specific expression in the liver	Circadian expression of the steroid 15 alpha-hydroxylase (Cyp24) and coumarin 7-hydroxylase (Cyp2a5) genes in mouse liver is regulated by the DAB loncing strugger for the correction of sector DBP	expression of Fmo1 is suppressed by overproduced nitric oxide	91,8% sequence identity to Cyp2c39 Catalyzes the hydroxylation of eicosanoids; LPS-induced downregulation in the liver is in part mediated by provisione proliferator-activated receptor of the liver is in part mediated by provisione proliferator.	andua	Cholesterol-7alpha-hydroxylase that is expressed in a female-specific manner	typically expressed at high levels in lung Acts as a retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase.Metabolizes arachidonic acid to 14, 15-	cis-epoxyeicosatrienoic acid female-specific expression of this expression depends on growth hormone	Exhibits 17alpha-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase activity, a crucial enzyme for the synthesis of all steroid homenes, and squalene monooxyganese (epoxidase) existing in enhorment in enhorment histornehesis.	female succession depends on growth hormone	female specific expression in the liver		putative N-acceyltransferase	mate-predommant expression in the liver, inductive circles by testoscione female specific expression in the liver, involved in control of the amounts of active androgens in cells; protects against the toxic effects of lithocholic acid	involved in steroid synthesis with both dehydrogenase and isomerase activity; male-specific	rate-limiting enzyme in taurine biosynthesis Rate limiting enzyme in taurine biosynthesis, predominantly expressed in the	Catalyzes the first step in heme synthesis in erythroblasts and is induced by	erytmootast unrecentation Important activator of anaerobic glycolysis and essential for embryonic	Important enzyme for steroid synthesis with both dehydrogenease and	isomerase activity, minor, male-preponderant isoform Maturation of secretory cells was associated with progressive increases in the expression of Fmo3, Pon1, Aox3, and Cyp2t2 between late embryonic and	postnatal periods Knockdown of human MCM10 exhibits delayed and incomplete chromosome	repueation involved in phospholipid metabolism	AOX1 catalyzes the oxidation of a wide range of endogenous and exogenous aldohydes and N-betwoevelic aromatic community.	Expression is upregulated in regenarating liver and in hepatocellular	involved in heme biosynthesis and upregulated by PPARa liver-specific peroxisomal enzyme that oxidizes glycolate to glyoxylate with	concomitant production of $\rm H_2O_2$ both Shmt1 and Shmt2 are shown to contribute to nuclear de novo thymidylate	biosynthesis catalyze the dehydrogenation of retinols, including 9 -cis retinol, and to exhibit 3a- and 17/Fhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activities
Representative Public ID	BC010593	NM_007825	NM_007812	BC011229 AI265721	AF047725 AK009445	NM_009998 AF128849	BB667338 NM_007824	NM_018881 NM_010003	AB039380	NM_007809	NM_017396 NM_010000	NM_007813 NM_008030		BC024605	BC02/200 NM_009286	NM_008295	AY033912 AY033912	M63244	NM_133232	BC026757	NM_023617	AK010648	AI642069 BM800344	NM_009676	NM_029550	BG067254 NM_010403	NM_009171	BC018263
Entrez Gene	13105	13123	13086 13087	14261 433247	13097 70101	13088 13088	13122 13122	55990 13098	337924	13074	53973 13094	13089		69049	20865	15496	246277 246277	11656	170768	15493	71724	70024	212862	11761	64697	12892 15112	20425	216454
Affymetrix probe ID	1419349_a_at	1421075_s_at	1422230_s_at	1417429_at 1423244_at	1452501_at 1430172_a_at	1422257_s_at 1425645_s_at	1438743_at 1422100_at	1422904_at 1421363_at	1426064 at	1417017_at	1419704_at 1419590_at	1449479_at 1449525_at		1424811_at	1424934_at 1419528_at	1420531_at	1448986_x_at 1427981_a_at	1451675_a_at	1416432_at	1425127_at	1418858_at	1433408_a_at	1455901_at	1419435_at	1416833_at	1422493_at 1420420_at	1422198_a_at	1451681_at
p-value	0.048	0.011	0.014	0.048 0.579	0.02	0.039 0.18	0.071 0.194	0.224 0.565	0.206	0.0163	0.148 0.027	0.159		0.0181	0.541	0.009	0.992 0.067	0.097	0.0035	0.0023	0.0194	0.00065	0.04503	0.0075	0.148	0.047 0.0036	0.101	0.871
imm:Cimm/ T:C	1.435	0.805	0.764	0.905 1.385	0.638	0.799 0.736	0.644 1.376	1.367 1.019	0.896	866.0	0.674 2.570	3.578 1.11		1.646	0.726	4.985	0.626 0.557	0.765	0.243	1.091	0.950	0.792	0.873	0.822	1.040	0.429 0.767	1.687	0.985
-value T	291E-06	0.008	0.007	0.0027 0.0016	0.003	0.0039 0.0073	0.007 0.0014	0.0012 0.0011	0.001	0.00063	0.004 799E-05	0.0003		0.007	/ 100.0	0.005	0.002 0.0004	0.004	0.005	0.003	.077E-05	0.0031	0.0077	0.0009	0.0012	0.0014 .329E-05	.407E-05	0.0016
T/C p	6.544 4.	3.961	0.529	0.494 0.459	0.389	0.387 0.387	0.370 0.207	0.154 0.133	0.120	0.111 0	0.020	0.001 < 0.001		12.398	0.002	49.878	4.634 4.629	3.328	3.189	3.009	2.432 8.	2.381	2.294	2.260	2.157	2.131 2.131 1.	0.489 9.	0.481
o-value	0.004	0.008	0.001	0.0013 0.002	.059E-05 0.03	0.129 0.101	0.08	0.0003 0.0013	0.021	0.0001	0.0004	0.0106		0.014	0.002	0.0034	0.036 0.053	0.004	0.329	0.00052	0.0051	0.018	0.0005	0.003	0.072	0.615 0.001	0.079	0.0001
T _{imm} /C _{imm}]	23.738	3.188	0.404	0.447 0.635	0.250	0.309 0.284	0.238 0.285	0.211 0.135	0.108	0.111	0.013	0.001		20.406	0.001	248.626	2.900 2.578	2.547	0.776	3.284	2.311	1.885	2.003	1.859	2.243	0.914 1.634	0.826	0.474
Gene name	cytochrome P450. family 2. subfamily d. polypeptide 9	cytochrome P450. family 7. subfamily b. polypeptide 1	cytochrome P450. family 2. subfamily a. polypeptide 4/5	flavin containing monooxygenase 1 similar to Cvp2c40 protein	cytochrome P450. family 2, subfamily e. polypeptide 38 cytochrome P450. family 4. subfamily f. polypeptide 16	cytochrome P450. family 2. subfamily b. polypeptide 10 cytochrome P450. family 2. subfamily b. polypeptide 10	cytochrome P450. family 7. subfamily a. polypeptide 1 cytochrome P450. family 7. subfamily a. polypeptide 1	flavin containing monooxygenase 2 cytochrome P450. family 2. subfamily c. polypeptide 39	cytochrome P450. family 3. subfamily a. polypeptide 44	cytochrome P450. family 17. subfamily a. polypeptide 1	cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily a, polypeptide 41 cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily h, nolynentide 9	cytochrone P450. family 2. subfamily b. polypeptide 13 flavin containing monoxygenase 3		camello-like 5 TTD	UDF gueuenosytransterase z ramity, polypepuge Bi sulfotransferase family 2A. dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA)- preferring. member 2	hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-5. delta<5>-3-beta	cysteine sulfinic acid decarbox ylase cysteine sulfinic acid decarbox ylase	aminolevulinic acid synthase 2. erythroid	6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2.6-biphosphatase 3	hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-2. delta<5>-3-beta	aldehyde oxidase 3	minichromosome maintenance deficient 10 (S. cerevisiae)	choline phosphotransferase 1	aldehyde oxidase 1	kidney expressed gene 1	coproporphyrinogen oxidase hydroxyacid oxidase 1. liver	serine hydroxymethyl transferase 1 (soluble)	cis-retinol/3alpha hydroxysterol short-chain dehydrogenase-like
Gene symbol	Cyp2d9	Cyp7b1	Cyp2a4/Cyp2a5	Fmo1 LOC433247	Cyp2c38 Cyp4f16	Cyp2b10 Cyp2b10	Cyp7a1 Cyp7a1	Fmo2 Cyp2c39	Cyp3a44	Cyp17a1	Cyp3a41 Cvn2h9	Cyp2b13 Fmo3		Cml5	Ugizo1 Sult2a2	Hsd3b5	Csad Csad	Alas2	Pfkfb3	Hsd3b2	Aax3	Mcm10	Chpt1 Chart1	AoxI	Kegl	Cpox Hao I	Shmt 1	CRAD-L
			-		meile	netabo	I əse	чa					u	eilodst	9m II 926A	I				u	ızilodatə	n lar	Gene					_

Table 1. T-responsive gene expression in the liver of female mice immune to *P. chabaudi* malaria vs. naïve mice.

72

17113876	20466777	18407998	14758042	17958743	11181649	15790565 17944600 18523579	20042707 15781238	16754674 11900485 18460915	19596089 20692264		20147737 9306922		12079511 12124778	11376945,	10728791	17543181		16319076; 17541406	19155088	10090952	4007963	12687406	19471024	20488792	15124023	11441107	20337582	12191018 20195505
Targeted disruption of the gene causes embryonic lethality and defective	angiogenesis in mice greatest diagnostic utility for manifestations of hepatocellular necrosis and	MKR1D1 (steroid 5beta-reductase) reduces all Delta(4)-3-ketosteroids to form 5beta-dilydrosteroids, a first step in the clearance of steroid hormones and an	essential step in the synthesis of all bile acids retinoic acid treatment that was reported to increase it anisglutaminase activity, whenever the destination of the activity activity of the	Witch accord action of the activity witch activity WINF-4alpha plays a crucial role in human PZ gene expression in hepatocytic	biotin-dependent carboxylase that catalyzes the fourth step in the leucine	cataouru paurway abundantly expressed in the liver of mice IL-6 and IL-8 increase the expression of St3gal6 MMP19 is essential for T cell development and T cell-mediated cutaneous	mmune responses HABP2 negatively regulates vascular integrity involved in lipid metabolism and of Lypla3 increases artherosclerosis in	ApoE-deficient mice possible role in inositol phospholipid signaling involved in protein export from nucleus a delta-9 fatty acid desaturase that catalyzes the synthesis of monounsaturated	fatty acids and has emerged as a key regulator of metabolism involved in generating immuglobulins and T cell antigen receptors involved in erythropoiesis mesent in arithelial cells of the liver inactivates essent pentide homones	present in cyntrotrat custo yn curvey, inactivates, several peptuce normous including glueagon, enkephalins, substance P, neurotensin, oxytocin bradykinin, natriuretic peptides 72% similar to bile acid-Coanzyme A: amino acid N-acyltransferase	WDR20 regulates activity of the USP12/UAF1 deubiquitinating enzyme complex reduced activity by ischemia		expression correlated with dedifferentiation of hepatocellular tumors Cdc2/cyclinB1 kinase inhibitor with role in S and G2M cell cycle checkpoints	NAPDH oxidase generating ROS; Nox4 is most frequently expressed in tumor	Cyclin D1/cdk4 complexes can phosphorylate Rb and E2F factors to	overcome a late G1 restriction point in the cell cycle apoptosis-inducing factor induces G0/G1 cell cycle arrest and apoptosis	induces apoptosis	G-actin-binding protein regulating endocytosis and exocytosis	reoulates HCC cell orowth	erythrootie membrane protein 7.2b regulates actin cytoskeletal dynamics and cell survival involved in actin organization	complement component produced in the liver; higher expression in males than	In remates Negative regulator of cytokine signaling involved in hematopoiesis, immune	regulation, and minimization CD36, a scavenger receptor involved in immunity, metabolism, angiogenesis, and heliovier	expressed on NK cells and subsets of T and NKT cells, and recognizes a group of such inducible "stress" ligands and important regulatory component of the	PBEF is upregulated in neurophils by Li-Debta and functions as a inhibitor of	overexpression of Tollip inhibits NF-kappaB activation in response to TLR2 overexpression of Tollip inhibits NF-kappaB activation in response to TLR2 and TLR4 signaling, role of Toll-interacting protein and IL-1 receptor	signaling molecules in To Tell-like receiptor 2 signaling Cathepsin C null mice show deficiencies in disease-relevant proteases including neurophil elastase, cathepsin G, chymases and granzymsa and the	Cat C mice are protected in a number of disease models involved in the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles Interleukin-Ibeat (IL-Ibeat) and IL-18 are important proinflammatory cytokines that on the one hand activate monocytes, macropages, and
NM_052993	AA792094	BC018333	BC026422	BC024104	BI155184	AB030503 NM_018784 AF153199	AI035669 NM_133792	BC018218 AA543265 NM_009127	AF316014 AK007618 NM 008604	BC010829	AF441835 NM 011851		X84014 AK007410	AB041034	NM_007631	NM_007631 NM_013929 BII12766	NM_024226	AK005544	NM_019410 AV_07151	AF093620 NM_020606 NM_022554	NM_016704	NM_009895	BB534670	AF039026	AW989410	BB400304	NM_009982	NM_019788 BC011437
94192	14718	208665	21816	66901	78038	17252 54613 58223	226243 192654	229709 15526 20249	21673 56248 17380	209186	22217 23959		16774 23882	50490	12443	12443 30954 56036	68585	20338	18645 16796	13830 57342 56376	12274	12700	12491	27007	59027	54473	13032	18457 16176
1422772_at	1450970_at	1425771_at	1451416_a_at	1431721_a_at	1428021_at	1449209_a_at 1449078_at 1421976_at	1443696_s_at 1422341_s_at	1425576_at 1431274_a_at 1415965_at	1450545_a_at 1432436_a_at 1477975_at	1425150 at	1425805_{-a}^{-} at 1422974 at		1427512_a_at 1453851_a_at	1418825_at 1451827_a_at	1417419_at	1448698_at 1418377_a_at 1453740_a_at	1421116_a_at	1418209_a_at	1418210_at 1455470_x_at	1419098_at 1416818_at 1421413_a_at	1449308_at	1448724_at	1450884_at	1450495_a_at	1448607_at	1423048_a_at	1416382_at	1417350_at 1449399_a_at
0.0054	0.769	0.969	0.109	0.124	0.0392	0.168 0.918 0.07	0.0022 0.498	0.096 0.018 0.014	0.59 0.03 0.051	0.003	0.009		0.1183 0.0045	0.0566	0.1709	0.281 0.246 0.065	0.1102	0.108	0.772	0.0034 0.139 0.061	0.0033	0.0068	0.0467	0.8402	0.022	0.0231	0.106	0.021 0.873
2.311	1.665	1.408	1.159	1.609	1.993	1.781 1.256 1.838	2.351 2.241	2.384 3.244 2.524	1.410 2.746 2.178	0.537	12.343 3.040		0.876 0.115	0.144	0.918	1.275 1.883 1.910	1.408	0.687	0.605 0.489	2.477 1.529 3.345	2.175	0.121	0.860	1.596	1.210	1.987	1.046	1.821 1.520
0.0014	0.004	0.0035	0.0075	0.002	0.002	0.006 0.0051 0.0004	0.0048 0.008	0.008 0.006 0.002	0.003 0.0029 0.0001	0.012	6.905E-05 0.004		0.028 0.0013	0.006	0.0008	0.008 0.007 0.0019	7.152E-05	0.002	0.004	0.008 0.002 0.005	0.0003	0.0032	0.0003	0.0013	0.0067	0.007	0.002	0.0027 0.0073
0.481	0.466	0.458	0.454	0.437	0.431	0.429 0.407 0.403	$0.402 \\ 0.384$	0.382 0.377 0.365	0.337 0.336 0.335	0.315	0.077 0	0	5.559 4.465	2.176	0.483	0.369 0.464 0.459	0.448	2.530	2.493	0.430 0.420 0.341	4.348	3.214	0.545	0.498	0.494	0.488	0.479	0.471 0.451
0.452	0.21	0.081	0.028	0.031	0.218	0.148 0.122 0.056	0.454 0.48	0.55 0.27 0.78	0.027 0.493 0.185	2000.0	0.72 0.0007		0.0003 0.008	0.42	0.063	$\begin{array}{c} 0.059 \\ 0.53 \\ 0.39 \end{array}$	0.003	0.066	0.079	0.031 0.24 0.58	0.00	0.318	0.009	0.315	0.016	0.738	0.0002	0.074 0.118
1.112	0.776	0.644	0.526	0.703	0.859	0.765 0.512 0.741	0.945 0.860	0.910 1.222 0.922	0.475 0.922 0.724	0.169	0.952		4.872 0.515	0.280 2.666	0.443	$\begin{array}{c} 0.470 \\ 0.874 \\ 0.876 \end{array}$	0.630	1.737	1.509	1.066 0.642 1.141	9.456	0.389	0.468	0.795	0.598	0.969	0.501	0.858 0.685
core 1 UDP-galactose:N-acetylgalactosamine-alpha-R beta 1.3-	galactosyltransferase glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase 1. soluble	aldo-keto reductase family 1. member D1	transglutaminase 1. K polypeptide	protein Z. vitamin K-dependent plasma glycoprotein	methylcrotonoyl-Coenzyme A carboxylase 2 (beta)	retinol dehydrogenase 11 ST3 beta-galactoside alpha-2.3-sialyltransferase 6 matrix metalloproteinase 19	hyaluronic acid binding protein 2 lysophospholipase 3	S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase-like 1 heat shock protein 9A stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase 1	deoxynucleotidyltransferase. terminal adenylate kinase 3 membrane merallo endronentidae	ntering are invarient enveryeptuase acyl-coenzyme A amino acid N-acyltransferase 2	ubiquitin specific protease 12 51 nucleotidase, ecto		laminin. alpha 3 growth arrest and DNA-damage-inducible 45 gamma	preckstrin nomology-tike domain. ramity A. member 1 NADPH oxidase 4	cyclin D1	cyclin D1 Cd27 binding protein (Hindu God of destruction) cyclin L2	reticulon 4	profilin 2	profilin 2 LIM and SH3 workein 1	extension province a storaith storaith parvin, alpha parvin, alpha PDZ and LIM domain 5	complement component 6	cytokine inducible SH2-containing protein	CD36 antigen	killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily K. member l	pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor 1	toll interacting protein	cathepsin C	pallidin interleukin 1 beta
C1galt1	Got1	Akr1d1	TgmI	Proz	Mccc2	Rdh11 St3gal6 Mmp19	Habp2 Lypla3	Ahcyl1 Hspa9a Scd1	Dntt Ak3 Mme	C730036D15Rik	Usp12 Nt5e		Lama3 Gadd45g	Pnida1 Nox4	Ccnd1	Cend1 MGI:1353606 Cenl2	Rtn4	Pfn2	Pfn2 Lasn1	Stom Parva Pdlim5	C6	Cish	Cd36	Kirki	Pbefl	Tollip	Ctsc	Pldn 111b
										-		1	sisənəgo	niote:	o 'siso	ote, apopte	Cell ey	u	otolox	50140	1			əsud	e resp	unuu		

i332174 411929	916902	044242, 617076	070/10	719160	426912	329776	1347503	823543	345204	1619308	1696907	329234 085091	898715	558330		264206	472829		975610	595019	5483316 677098	0641494 1284762	063438	339528, 106416		511770	153109	330678	788722	628185;	6977303 1597303	
llar le 16. v. of	osis osis ; 17 lasia, sonse	16(71	15	18.	19.	ss 20	s 11.	19.	19	DNA- 20	17. 10	17.	, and 19.		17.	e) y for 20-		12	96	16 ival 18	0m 17. ite,	ılarly 18 ug,	r 63 with 81		95	15	nent 18.	e 11	, cell 12(vere 19.	
s, and on the other hand induce Th1 and Th17 adaptive cellula responses sary for the presentation of TNF receptor 1 on cell surface is in the pyr gene result in defective membrane argeing of the exit in corrector becomes and it is accorded with a variant	sertin sectory) yeavoures, and in a severator with femophagoeyto cubing a lymphoproliferative syndrome with hemophagoeyto subing a lymphoproliferation response to cellular stress signals, cellular differentiation, proliferation and growth arrest, neopla seston and metastasis, heavy metal response, the hypoxia resp and DNA Amono services and DNA Amono services	and DNA damage response r of the PAQR seven transmembrane protein family that also	encompasses non-genomic progesterone receptors	Important for NK cell effector function	Histone H4-Acctyltransferase thyroid hormone-inducible	ributes to the regulation of haematopoietic precurser cells	for normal bile duct development through prevention of excess cholanoiocyte modiferation	autoantibodies associated with systemic lupus crythematosus involved in morteolyxis	biquitin ligase; Nedd4 knockout leads to perinatal lethality	ttor of embryonetic stem cell pluripotency and self-renewal	bendent ubiquitin E3-ligase which plays a key role in active D1	n essential role in the negative regulation of TCR signaling in E3-ligase; might function as coactivator for AR-mediated	transactivation in prostate cancer DU145 cells arginine methylation on chromatin	liver cell proliferation, as well as to apoptotic liver cell death,	presents an important regulator of hepatic regeneration	unknown cd in G1/S phase transition and expression peaks in G1 phase	oly involved in cation transport (based on domain architecture) titical regulator of hematopoietic development and is necessary	ration and proliferation of the earliest definitive hematopoietic progenitors	nembrane heparan suffate proteoglycan involved in defense	essential role in coagulation	factor modulating actin polymerization in migrating cells on factor important for normal cellular development and surviv	offavin kinase couples TNF receptor 1 to NADPH oxidase profound developmental abnormalities in the fetus, ranging fro e defects to neurocristopathies such as cleft-lip and cleft-palat	carciac septal detects, and eye detects. the regulation of lipid and carbohydrate metabolism, particule d adipose tissue, and for the sexual dimorphism of hepatic dru	Actionate and section metaboush role in intercellular adhesion of hepatocytes; involved in liver s; belongs to a class of androgen-repressed genes associated w d sterivarmitiving cell population after prolonged castration		nplex with the transcriptional corepressor mSin3 and histone	deacetylase binds to mRNA cap-structure	unknown yulator of MAPK activity; involved in initiation and developm	of cancer ole in nucleotide excision repair, cell cycle regulation and the	ubiquitination pathways myeloid-cell-mediated inflammation; involved in apoptosis, c	dirferentiation and turnor anglogenesis w-derived mast cells and eosinophils from Spred-1-/- mice w	more sensurve to LL-5 and LL-5 involved in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism ansducin normally involved in photoreceptor modulation
neutrophil neces mutation	protectures pre features, in ubiquito involved in tumor progre	membe				cont	required 1	target of	E3-ul	regula	a SUMO-dep	play a ubiquit		involved in	re	Involve	Presumat Hhex is a cri	the matu	a transi		key transcriptic	Ribc results in p neural tub	important in by liver an	plays a 1 histogenesi: enriche		in a con		negative reg	plays a r	essential for	bone marro	a tr
AK021273 NM_010748	A1987929	BC025064	AV269411	NM_008239	AU015158 NM_010638	AW48885 AU016382 AF701785	NM_008259	AW046420 AF403041	NM_010890	BC021304 AV038079	AV045658	NM_010071 AK010162	BI412952	AK014017	10010000	BC023083 BM947855	BC025169 AK014111		BC005679	BQ173958	BB737680 M31629	NM_019437 BC022108	M33324	NM_011926	M61907 X15351	AF009328 NM_009119	BC027014	BM238431 NM_026268	AK009733	BB269715	BQ044290	AV024339 BC022793
68112 17101	17988 17990	75104	75104	15220	210126 16601	16601 21807 21807	15375	142688	17999	27395 103583	19822	13449 56736	110147	13649	010110	211949 12795	69065 15242		20971	14062	20411 11909	54391 14276	14600	26365	26365 26365	12355 20220	66892	18139 67603	19358	15251	114715	18749 14685
1431760_a_at 1421384_at	1450977_s_at	1438654_x_at	1424534_at	1422735_at	142859/_x_at 1422264_s_at	1454758_a_at	1418496_at	1449629_s_at 1419401_at	1421955_a_at	1451623_at 1475461_at	1451072_a_at	1416333_at 1431030_a_at	1426888_at	1432647_at	011121	1451418_a_at 1434496_at	1451382_at 1423319_at	I	1417654_at	1450852_s_at	1436737_a_at 1427559_a_at	1416229_at 1451648_a_at	1451871_a_at	1450494_x_at	1452532_x_at 1427711_a_at	1425392_a_at 1419444_at	1417977_at	1417792_at 1415834_at	1453623_a_at	1448183_a_at	1423161_s_at	1420610_at 1460212_at
0.0485 0.3101	0.0008	0.086	0.629	0.0001	0.058	0.056 0.395 0.707	0.0022	0.755 0.0036	0.0581	0.0074	0.0262	0.385 0.0029	0.0066	0.008	0000	0.0077	0.0003 0.01001		0.0087	0.123	0.008 0.499	0.421 0.144	0.073	0.527	0.045 0.0306	0.653 0.0471	0.092	0.0082 0.026	0.0082	0.0912	0.0089	0.0192 0.1016
1.714 2.225	3.228	1.148	1.319	0.196	0.970	0.479 1.122	0.421	0.528 0.717	1.825	2.239 2.330	2.163	1.691 3.017	4.141	0.145	0.754	0.654 0.438	0.494 0.306		0.536	0.756	0.483 1.528	1.334 1.706	2.326	1.602	1.938 1.761	1.291 1.502	1.177	2.612 1.268	2.109	2.219	2.038	2.013 1.457
0.005 0.0035	0.003	0.0036	.924E-05	0.0002	0.00017	0.003 0.002 0.0056	235E-05	0.009	0.001	0.0012	0.0066	0.002 0.001	0.008	0.0086	0.0050	0.005 0.005	0.0009		0.0007	0.0025	0.0024 0.0031	0.0016 0.0073	0.0009	0.0047	0.0002 0.004	0.005 0.0041	0.0069	0.00604 0.0042	0.0059	0.0004	0.0048	0.0083 0.0063
0.449 0.444	0.346	0.291	0.284 9	3.801	2.646 2.646	2.217 2.331	2.066 6	2.034 2.016	0.463	0.435	0.410	0.399 0.277	0.242	5.769		3.645 3.209	2.481 2.330		2.300	2.155	2.064 0.492	0.479 0.477	0.477	0.477	0.428 0.389	$0.470 \\ 0.469$	0.469	0.468 0.461	0.459	0.447	0.441	0.439 0.433
0.116 0.95	0.579	0.017	0.0158	0.392	0.05/0.45	0.52 0.002 0.004	0.499	0.596	0.178	0.85	0.064	$0.091 \\ 0.049$	0.99	0.49	00000	0.0029	0.487 0.458		0.141	0.071	0.987 0.279	0.008 0.550	0.568	0.169	0.303 0.084	0.0014 0.093	0.058	0.143 0.149	0.813	0.968	0.648	0.361 0.235
0.769 0.988	1.118	0.334	0.375	0.743	2.754 1.249	1.062 2.617 2.556	0.870	1.075 1 446	0.846	0.975 0.990	0.887	$0.674 \\ 0.836$	1.002	0.838	100	2.383 1.404	1.225 0.714		1.232	1.629	0.997 0.752	0.640 0.814	1.109	0.763	0.829 0.686	0.607 0.705	0.552	1.223 0.585	0.969	0.991	0.898	0.885 0.631
serologically defined colon cancer antigen 3 lysosomal trafficking regulator	N-myc downstream regulated gene J/N-myc downstream regulated-like	monocyte to macrophage differentiation-associated 2	monocyte to macrophage differentiation-associated 2	forkhead box QI	LIM domain containing preterred translocation partner in lipoma Kruppel-like factor 9	Kruppel-like factor 9 transforming growth factor beta 1 induced transcript 4	transforming grown rector oca i muccou a anscript 4 forkhead box A1	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein D3 ankvrin renear and SOCS box-containing renetein 13	neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally down-regulated	mitochondrial ribosomal protein L15 E-box and WD-40 domain motein 11	ring finger protein 4	docking protein 2 ring finger protein 14	euchromatic histone lysine N-methyltransferase 2	epidermal growth factor receptor		SPRY domain-containing SOUS box 4 polo-like kinase 3 (Drosophila)	cation transport regulator-like hematopoietically expressed homeobox		syndecan 4	coagulation factor II (thrombin) receptor	sorbin and SH3 domain containing 1 activating transcription factor 2	riboflavin kinase folate receptor 2 (fetal)	growth hormone receptor	CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1	CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1 CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1	nuclear receptor subfamily 1. group 1. member 3 Sin3-associated polypeptide 18	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E member 3	zinc finger. matrin-like dual specificity phosphatase 6	RAD23a homolog (S. cerevisiae)	hypoxia inducible factor 1. alpha subunit	sprouty protein with EVH-1 domain 1. related sequence	protein kinase. cAMP dependent. catalytic. beta guanine nucleotide binding protein. alpha transducing l
Sdccag3 Lyst	Ndrg1/Ndr1	Mmd2	Mmd2	Foxq1	Lpp Kif9	Klf9 Tgfb1i4 Tedb1i4	Foxal	Smrpd3 Ash13	Nedd4	Mrp115 Ebwel1	Rnf4	Dok2 Rnf14	Ehmt2	Egfr		Sps ⁶⁴ PIk3	Chacl1 Hhex		Sdc4	F2r	Sorbs1 Atf2	Rfk Folr2	Ghr	Ceacam]	Ceacam1 Ceacam1	Nr1i3 Sap18	Eif4e3	Zfml Dusp6	Rad23a	Hifla	Spredl	Prkacb Gnat I

Gene regulation

Signal tranduction

11741287 19800317 19556538 19689247	20230530 10564822, 17618271	20422498		16648267 10192390	6329976	122007376,	15809292	15809292	11450972	19084913 19846519 12351427 12915942	9736269		11950702 16099870	12845533 20644253	19179618	8577752,	16150593		16054028		17303092				
involved in the IL-2 induction of TNF-β gene regulates CD4+ T cell development through ERK1/2-mediated signaling Trim24 ubiquitylates and negatively regulates p53 levels a direct transactivator of numeroux zenobiotic-metabolizing cytochrome P450	(C 17) genes an E3 ubiquitin ligase embedded in endosome membranes upregulated in macrophages, cytosolic DNA sensor involved in type I	involved in diverse signal transduction processes glucocorticoid receptor directly regulates expression of various genes involved in bile acid transport and detoxification, involved in the transcriptional regulation of various functions including repression of	intrantatory agains unknown heparan sulfate proteogycan midiates the clearance of both hepatic and interstinally derived richtworkd, -richt hemoronia	Interational year year angly serior error inpoprotectus functions as calcineturin fascilitator necessary for development of crythrocytes (crythropoiesis)	unknown treatment of female mice with testosterone reduces prir levels	organic anion transporter with male predonderance in the liver; regulated by	and ogens and goown nonnone sectoron pattern Transporter in the inner mitochondrial membrane, expression is elevated when	mitochondrial metabolism is increased, in particular und a pro-oxidant cellular redox state mitochondrial carrier protein, upregulated in the kidney during tubular cell resenention	involved in mitochondrial import	breast cancer resistance protein which mediates biliary elimination involved in retroviral preintegration complex nuclear import in humans crucial to determine glucose metabolism Na(+)-dependent dicarboxylate transporter	cationic amino acid transporter abundant expressed in the liver		controls cholesterol and phospholipid efflux involved in cholesterol and phospholipid transport	unknown Na+/H+-unknown/sechanger oreanis anion transrorter witch nlavs an essential role in henatic reuntake of	conjugated bilirubin and uptake of unconjugated bile acids and drugs Interleukin-Ibeta contributes via nitric oxide to the upregulation and functional activity of the zinc transporter Zip14 (SIc39a14) in murine	hepatocytes ABC transporter in the peroxisome membrane, LXR prevents expression by	functional and 79% similar to SIC2249, anorganic anion transporter in 64% identical and 79% similar to SIC2249, anorganic anion transporter in demonstration of the second seco	transepitucitat transport of steroid suitates	Inhibits actin capping: concentrates in lamellipodia and increases the fraction of calls with large lime limed in order		locates inside a QTL region known to modulate prion disease incubation time unknown	unknown involved in mouse tooth development	unknown involved in the formation of the spliceosome	unknown unknown	unknown unknown unknown
AF128892 AK019870 BB611004 BB611004 NM_008261	NM_011883 AK008179	BC025837 NM_008173	BE447520 BI788645	NM_030598 BB810450	AF 295097 M22958 NM_008932 NM_008932	AB031813	AB031813 BB032012	BB032012	BB032012 AV102008	NM_011920 AV306751 NM_022026 NM_054055	BF533509	M62838	BB144704 BB144704 AF114437	AF242857 AF482993 AB037192	BC021530	NM_011994	AJ132857	AJ132857	BC012229	BI144810 BC021842 BC020001	AA217054 BF460829	BE196832 NM 011656	BB323985 BB085604	AK004598 BB397899	NM_025975 BC011208 BC011509
26416 19272 21848 21848 15378	24017 58203	104175 14815	27981 20969	53901 22042	19116 19116 19116 19116	28248	28248 67554	67554	67554 21856	26357 320938 64008 114644	11988	11988	11303 11303 18559	55946 77031 28253	213053	26874	236149	236149	68732	234757 96935 72747	227746 68001	67246 22156	106522 68879	434247 109299	67117 103743 226139
1451927_a_at 1431680_a_at 1427259_at 1427258_at 1450447_at	1420620_a_at 1429947_a_at	1423978_at 1421866_at	1448538_a_at 1448158_at	1421425_a_at 1422966_a_at	14201/9_a_at 1451844_at 1450226_at 1421382_at	1420379_at	1449844_at 1450018_s_at	1420836_at	1420835_at 1439371_x_at	1422906_at 1453124_at 1421605_a_at 1416560_at	1450703_at	1426008_a_at	1421839_at 1450392_at 1420983_at	1448309_at 1426274_at 1427826_a_at	 1425649_at	1419748_at	1425752_at	1425751_at	1451804_a_at	1427513_at 1424221_at 1426223_at	1448046_at 1435301_at	1427334 s_at 1416689 at	1454838 s at 1454789 x at	1460359_at 1433618_at	1449928_at 1424133_at 1460376_a_at
0.0115 0.0263 0.744 0.1388 0.0052	0.0138 0.7167	0.5801 0.0098	0.0097 0.00549	0.211 0.628	0.0478 0.394 0.322 0.079	0.091	0.3109 0.785	0.439	0.503 0.151	0.0169 0.986 0.011 0.062	0.087	0.06	0.058 0.033 0.0009	0.536 0.0066 0.011	0.233	0.072	0.884	0.8401	0.168	0.0149 0.084 0.0997	0.00073	0.124 0.653	0.024 0.186	0.278 0.129	0.0381 0.323 0.274
2.104 2.393 0.934 0.758 2.412	2.114 1.191	1.355 1.984	2.383 2.152	1.009 2.593	2.913 1.747 1.285 1.372	0.301	4.372 0.292	0.330	0.479 0.505	1.059 0.593 1.523 1.235	2.095	1.802	2.083 2.630 1.774	2.485 2.944 2.945	1.914	1.629	1.567	2.112	0.593	0.909 1.770 1.290	0.418	0.458 0.706	0.531 0.748	0.591 0.492	1.998 1.303 1.637
0.0077 0.0016 0.03 0.026 0.022	0.027 0.027	0.009 0.0004	0.0039 092E-06	0.0219	0.0018 0.0156 0.0129 0.0113	0.0012	0.0024 0.008	0.0051	0.000	0.0059 0.0031 0.0054 0.0055	0.0056	0.0051	0.0015 0.0012 0.0073	0.0044 0.0032 0.0096	0.0081	.00011	0.0185	0.0127	0.0038	0.0024 0.0279 0.081	0.0041	0.007 0.0006	0.0098	0.0041	0.005 0.004 0.003
0.432 0.424 0.418 0.418 0.290 0.405	0.398 0.384	0.377 0.342	0.337 0.328 3.	0.310	0.270 0.219 0.170 0.152	4.375	3.712 4.181	3.693	2.533	2.215 2.005 0.495 0.481	0.452	0.392	0.401 0.275 0.358 0	0.352 0.342 0.329	0.328	0.170 0	0.017	0.012	4.394	3.568 3.079 2.878	2.399	2.263 2.156	2.047	2.018	0.495 0.488 0.485
$\begin{array}{c} 0.252\\ 0.903\\ 0.0018\\ 0.0038\\ 0.873\end{array}$	0.055	0.044 0.0265	0.159 0.038	0.0004 0.109	0.1383 0.0033 0.0079 0.0057	0.0002	0.0025 0.717	0.678	0.671 0.031	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0004 \\ 0.0472 \\ 0.024 \\ 0.058 \end{array}$	0.811	0.022	0.237 0.099 0.171	0.418 0.96 0.794	0.022	0.0001	0.0002	5.669E-05	0.048	0.0079 0.0031 0.073	0.982 0.084	0.885 0.238	0.514 0.0001	0.0724 0.914	0.899 0.093 0.073
0.908 1.015 0.391 0.220 0.978	0.842 0.458	0.510 0.678	0.803 0.706	0.313 0.796	0.804 0.382 0.218 0.209	14.590	16.227 1.221	1.217	1.214 1.166	2.346 1.189 0.754 0.595	0.948	0.707	0.836 0.722 0.635	0.876 1.008 0.970	0.629	0.277	0.027	0.026	2.605	3.243 5.449 3.712	1.003 2.626	1.037 1.522	1.087 1.527	1.193 0.990	0.989 0.636 0.794
mitogen activated protein kinase 14 protein tyrosine phosphatase. receptor type. K tripartie morif protein 24 tripartite motif protein 24 hepatic nuclear factor 4. alpha	ring finger protein 13 Z-DNA binding protein 1	SH3-binding kinase 1 nuclear receptor subfamily 3. group C. member 1	DNA segment. Chr 4. Wayne State University 53. expressed syndecan 1	regulator of calcineurin 2 transferrin receptor	Wristed gastrutation normoog 1 (Drosophila) prolactin receptor prolactin receptor prolactin receptor	solute carrier organic anion transporter family. member 1a1	solute carrier organic anion transporter family. member 1a1 solute carrier family 25. member 30	solute carrier family 25. member 30	solute carrier family 25. member 30 translocator of inner mitochondrial membrane 44	ATP-binding cassette. sub-family G (WHITE). member 2 ATP-binding cassette. sub-family G (WHITE). member 2 aquaporin 3 solute carrier family 13 (sodium-dependent dicarboxylate	transporter), member 3 solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter. y+	system), member 2 solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter. y+	ATP-binding cassette. sub-family (ABCI), member 1 ATP-binding cassette. sub-family A (ABCI), member 1 hospitatidvleholine transfer protein	adaptor-related protein complex 3. mul subunit solute carrier family 9 (sodium/hydrogen exchanger), member 8 solute carrier organic anion transcorter family member 1h2	solute carrier family 39 (zinc transporter). member 14	ATP-binding cassette. sub-family D (ALD). member 2	cDNA sequence BC014805	cDNA sequence BC014805	leucine rich repeat containing 16	cDNA sequence BC024137 sushi domain containing 4 RIKEN cDNA 2810430F07 come	Rab9 effector protein with kelch motifs RIKEN cDNA 1110004E09 gene	RIKEN cDNA 2810474019 gene tuffelin 1	protein kinase domain containing, cytoplasmic PRP6 pre-mRNA splicing factor 6 homolog (yeast)	armadillo repeat containing, X-linked 3 RIKEN cDNA C330006A16 gene	t-complex-associated-testis-expressed 1-like transmembrane protein 98 COX15 homolog. cytochrome c oxidase assembly protein (yeast)
Mapk14 Piprk Trim24 Trim24 Hnf4a	Rnf13 Zbp1	Sbkl Nr3c1	D4Wsu53e Sdc1	Rcan2 Tfrc	1 wsg1 Prir Prir Prir	Slcolal	Slco1a1 Slc25a30	Slc25a30	Slc25a30 Timm44	Abcg2 Trpo3 Aqp9 Slc13a3	Slc7a2	Slc7a2	Abcal Abcal Pctv	Ap3m1 Slc9a8 Slc01b2	Slc39a14	Abcd2	BC014805	BC014805	Lrrc16	BC024137 Susd4 2810430F02Rik	Rabepk 1110004E09Rik	2810474019Rik Tufil	AW548124 Prpf6	Armcx3 C330006A16Rik	Tcte11 Tmem98 Cox15
											prod	ans T									snoəu	ella:	SIM		

unknown unknown unknown	involved in different signal cascades (e. g. Ras, Rho) involved in Notch signaling pathway, functions as a tumor suppressor cation transport protein	cation transport protein organic anion transporter 6
BC027108 NM_024208 BB549335	BM950003 AK005544 AB056443	AB056443 NM_134256
70561 67856 319263	57874 20338 236293	236293 171405
1427050_at 1418862_at 1435635_at	1452427_s_at 1453559_a_at 1451635_at	1425222_x_at 1419751_x_at
0.72 0.018 0.0174	0.024 0.0051 0.147	0.216 0.395
2.196 1.255 2.380	2.380 3.001 0.639	0.647 1.869
0.0024 0.00013 0.0018	0.0025 0.0014 6.776E-05	0.0044 0.0049
0.457 0.457 0.454	0.347 0.344 0.196	0.124 0.023
0.987 0.014 0.471	0.307 0.731 0.026	0.0102 0.0025
$1.004 \\ 0.574 \\ 1.080$	0.826 1.033 0.125	0.080 0.042
thioredoxin domain containing 16 enoyl Coenzyme A hydratase domain containing 3 protein-L-isoaspartate (D-aspartate)-O-methyltransferase domain	protein tyrosine phosphatase-like A domain contraining 1 Sel1 (suppressor of lin-12) 1 homolog (C. elegans) hypothetical protein D630002G06/RIKEN cDNA C730048C13	gene hypothetical protein D630002G06 cDNA sequence AB056442
Txndc16 Echdc3 Pcmtd1	Ptp11 Sel1h C730048C13Rik	D630002G06 AB056442

G	
14.	
0	
1S(
ō	
В	
le	
n	
n	
Ш	
ale	
Ë	
fe	
q	
te	
ea	
÷	
Ė	
d	
an	
, ,	
Зe	
ij	
ef	
>	
Ξ.	
n	
.10	
SS	
ore	
X	
e	
lin	
ľ	
ob	
Ъ.	
Ĩ	
nu	
n	
Ξ.	
of	
ø	
- b C	
lai	
Cł.	
nt	
Jei	
at	
'n	
er	
Ч	
Š	
Je	
ab	
E	

Gene Symbol	Gene name	Affymetrix probe ID	Entrez Gene	Representative public ID	${\rm T}_{\rm imm}/{\rm T}$	C _{imm} /C	T _{imm} /C _{imm}
Igh-Ia	Immunoglobulin heavy chain 1a (serum IgG2a)	1425385_a_at	380793	BC018365	63.357	81.407	0.778
Ighg	Immunoglobulin heavy chain (gamma polypeptide) 1	424631_a_at	380794	BC025447	15.352	26.282	0.584
Ighg	Immunoglobulin heavy chain (gamma polypeptide)	1426174_s_at	380794	S69212	22.000	15.166	1.451
Igh-4	Immunoglobulin heavy chain 4 (serum IgG1)	1427756_x_at	16017	M60430	6.288	10.917	0.576
Igk-V21	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 21 (V21)-12	1425738_at	243469	M35669	35.847	36.946	0.970
Igk-V8	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 8 (V8)	1452463_x_at	16071	BG966217	42.483	22.036	1.928
Igk-V28	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 28 (V28)	1452417_x_at	16114	AV057155	20.766	12.164	1.707
Igk-V28	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 28 (V28)	1427455_x_at	16114	BI107286	19.485	11.834	1.647
Igk-V28	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 28 (V28)	1427660_x_at	16114	BC013496	16.433	10.359	1.586
Igk-V32	Immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 32 (V32)	1427837_at	16116	U25103	6.322	8.255	0.766
Igl-VI	Immunoglobulin lambda chain, variable 1	1424931_s_at	16142	M94350	7.978	5.303	1.504
Igj	Immunoglobulin joining chain	1424305_at	16069	BC006026	11.266	10.306	1.093
IgM	Immunoglobulin heavy chain (V7183 family)	1460423_x_at	381774	U29768	15.316	8.979	1.706
Igh-6	Immunoglobulin heavy chain 6 (heavy chain of IgM)	1427870_x_at	16017	K00686	3.928	7.456	0.527
Igh-6	Immunoglobulin heavy chain 6 (heavy chain of IgM)	1425247_a_at	16017	BC008237	2.639	3.650	0.723

ne	
mu	
l in	
ated	
tre	
Ļ	
anc	
cle-	
ehia	
v bi	
n an	
sior	
ores	
exp	
ene	
້ ເ	
pati	
hej	
on	
tion	
fec	
<i>li</i> in	
ана	
hab	
C	
of <i>l</i>	
ect	
Eff	
e 3	
abl	iice
[-	Ц

Gene symbol	Gene name	Entrez gene	Affymetrix probe ID	Tinf/Timm	Cinf/Cimm
2		þ			
Saa2	serum amyloid A 2	20209	1449326_x_at	8.794	7.639
Saal	serum amyloid A 1	20208	1419075_s_at	4.282	4.478
Saal	serum amyloid A 1	20208	1450788_at	3.827	4.365
Orm2	orosomucoid 2	18406	1420438_at	2.893	4.233
Acnat2	acyl-coenzyme A amino acid N-acyltransferase 2	209186	1425150_at	2.688	0.884
Tencl	tensin like C1 domain-containing phosphatase	209039	1452264 at	0.458	0.916
Adamts5	a disintegrin-like and metallopeptidase (reprolysin type) with thrombospondin type 1 motif, 5	100048332	1422561_at	0.488	0.912
Nt5e	5' nucleotidase, ecto	23959	1422974_at	0.485	0.889
Atoh8	atonal homolog 8 (Drosophila)	71093	1426418_at	0.480	0.839
Lipg	lipase, endothelial	16891	1421262_at	0.380	0.564
Lipg	lipase, endothelial	16891	1450188_s_at	0.395	0.517
Txnl1	thioredoxin-like 1	53382	1459817_at	1.031	0.410

2.6 Disrupted IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability to self-heal-malaria

Background: The pleiotropic cytokine IL-6 is critically involved in the response to malaria. IL-6 signals through a protein complex, which includes the membrane-bound, non-signaling receptor α (IL-6R α) and two signal transducing sgp130 subunits. IL-6R α is mainly expressed on hepatocytes, neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes. On the other hand, IL-6 can also act *via* a soluble IL-6R α (sIL-6R α), which is termed trans-signaling, leading also to an activation of a signaling cascade. IL-6 trans-signaling has been investigated in the murine arthritis model resulting in an improvement in systemic arthritis, when IL-6 transsignaling was blocked by using soluble sgp130. In this study, the murine malaria model is used to examine the role of IL-6 transsignaling in lethal outcome of *P. chabaudi* infection.

Methods: Here, we used IL-6R α knockout-mice (IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$) and corresponding control IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice. Female IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ and IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice were challenged with 10⁶ parasitized erythrocytes derived from a highly virulent strain of *P. chabaudi*. ELISA was used to determine circulating levels of IL-6 and sIL-6R α . To induce IL-6 trans-signaling, IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were injected with 8µg, 4µg, and 4µg sIL-6R α on days 1, 4, and 7 after infection, respectively. To reduce IL-6 trans-signaling, IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice were injected with 16µg, 8µg, and 8µg sgp130 on day 1, 4, and 7 after infection. STAT3 phosphorylation was used as an indicator of hepatic IL-6 trans-signaling analyzed by Western-Blots.

Results: Deletion of the IL-6R α gene resulted in approximately 50% self-healing of otherwise lethal *P. chabaudi* malaria. Injection with sIL-6R α during infection in IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ caused lethal outcome of *P. chabaudi* malaria, whereas 40% of IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice injected with sgp130 are able to self-heal these infections. In sIL-6R α -injected IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, the circulating levels of sIL-6R α were raised from non-detectable levels to approximately 70 ng/ml at peak parasitemia on day 8 *p.i.*, whereas the circulating IL-6 is decreased from approximately 0.60 ng/ml to approximately 0.11 ng/ml. In sgp130-injected IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice sIL-6R α levels decline from approximately 200 ng/ml to 120 ng/ml and the IL-6 levels from approximately 0.35 ng/ml to 0.1 ng/ml on day 8 *p.i.*

Conclusion: This study provides first evidence that disruption of IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability of mice to self-heal otherwise lethal malaria.

Disrupted IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability to self-heal malaria

Claudia M. Wunderlich^{1§}, Denis Delić^{2§}, Kristina Behnke², Peter Stroehle¹, Frank Wunderlich^{2,3}, Jens Brüning¹, and F. Thomas Wunderlich^{1,*} ¹Institute for Genetics, Excellence Cluster of the University Cologne, Germany ²Molecular Parasitology, Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University, Duesseldorf, Germany ³Zoology Department, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi-Arabia [§]contributed equally to this work *corresponding author: F. Thomas Wunderlich Institute for Genetics, University of Cologne Email: thomas.wunderlich@uni-koeln.de Phone: +492114704589 Fax: +492214705185

ABSTRACT

Increasing levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6) are associated with increasing morbidity and even lethal outcome of malaria. IL-6 is known to act through both the 'classic-signaling' pathway, i. e. the specificity-determining membrane IL-6 receptor alpha (IL-6R α) and two recruited membrane gp130 to activate the JAK/STAT pathway, and the 'trans-signaling' pathway mediated by the soluble form of IL-6R α (s IL-6R α). To disrupt IL-6 signaling pathways, we created an IL-6R α -deficient mouse by floxing exons 2 and 3 of the IL-6R α gene and its deletion by crossing with Cre-deleter mice. Approximately 50% of these IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice are able to self-heal an infection of otherwise lethal blood-stage malaria of *P. chabaudi*. To induce IL-6 trans-signaling, IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ were injected with sIL-6R α during infection, which causes a lethal outcome. By contrast, when IL-6 trans-signaling in IL-6R α carrying mice is reduced by injecting soluble form of gp130 (sgp130), which binds and inhibits circulating sIL-6R α /IL-6 complexes, approximately 40% of these mice are able to self-heal the infections. Our data demonstrate that IL-6 trans-signaling contributes to a lethal outcome of blood-stage malaria. Possibly, the malaria-induced increase in IL-6 is inactivated by sIL-6R α ,

80

and protective response *per se* is superposed by increasing levels of sIL-6R α /IL-6 complexes, which can interact and the increasing levels of sIL-6R α /IL-6 complexes then activate other cells through their gp130.

Malaria is still a major health problem: about 1.3-2.7 billion people live in malaria-endemic regions, about 300-500 million people suffer from malaria, and mortality is high with about 1-3 million deaths per year, mainly among children below 5 years in sub-Saharan areas (Garcia, 2010; O'Meara *et al.*, 2010). The blood stages of the infectious agent, protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium*, induce both protective and pathologic host responses not yet really understood, however the dysregulations of which are assumed to mainly contribute to malaria morbidity and mortality (Pierce and Miller, 2009).

The pleiotropic cytokine IL-6 is essential for both health and disease in general (Heinrich *et al.*, 2003), and it is also critically involved in the response to malaria. Indeed, evidence has accumulated that circulating levels of IL-6 are increased in patients suffering from mild and severe malaria caused by *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* (Kern *et al.*, 1989; Mshana *et al.*, 1991; Jakobsen *et al.*, 1994; Thuma *et al.*, 1996; Jason *et al.*, 2001; Gourly *et al.*, 2002; Lyke *et al.*, 2004), which can be associated with polyclonal B cell activation (Donati *et al.*, 2004) and hypergammoglobulinemia (Grau *et al.*, 1990). Conversely, decreased IL-6 levels are reported to prevail after anti-malarial treatment (Hugosson *et al.*, 2006), with decreasing hyperpyrexia (Seoh *et al.*, 2003), with decreasing parasitemia (Tabone *et al.*, 1992), and after survival (Sarthou *et al.*, 1997).

The mode of IL-6 action is rather complex (Heinrich *et al.*, 2003; Drucker *et al.*, 2010). IL-6 signals through the membrane IL-6 receptor α (IL-6R α), that requires the recruitment of two chains of the membrane receptor glycoprotein 130 (gp130) for signal transduction to activate the JAK/STAT pathway. This IL-6 'classic-signaling' is restricted to those cells which express IL-6R α on their surface, i. e. hepatocytes and immune cells such as neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages, and lymphocytes. Nevertheless, IL-6 is also able to communicate with all other cells through a process termed IL-6 'trans-signaling', i. e IL-6 can to signal through a naturally occurring soluble IL-6R α (sIL-6R α), which is derived mainly by shedding of the ectodomain of the membrane IL-6R α , and which can bind to membrane gp130 expressed by all cells. Incidentally, this gp130 is also used for signaling by other members of the IL-6 family such as IL-11, IL-27, ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), cardiotrophin-1 (CT-1), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), oncostatin M (OSM), and neurotrophin-1 (NT-1) (Heinrich et al., 2003; Häussinger, 2009). Since the role of IL-6 trans-signaling has not yet been investigated in context with malaria, we have tried to approach this in the mouse malaria model *Plasmodium chabaudi*. First, we have explore a possible role of IL-6Ra in malaria by generating an IL-6Ra-deficient mouse strain on a C57BL/6 background (Fig. 1). The gene encoding the 80 kDa large IL-6Ra consists of 10 exons. IL-6Ra^{FL/FL} mouse were created (Wunderlich et al., 2010), which still carry a functional IL-6Ra gene, but with exons 2 and 3 flanked by loxP sites (Fig. 1A). These mice were then crossed with deleter Cre-mice, and further F1 intercrosses yielded the IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 1A). The disruption of IL-6R α was verified at the DNA-level by Southern Blot analysis and PCR (Fig. 1B, C). As anticipated, no expression of IL-6R α was observed at the protein-level in different tissues of the IL-6R α ^{-/-} mice (Fig. 1D). The IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice do not exhibit any apparent phenotype. In particular, the immune system does not appear to be grossly affected. For instance, the mutant mice exhibit similar numbers of B and T cells in lymph nodes, mesenterial lymph nodes, and the spleen (Fig. S1). Surprisingly, however, the disruption of IL-6Ra becomes evident as an altered responsiveness to malaria. Upon challenge with blood-stage malaria of P. chabaudi (Delić et al., 2010), approximately 50% of the IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice are able to self-heal the infections, while the same infections take a lethal outcome in all IL- $6R\alpha^{FL/FL}$ control mice (Fig. 2A). In both types of mice, the course of infections was the same, i. e. there was an increasing parasitemia during the precrisis phase culminating at peak parasitemia of approximately 50-55% on around day 8 p.i.. Mice then succumb mainly during the subsequent crisis phase, which was characterized by dramatically falling parasitemias (Fig. 2A). The IL- $6R\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice exhibit a continuous elevation of circulating levels of sIL-6Ra during the precrisis phase from approximately 12 ng/ml to 190 ng/ml at peak parasitemia on day 8 p.i. in IL-6Ra^{FL/FL} mice (Fig. 2B), whereas sIL-6R α was not detectable in the IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 2B). Concomitantly, there was a higher increase increase in circulating IL-6 the IL-6R α^{-1} mice than in IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice (Fig. 2B).

Approximately 70% of the circulating IL-6 has been estimated to bind to the sIL-6R α (Gaillard *et al.*, 1999), and the IL-6/sIL-6R α -complex is known to induce IL-6 trans-signaling in all cells via the membrane-bound gp130 (Heinrich et al., 2003; Drucker et al., 2010). It is therefore possible that the *P. chabaudi*-induced increase in circulating endogenous sIL-6R α of the IL-6R α ^{FL/FL} mice indicates an increased IL-6 trans-signaling which contributes to the lethal outcome of malaria. In order to support this view, we have next examined the occurrence of IL-6 trans-signaling. Hepatic STAT3 is a downstream target of IL-6 signaling. At peak parasitemia, STAT3 is phosphorylated in IL-6R α ^{FL/FL} mice, which is higher than that in IL-6R α ^{-/-} mice (Fig. 3A). The latter indicates that STAT3-phosphorylation is apparently not

exclusively activated in response to IL-6 signaling during malaria infection. However, a much stronger STAT3 phosphorylation occurs when 1µg mouse recombinant sIL-6R α is injected *i.p.* in IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice during infection on days 1, 4, and 7 *p.i.*, respectively (Fig. 3A). The injections apparently induced IL-6 trans-signaling. In accordance, the circulating levels of sIL-6R α were raised from non-detectable levels to approximately 70 ng/ml at peak parasitemia on day 8 *p.i.*(Fig. 3B), and, coincidently, the circulating IL-6 is decreased from approximately 0.6 ng/ml to approximately 0.11 ng/ml. Importantly, however, all IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice injected with sIL-6R α succumb to malaria during the crisis phase (Fig. 3C). Though parasitized erythrocytes appear earlier in the sIL-6R α -injected IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 3C) than in the non-treated mice (Fig. 2A), parasitemia in both group of mice was maximal on around day 8 *p.i.* and its percentage was not significantly altered (Fig. 2C).

Besides the sIL-6R α , there exists also a soluble gp130 (sgp130), which is derived by shedding of the ectodomain from the membrane gp130 (Heinrich et al., 2003; Knüpfer & Preiss, 2008). This sgp130 is able to bind the IL-6/sIL-6R α -complex and, thus, to inhibit IL-6 trans-signaling (Knüpfer & Preiss, 2008). In order to further substantiate a critical role of IL-6 trans-signaling in the outcome of malaria, we have also attempted to reduce IL-6 transsignaling in the IL-6R α expressing mice. Thus, we have *i.p.* injected IL-6R α ^{FL/FL} mice with mouse recombinant sgp130 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, United States) in doses of 16 µg, 8 µg, and 8 µg during of infection on days 1, 4, and 7 p.i., respectively. This schedule caused the endogenous sIL-6R α to decline from approximately 200 ng/ml to 120 ng/ml and the IL-6 from approximately 0.35 ng/ml to 0.1 ng/ml on day 8 p.i. (Fig. 3D). Also, this schedule lowers STAT3 phosphorylation in the liver (Fig. 3A). Obviously, the injected sgp130 binds at least some of the endogenous sIL-6Ra and lowers IL-6 trans-signaling. Under these conditions, approximately 40% of the P. chabaudi challenged mice survived the infection (Fig. 3E). The injected sgp130 slightly affected the course of infections: peak parasitemia of approximately 30 % occurred one day earlier than in non-treated IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ (Fig. 3E vs. Fig. 2A). This report is the first that provides unequivocal evidence for IL-6 trans-signaling as to promote a lethal outcome of *P. chabaudi* malaria in mice. Indeed, IL-6 trans-signaling is critically responsible for about 40-50% of the mortality induced by P. chabaudi malaria and its disruption augments the ability of mice to self-heal the malarial infections. This selfhealing ability has been previously shown to be under control of both genes of the H2complex and genes of the non-H2 background (Wunderlich et al., 1988; 1991; Foote et al., 1997; Roberts et al., 2001). The efficacy of these genes-mediated protective host responses is apparently superposed by the counteracting IL-6 trans-signaling. Currently, we consider the

following explanation as to be plausible. The sIL-6R α levels continuously increase during malaria, which appears to be induced by the preceding malaria-induced increase in the circulating IL-6. This represents *per se* a 'beneficial'response of the host, since it is to inactivate overshooting of IL-6. However, this protective host response becomes harmful with the continuous elevation of IL-6/sIL-6R α -complexes causing increased IL-6 trans-signaling, which in turn increasingly activates those mechanisms and cells, respectively, which promote harmful pathologic conditions thus raising morbidity and mortality to malaria.

Finally, our data appear to be also relevant for human malaria. Indeed, the few data currently available indicate that sIL-6R α levels directly correlate with severity of malaria caused by *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* (Wenisch et al., 1999). This also emphasizes that the development of an efficient anti-malaria vaccine will become more complicated than hitherto assumed. For, the vaccine has to be designed such that it intervenes in the complex process of IL-6 trans-signaling, the extent of which presumably varies among individuals, for example due to prevailing inflammatory and/or infectious diseases.

References

- 1. B. D. Akanmori, S. Kawai, M. Suzuki, Parasite Immunol. 18, 193 (1996).
- 2. J. L. Baptista, G. Vanham, M. Wéry, E. van Marck, Trop. Med. Int. Health 2, 673 (1997).
- 3. J. M. Dayer, E Choy, Rhematol. 49, 15 (2010).
- 4. D. Delić et al., Infect. Immun. 78, 1642 (2010).
- 5. D. Donati et al., Infect. Immun. 72, 5412 (2004).
- 6. C. Drucker, J. Gewiese, S. Malchow, J. Scheller, S. Rose-John, *J. Autoimmun.* **34**, 29 (2010).
- 7. S. J. Foote et al., Nat. Genet. 17, 380 (1997).
- 8. J. Gaillard et al., Eur. Cytokine Netw. 10, 337 (1999).
- 9. L. S. Garcia, Clin. Lab. Med. 30, 93 (2010).
- 10. I. S. Gourley, J. D. Kurtis, M. Kamoun, J. J. Amon, P. E. Duffy, J. Infect. Dis. 186, 1007 (2002).
- 11. G. E. Grau et al., J. Exp. Med. 172, 1505 (1990).
- 12. P. C. Heinrich et al., Biochem. J. 374, 1 (2003).
- 13. E. Hugosson, S. M. Montgomery, Z. Premji, M. Troye-Blomberg, A. Björkman, *Acta Trop.* **99**, 75 (2006).

- 14. P. H. Jakobsen et al., Infect. Immun. 62, 4374 (1994).
- 15. J. Jason et al., Clin. Immunol. 100, 208 (2001).
- 16. C. J. Kern, Hemmer, J. van Damme, H. J. Gruss, M. Dietrich, Am. J. Med. 87, 139 (1989).
- 17. H. Knüpfer, R. Preiss, Immunol. Cell Biol. 86, 87 (2008).
- 18. J. Krücken et al., Infect. Immun. 73, 436 (2005).
- 19. J Krücken et al., Infect. Immun. 73, 6390 (2005).
- 20. K. E. Lyke et al., Infect. Immun. 72, 5630 (2004).
- 21. R. N. Mshana, J. Boulandi, N. M. Mshana, J. Mayombo, G. Mendome, *J Clin Lab Immunol* **34**, 131 (1991).

22. O'Meara, J. N. Mangeni, R. Steketee, B. Greenwood, *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 10, 545, (2010).

- 23. S. K. Pierce, L. H. Miller, J. Immunol. 182, 5171 (2009).
- 24. C. W. Roberts, W. Walker, J. Alexander, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 14, 476 (2001).
- 25. R. Rosa et al., J. Parasitol. 85, 956 (1999).
- 26. J. M. Saïssy et al., Presse Med 23, 1426 (1994).
- 27. J. L. Sarthou et al., Infect. Immun. 65, 3271 (1997).
- 28. J.-Y. Seoh et al., Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 68, 102 (2003).
- 29. M. D. Tabone et al., Immunology 75, 553 (1992).
- 30. P. E. Thuma, G. Weiss, M. Herold, V. R. Gordeuk, Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 54, 164 (1996).
- 31. C. Wenisch, K. F. Linnau, S. Looaresuwan, H. Rumpold, J. Infect. Dis. 179, 747 (1999).
- 32. F. Wunderlich, H. Mossmann, M. Helwig, G. Schillinger, *Infect. Immun.* 56, 2400 (1988).

33. F. Wunderlich, P. Marinovski, W. P. M. Benten, H. P. Schmitt-wrede, H. Mossmann, *Parasite Immunol.* **13**, 357 (1991).

34. F. T. Wunderlich et al., Cell Metab. 12, 237 (2010).

Figure legends

Fig. 1 Generation of IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. (A) The IL-6R α gene comprises 10 exons. The exons 2 and 3 were flanked by loxP-sites to create the IL-6R α^{FL} allele, as detailed recently (Wunderlich *et al.*, 2010). Mice carrying the IL-6R α^{FL} allele were crossed with deleter-Cre mice to yield knock out mice termed IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ on a C57BL/6 background. (B) Southern

blot analysis of Bg11-digested DNA isolated from tails reveals the 6.3 kb FL allele using the radioactively labeled probe indicated in (A), while the Cre-mediated recombination of the loxP-flanked exons 2 and 3 resulted in the 4.3 kb allele (cf. A); us = unspecific band. (C) Confirmation of mouse genotypes of DNA isolated from tail biopsies from IL- $6R\alpha^{FL/FL}$, IL- $6R\alpha^{-/-}$ and corresponding heterozygous genotypes using PCR with 5'-CCG-CGG-GCG-ATC-GCC-TAG-G-3',5'-CCA-GAG-GAG-CCC-AAG-CTC-TC-3' and 5'-TAG-GGC-CCA-GTT-CCT-TTA-T-3' primers. (D) Western blot analysis of different tissues of IL- $6R\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice and IL- $6R\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. We used the polyclonal rabbit anti-serum sc-660 from Santa Cruz biotechnologies for IL- $6R\alpha$ as primary antibodies, anti-rabbit antibody linked with HRP as secondary antibody and the anti-rabbit AKT polyclonal antibody for the loading control AKT. ECL solutions (Amersham) were used for development of the HRP-coupled antibodies.

Fig. S1 Flow cytometric analysis of B- and T-cells in different lymphoid organs of IL- $6R\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice and IL- $6R\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. Spleens, mesenterial lymph nodes (LN) and axial lymph nodes (LN) were aseptically removed from mice. Single cell suspensions were labeled with anti-CD19 and anti-TCR- β monoclonal antibodies and measured in a FACS calibur. FACS dotblots are representative for three different mice and numbers indicate percentage of total cells.

Fig. 2 Response of IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ and IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice to *P. chabaudi* malaria. (A) Outcome and course of blood-stage infections after challenge with 10⁶ *Plasmodium chabaudi*infected erythrocytes. The IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice succumb to infection, mainly during the crisis phase after reaching peak parasitemia. However, approximately 50% of the IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice are able to self-heal the same infections. (B) Circulating levels of sIL-6R α and IL-6. At different time points during infection, sIL-6R α and IL-6 in blood plasma were determined using the commercially available mouse IL-6 and mouse sIL-6R α ELISA kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA). Stars indicate significant differences (p < 0.01) as evaluated using two-way ANOVA with Dunnett and Bonferoni post-hoc-tests using the statistical package program SPSS version 17.0.

Fig. 3 Effects of sIL-6R α and sgp130 on *P. chabaudi*-infected mice. IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ and IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were challenged with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes. (A) To activate IL-6 trans-signaling, IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were *i.p.* injected with commercially available mouse recombinant 1 µg sIL-6R α (R&D Systems, Europe, UK) during infection on days 1, 4, and 7 *p.i.*, respectively. To reduce IL-6 trans-signaling IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice were treated with 16, 8, and 8µg sgp130 during infection on days 1, 4, and 7, respectively. Liver tissue of mice

was subjected to Western blotting using anti-phosphotyrosine STAT3 antibody (Cell Signaling #9145), anti-STAT3 antibody (Cell Signaling #4904) as primary antibodies and anti-rabbit HRP-coupled antibody as detecting secondary antibody.

(B) Effect of sIL-6R α in IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. The mice were *i.p.* injected with 1µg sIL-6R α (R&D Systems, Europe, UK) three times during infection as in (A) and sIL-6R α and IL-6 levels in blood plasma of at least three different mice were determined on day 0 and day 8 *p.i.*, respectively, by commercially available ELISA kits (R&D systems, Minneapolis, USA). Significance was evaluated using Student's t-test (p < 0.01). (C) Outcome and parasitemia of *P. chabaudi* in IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice injected with sIL-6R α as in (A).

(D) Effect of sgp130 in IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice. Mice infected with *P. chabaudi* were *i.p.* injected sgp130 (R&D Systems Europe, UK) as in (A). On day 0 and 8 *p.i.*, sIL-6R α and IL-6 were determined in blood plasma by ELISA (R&D systems, Minneapolis, USA). Significance was evaluated using Student's t-test (p < 0.01). (E) Outcome and parasitemia of infections in IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice injected with sgp130 at different time-points during infection (arrows).



Figure 1







Figure 3



Figure S1

2.7 Protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver

Background: To date all efforts to develop a malaria vaccine have failed, reflecting the still fragmentary knowledge about protective mechanisms against malaria. For instance, it is not yet really understood which changes have to be activated by a protective vaccination in the anti-malaria effectors spleen and liver. In order to find such changes, we have compared Balb/c mice succumbing to infection with *Plasmodium chabaudi* with those surviving after vaccination.

Methods: Mice were vaccinated with host cell plasma membranes isolated from *P. chabaudi*injected erythrocytes. Hepatic and splenic capacity to trap particulate material was determined after injection of fluorescent polystyrol beads. Hepatic gene expression was measured using quantitative real-time PCR and Northern blotting.

Results: Survival of Balb/c mice was raised from 0% to 80% and peak parasitemia was decreased by about 30% by vaccination. Vaccination boosted particle trapping capacity of the liver during crisis when splenic trapping is minimal due to spleen 'closing'. Also, malaria-induced inflammation is attenuated, thus diminishing severe damages and hence liver failure. Vaccination increased hepatic IFN γ production but mitigated acute phase response. Vaccination has a complex influence on infection-induced changes in expression of hepatic nuclear receptors (CAR, FXR, RXR, and PXR) and of the metabolic enzymes Sult2a and Cyp7a1. Although vaccination decreased CAR mRNA levels and prevented Cyp7a1 suppression by the CAR ligand 1,2-bis [2-(3,5-dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene (TCPOBOP) on day 8 *p.i.*, Sult2a-induction by TCPOBOP was restored.

Conclusion: These data support the view that the liver is an essential effector site for a vaccine against blood stage malaria: vaccination attenuates malaria-induced inflammation thus improving hepatic metabolic activity and particle trapping activity of the liver.

Research

Open Access

Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria Jürgen Krücken^{*1}, Denis Delić², Heike Pauen², Anna Wojtalla², Manal El-Khadragy², Mohamed A Dkhil^{2,3}, Horst Mossmann⁴ and Frank Wunderlich²

Address: ¹Institute for Parasitology, University of Veterinary Medicine Foundation, Bünteweg 17, Hannover, Germany, ²Division of Molecular Parasitology and Centre for Biological and Medical Research, Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany, ³Zoology Department, College of Science, King Saud University, Saudi Arabia and ⁴Max Planck Institute for Immunobiology, Freiburg, Germany

Email: Jürgen Krücken* - juergen.kruecken@tiho-hannover.de; Denis Delić - denisdelic@aol.com; Heike Pauen - HeikePauen@gmx.de; Anna Wojtalla - Anna.Wojtalla@kispi.uzh.ch; Manal El-Khadragy - manalelkhadragy@yahoo.com; Mohamed A Dkhil - mohameddkhil@yahoo.com; Horst Mossmann - mossmann-h@web.de; Frank Wunderlich - frank.wunderlich@uniduesseldorf.de

* Corresponding author

Published: 2 April 2009

Malaria Journal 2009, 8:54 doi:10.1186/1475-2875-8-54

This article is available from: http://www.malariajournal.com/content/8/1/54

© 2009 Krücken et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: 13 November 2008 Accepted: 2 April 2009

Abstract

Background: To date all efforts to develop a malaria vaccine have failed, reflecting the still fragmentary knowledge about protective mechanisms against malaria. In order to evaluate if vaccination changes responses of the anti-malaria effectors spleen and liver to blood stage malaria, BALB/c mice succumbing to infection with *Plasmodium chabaudi* were compared to those surviving after vaccination.

Methods: Mice were vaccinated with host cell plasma membranes isolated from *P. chabaudi*infected erythrocytes. Hepatic and splenic capacity to trap particulate material was determined after injection of fluorescent polystyrol beads. Hepatic gene expression was measured using realtime RT-PCR and Northern blotting.

Results: Survival of BALB/c mice was raised from 0% to 80% and peak parasitaemia was decreased by about 30% by vaccination. Vaccination boosted particle trapping capacity of the liver during crisis when splenic trapping is minimal due to spleen 'closing'. It also attenuated malaria-induced inflammation, thus diminishing severe damages and hence liver failure. Vaccination increased hepatic IFN- γ production but mitigated acute phase response. Vaccination has a complex influence on infection-induced changes in expression of hepatic nuclear receptors (CAR, FXR, RXR, and PXR) and of the metabolic enzymes Sult2a and Cyp7a1. Although vaccination decreased CAR mRNA levels and prevented Cyp7a1 suppression by the CAR ligand 1,2-bis [2-(3,5-dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene (TCPOBOP) on day 8 p.i., Sult2a-induction by TCPOBOP was restored.

Conclusion: These data support the view that the liver is an essential effector site for a vaccine against blood stage malaria: vaccination attenuates malaria-induced inflammation thus improving hepatic metabolic activity and particle trapping activity of the liver.

Background

Despite intense efforts to develop a vaccine against malaria during the last 30 years, a safe and effective vaccine candidate is not yet available [1]. One reason for this failure may be that knowledge about the effector sites and mechanisms that have to be activated for successful protection is still rather incomplete. Moreover, natural immunity to malaria underlies rather complex control. It is directed against the blood stages of Plasmodium parasites, but it is never solid, i.e. it mitigates and can even completely abolish disease symptoms, but it does not prevent re-infections during malaria seasons [2,3]. In an experimental malaria model, Plasmodium chabaudi in rodents, a vaccination model has been previously developed that resembles natural immunity in so far that it helps susceptible mice to survive an otherwise lethal blood stage infection without preventing parasitaemia [4]. This vaccination model uses host cell plasma membranes of P. chabaudi-parasitized red blood cells (pRBC) as an immunogen. These erythrocyte membranes contain several parasite proteins [5,6] the functions of which have remained unknown to date, including a major immunogenic P. chabaudi protein Pc90 against which most of the antibodies induced by this type of vaccination are directed [4]. This vaccination model is used here to further study the effector sites and mechanisms, which have to be activated to survive blood stage infections.

The spleen is widely considered to be the central effector site of the host defence against blood stage malaria [7,8], and it is thought to destroy pRBC by the same mechanisms which normally remove senescent and other aberrant erythrocytes from circulation [9]. Basically, pRBC are eliminated by macrophages in the red pulp areas of the spleen, specifically in extravascular beds through which blood is percolated before reaching the collecting veins. This open circulation and, hence, the direct contact between pRBC and macrophages, has been described to become 'closed' during acute P. chabaudi malaria or at least transiently closed during acute Plasmodium yoelii 17XNL [10,11] and P. chabaudi adami malaria [12]. However, it is possible that vaccination prevents - at least partially - this 'closing' mechanism, thus enabling the spleen to destroy pRBC during crisis when parasitaemia is dramatically falling.

The liver is another important effector site against blood stage malaria, though research in this field is largely neglected to date [13,14]. Indeed, research concentrates on the role of the liver in the pre-erythrocytic development of parasites. However, the liver, although not exhibiting any extravascular beds as the spleen, is also able to phagocytose senescent erythrocytes [15,16] and pRBC [17,18]. In particular, the intravascular Kupffer cells, which constitute about 80–90% of all resident macro-

phages of the reticuloendothelial system [19], are competent for erythrophagocytosis. In *P. chabaudi* malaria it has been recently shown that the liver improves its trapping capacity, especially during crisis of self-healing infections, i.e. that phase, when the spleen is 'closed' [13,20]. However, the effect of protective vaccination on liver trapping capacity has never been investigated to date.

Here, protective vaccination against blood stages of *P. chabaudi* is shown to convert non-healer BALB/c mice to self-healer mice. This vaccination-induced self-healing coincides with an augmented trapping capacity of the liver – but not of the spleen – especially during crisis, when parasitaemia drops from more than 50% to about 1% or even below. Furthermore, vaccination boosts production of IFN- γ and strongly attenuates inflammation and promotes recovery of liver metabolism from infection-induced dysregulation during crisis.

Methods

Mice

BALB/c mice were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions in the central animal facilities at the Max-Planck-Institute for Immunobiology in Freiburg and at the University of Düsseldorf. Experiments were performed only with female mice at an age of 10–14 weeks. They were housed in plastic cages and received standard diet (Wohrlin, Bad Salzufeln, Germany) and water *ad libitum*. In some experiments, mice received 60 µg of the synthetic CAR ligand 1,2-bis [2-(3,5-dichloropyridyloxy)] benzene (TCPOBOP) in 100 µl DMSO by intraperitoneal injection 24 h before they were killed for isolation of RNA. All experiments were approved by the state authorities and followed German law on animal protection.

Infections

A non-clonal line of *P. chabaudi* was used which behaves very similarly to *P. chabaudi chabaudi* AS in terms of restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis [14]. Also, the AS clone and the line used here reveal sequence identity for dihydrofolate reductase and for a cysteine protease [21] with only a single nucleotide exchange in the latter (Krücken and Wunderlich, unpublished data). Blood stages of *P. chabaudi* were weekly passaged in NMRI mice [14,22]. BALB/c mice were challenged with 10⁶ *P. chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes by intraperitoneal injection. Parasitaemia was evaluated in Giemsa-stained blood smears. Total erythrocytes were counted in a Neubauer chamber.

Vaccination

Mice were vaccinated with a modified procedure that has been developed previously [4]. As an immunogen, host cell plasma membranes were used which were isolated in the form of ghosts from *P. chabaudi*-pRBC as described elsewhere [23]. About 10^6 ghosts in 100μ l FCA were subcutaneously injected twice, three weeks and one week before challenging with *P. chabaudi* pRBC. Controls received plasma membranes in the form of ghosts from non-infected erythrocytes in FCA or only FCA.

Flow cytometry

Spleens were processed for flow cytometry in a FACScan (BD Biosience) as detailed previously [14]. After aseptic removal, spleens were gently dissociated through a stainless steel sieve into RPMI medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 5% foetal calf serum (PAA Laboratories). After lysis of erythrocytes by NH₄Cl, total leukocytes were counted in a Neubauer chamber. Leukocytes were preincubated with anti-CD16/CD32 (FcIII/II receptor) FC block (BD Bioscience) for 15 min and then labelled with one of the following FITC-labelled monoclonal antibodies: anti-mouse CD45R/B220 (clone RA3-6B2), anti mouse CD4 (H129.19), anti-mouse CD8a (53-6.7), antimouse CD244.2 (2B4), anti-mouse Br1 (RB6-8C5) (all BD Bioscience), and anti-mouse F4/80 (C1:A3-1) (Immunokontact). FACS analyses were done with a sample size of 10.000 cells gated on the basis of forward and sideward scatter [24]. Data were stored and processed using Cell Quest Pro software (BD Bioscience).

Trapping capacity

Trapping of 3 µm green fluorescent polystyrol beads (Ducke Scientific corporation, Palo Alto, California) was measured according to the procedure described recently [13,20]. Particles were intravenously injected, mice were killed 5 min later, spleens and parts of livers were removed, weighed and then incubated in ethanolic KOH, to which 5×10^5 red fluorescent beads (diameter 2.9 μ m) were added as an internal standard. The samples were incubated until complete tissue resolution before fluorescence of beads was measured in a spectrometer (Perkin Elmer LS 55, Germany) at excitation/emission wavelengths (450/480) and (520/590) for green and red beads, respectively. For localization of beads [20], cryosections of spleen and liver were stained with haematoxilin and eosin. Fluorescence and bright field pictures of the same field were take separately and superimposed electronically.

RNA-Isolation

Spleens and liver pieces were aseptically removed, rapidly frozen, and stored in liquid N₂. Total RNA was isolated using Trizol (Invitrogen).

Northern blot analysis

Total RNA (20 μ g) was glyoxylated, separated in agarose gels, and transferred to positively charged Biodyne7PLUS nylon membrane (PALL Corporation, Pensacola, FI) as described previously [25]. Hybridiziation was carried out

with cDNA fragments labelled with $[\alpha^{32}P]dCTP$ using the DecaLabelTM DNA Labeling Kit (Fermentas) in ExpressHyb solution (Clontech) at 65°C overnight [26]. Blots were washed at 65°C twice for 15 min in 2 × SSC, 0.1% SDS and twice for 30 min in 0.1 × SSC, 0.1% SDS, and subjected to autoradiography at -80°C using Biomax MS film and screen (Kodak). For densitometric analyses, autoradiographs were scanned and evaluated using QuantiScan 3.0 software (Biosoft, Cambridge, UK).

Quantitative real-time RT-PCR

Contaminating genomic DNA was removed from total RNA by digestion with DNase using the DNA-free™ kit (Ambion). Then, cDNA was synthesized using the QuantiTect[®] Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen) which includes an additional step to remove contaminating genomic DNA. Amplifications were performed in a TagMan7500 (AppliedBiosystems) using QuantiTect[™] SYBR[®] Green PCR kit (Qiagen) and gene-specific QuantiTect[™] primer assays (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Following an initial incubation at 50°C for 2 min, Taq polymerase was activated by incubation at 95°C for 10 min. During the following 55 cycles made up of 15 s at 95°C, 35 s at 60°C, and 30 s at 72°C, the amount of double stranded PCR product was measured as SYBR green fluorescence at the end of the extension phase. All PCR reactions yielded only a single product species of the expected size as revealed by melting point analysis and gel electrophoresis. Relative quantitative evaluation of amplification data was done using Taqman7500 system software v.1.2.3f2 (AppliedBiosystems) and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta c}$ method [27]. Expression of the genes of interest was compared to 18S rRNA.

Statistical analyses

Differences between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice were analysed using Student's t tests.

Results

Protective vaccination

The vaccination procedure used here converts mice from a non-healer to a self-healer phenotype, i.e. it prevents mortality, but it does not prevent parasitaemia [4]. Indeed, female BALB/c mice are highly susceptible to *P. chabaudi* malaria. Challenge with $10^6 P$. *chabaudi*-parasitized erythrocytes resulted in a peak parasitaemia of approximately 58% on day 7 p. i. (Figure 1). Though the following crisis was characterized by falling parasitaemia, all mice succumbed to infection during this period. Vaccination, however, protected BALB/c mice against otherwise fatal *P. chabaudi* malaria. Indeed, more than 80% of these mice survived the infection (Figure 1). Vaccination did not prevent parasitaemia, but peak parasitaemia was significantly decreased to 42%, which dropped during crisis to about 1% and in individual mice to even below 1% on



Figure I

Vaccination-induced protection against *P. chabaudi* **malaria**. BALB/c mice were vaccinated with ghosts from pRBC (+ vacc (pG); n = 18) or were not vaccinated (- vacc (untreated); n = 8) or were treated with ghosts from noninfected erythrocytes in FCA (nG; n = 8), or treated only with FCA (FCA; n = 17), before challenging with 10⁶ pRBC. All values are means and half standard errors of the mean (S.E.M.). **, p < 0.01, *, p < 0.05 vs. peak parasitaemia in vaccinated mice. The crisis phase (days 8–13 p.i.) is accentuated in grey.

day 13 p.i. (Figure 1). Mice vaccinated with erythrocyte ghosts from non-infected mice were not protected, i.e. all mice succumbed to infection during crisis. The same was observed in control mice, which received only FCA. Remarkably, blood glucose level, anaemia, and percentage of reticulocytes in the blood did not significantly differ between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice (Additional file 1).

Particle trapping by liver and spleen

Though vaccination did not directly affect spleen size in terms of weight, there was an indirect effect on size, which became evident upon infection. Thus, increase in splenic weight of vaccinated mice was about twice as much as in non-vaccinated mice (Figure 2A). In the latter, average spleen weight rose from about 130 mg on day 0 to about 660 mg on day 8 p.i. Infection of vaccinated mice resulted in a dramatic increase to more than 1,200 mg per average spleen on day 8 p.i. (Figure 2B). On day 0 p.i., vaccination already induced a significantly increased proportion (Figure 3A) and absolute number (Figure 3B) of phagocytes in

the spleen, i.e. frequency of Gr1⁺ granulocytes increased by about 75% and that of F4/80⁺ macrophages increased by about 40% (Figure 3). This vaccination-induced increase in phagocytes was retained during infection. However, the frequency of different lymphoid cell populations was not significantly altered by vaccination with the exception of B220⁺ B cells showing a significant but temporary increase in absolute number on day 4 p.i. (Figure 3B).

In preliminary experiments, particle trapping by spleen and liver was analysed by fluorescence microscopy after injection of 3 µm fluorescent beads. Splenic cryosections, taken on day 0 p.i., clearly show trapping of beads predominantly in the marginal zone of the spleen that was lost around peak parasitaemia (Figure 2A) as described previously for C57BL/6 mice [20]. Hepatic sections reveal a more or less uniform distribution of trapped beads in the liver on days 0 and 8 p.i., however, on day 11 p.i. beads appear to be restricted predominantly to regions with large distance to the central veins (Figure 2A). The cryosections were insufficient to resolve whether trapped beads have been directly phagocytosed by macrophages, adhere to the surface of phagocytic cells or are passively trapped in the organs. Incidentally, paraffin sectioning was not possible since all solvents used for dewaxing the sections did also dissolve the beads.

Since number of beads varied considerably between slides a more quantitative method employing dissolution of tissues by ethanolic KOH followed by fluorescence spectroscopy was used to look for differences in particle trapping between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice. Despite the increase in the frequency of phagocytic cells in the spleen, vaccination did not significantly affect the specific capacity of the spleen to trap particles - neither before nor during infection. After injection of 3 µm fluorescent polystyrol beads, approximately 2.2 × 10⁵ particles/100 mg spleen were trapped in non-vaccinated mice and about the same number in vaccinated mice before infection (Figure 2B). On day 4 p.i., trapping capacity remained at about the same level as before, but at peak parasitaemia on day 8 p.i., there was a dramatic reduction in particle trapping both in vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice (Figure 2B).

Obviously, the entry of particles into the spleen was largely prevented at peak parasitaemia. This so-called 'closing' of the spleen lasted during the major part of crisis and, only at the end of crisis, a slight 'reopening' began in vaccinated mice, but the spleen re-gained its initial trapping capacity only on day 36 *p.i.* – if at all (Figure 2B). Despite the enormous malaria-induced splenomegaly in vaccinated mice, total splenic uptake of fluorescent beads



Figure 2

Splenic and hepatic particle trapping during P. chabaudi malaria. (A) Localization of 3 μ m green fluorescent beads in splenic and hepatic cryosections of non-vaccinated BALB/c mice. The scale bar represents 200 μ m. (B) Quantification of splenic and hepatic trapping. BALB/c mice were vaccinated (+vacc) or not vaccinated (-vacc) and then were challenged with 10⁶ pRBC. Parasitaemia, spleen weight, and total number of beads per spleen, and numbers of beads per 100 mg spleen or liver are given as means ± S.E.M. The crisis phase (days 8–13 p.i.) is accentuated in grey. ***, p < 0.001 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. *, p < 0.05 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i.

was not significantly higher during crisis. However, splenomegaly resulted in rapid recovery of total splenic trapping capacity after crisis.

Since preliminary tests had shown that there were no significant effects of vaccination or *P. chabaudi* infection on liver weight, trapping capacity was only determined for pieces of liver and no total liver trapping capacity was determined. In contrast to spleen, specific trapping capacity per 100 mg liver was significantly affected by vaccination, which became evident upon infection during crisis (Figure 2B). Indeed, vaccination did neither affect the size of the liver nor modify the capacity of the liver to trap particles before infection. On day 4 p.i., there was an increase



Figure 3

Cellular composition of the spleen during P. *chabaudi* **malaria**. Vaccinated (black columns) and non-vaccinated (gray columns) mice were infected with 10⁶ P. *chabaudi* pRBC and spleen cells were isolated on the days indicated. The frequency (A) and total number (B) of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, F4/80⁺ macrophages, Gr1⁺ granulocytes, B220⁺ B cells, and CD244⁺ NK cells among nucleated spleen cells are given as means + half S.E.M. **, p < 0.01 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. *, p < 0.05 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i.

in the trapping capacity of the liver, but on day 8 p.i., there was a decline to about the initial trapping capacity with no difference between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice (Figure 2B). During crisis, particle trapping further dropped in non-vaccinated control mice, whereas vaccinated mice exhibited a sharp increase in their capacity to trap particles in the liver and this increase further progressed reaching a maximum on day 14 p.i., i.e. shortly after crisis (Figure 2B).

Liver inflammation

In order to detect possible effects of vaccination on inflammatory and immune responses in the liver, realtime RT-PCR was used to measure the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF, and IL-6 and the T_H1 cytokine IFN- γ , which is protective against *P. chabaudi* malaria [28-30]. The mRNA levels of these cytokines followed a biphasic pattern in non-vaccinated mice during infection, with a first peak on day 1 p.i. and a second peak on day 8 p.i. (Figure 4). After vaccination, infection induced a large increase in expression of IFN- γ especially on days 1 and 8 p.i., whereas vaccination dampened the infection-induced increases in mRNA levels for the proinflammatory cytokines IL1- β , TNF, and IL-6 – in particular around peak parasitaemia. Kupffer cells are a well-known source of these cytokines in the liver suggesting strong Kupffer cell



Figure 4

Real-time RT-PCR analysis of cytokines, iNOS,

andarginase (ARG) in the liver. Expression was analysed in hepatic RNA from vaccinated (circles) and non-vaccinated (triangles) mice on the indicated days after challenging with *P. chabaudi*. Signals for genes of interest were normalized to 18S rRNA signals and relative expression is given as fold increase compared to non-vaccinated mice on day 0 p.i. All values are mean and half S.E.M. ***, p < 0.001 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. *, p < 0.01 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. *, p < 0.05 vs. non-vaccivaccinated control on the same day p.i.

activation in non-vaccinated mice during malaria. In accordance, mRNA levels of iNOS, marker for M1 macrophages, also exhibited a biphasic expression pattern in response to infection, whereas induction of iNOS by *P. chabaudi* malaria is largely depressed in vaccinated mice (Figure 4). Arginase, a marker for alternatively activated M2 macrophages, followed about the same expression profile as iNOS although at much lower levels.

In the liver, the above proinflammatory cytokines are especially known to induce acute phase and other innate immune responses. Expression profile of two acute phase proteins and one proinflammatory chemoattractant were, therefore, compared between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice. Similar to the cytokines, total serum amyloid A (SAA) followed a biphasic kinetic during infection in non-vaccinated mice (Figure 5). Vaccination, however, abolished this biphasic pattern due to decreased expression, especially on days 8 and 11 p.i. By contrast, C-reactive protein (CRP) and the CXC chemokine ligand CXCL10 were activated only in the early phase of precrisis, i.e. on days 1 and 4 p.i., and their induction by infection was largely prevented by vaccination.

Liver metabolism

IL-1β, TNF and IL-6 are also well known to depress liver metabolism by interfering with expression of key nuclear receptors regulating expression of hepatocyte-specific metabolic enzymes [31-35]. Therefore, mRNA levels of five members of the nuclear receptor family were examined by real-time RT-PCR. Infection caused a transiently increased expression of RXR, FXR, CAR, PXR, and VDR in non-vaccinated mice, however, expression dramatically dropped during crisis on day 11 p.i (Figure 6). In contrast, vaccinated mice initially showed increased mRNA levels of these receptors before infection (day 0 p.i.), whereas infection down-regulated their expression on days 1, 4 and 8 p.i. (Figure 6). Surprisingly, however, these receptors were significantly up-regulated again during crisis. By the end of crisis, there was an almost complete recovery of RXR, FXR, and CAR to those levels induced by vaccination before infection, whereas PXR and VDR were significantly higher expressed (Figure 6).



Figure 5

Northern blot analyses of inflammatory markers in the liver. Hepatic RNA isolated from *P. chabaudi*-infected vaccinated (+ vacc) or non-vaccinated (-vacc) mice on the days indicated was hybridized to probes recognizing all isoforms of SAA, CRP, or CXCLI10 before reprobing with an 18S rRNA-specific probe. Blots are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 6

Real-time RT-PCR analyses of nuclear receptor expression in the liver. Levels of RXR, FXR, CAR, PXR, and VDR mRNA were analysed in hepatic RNA of vaccinated (circles) and non-vaccinated (triangles) mice on the indicated days after *P. chabaudi* infection. Signals were normalized to 18S rRNA and relative expression is given as fold increase compared to non-vaccinated mice on day 0 p.i. All values are mean and half S.E.M. **, p < 0.01 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. *, p < 0.05 vs. non-vaccinated control on the same day p.i. Rapid destruction of pRBC is expected to lead to highly elevated levels of cholesterol-derived toxic bile acids and haem-derived bilirubin. Since CAR is involved in regulation of both bile acid detoxification [36] and bilirubin elimination [37], CAR activity during malaria is of particular interest. Expression of the positive and negative CAR response genes Sult2a and Cyp7a1 involved in bile acid detoxification and cholesterol degradation to bile acids, respectively, were measured by real-time RT-PCR. These analyses confirmed suppression of Sult2a mRNA levels by blood stage malaria in BALB/c mice on days 8 and 11 p.i. (Figure 7A) as previously shown in C57BL/6 and LT β R^{-/-} mice [13,38]. Vaccination, however, increased Sult2a1 mRNA levels by approximately two- and tenfold on days 0 and 8 p.i., respectively (Figure 7A). Cyp7a1 was severely down-regulated on days 8 and 11 p.i., whereas vaccination already induced expression on day 0 p.i. In contrast to Sult2a1, however, infection strongly intensified Cyp7a1 down-regulation in vaccinated mice (Figure 7A).

In order to test directly, whether elevated CAR mRNA levels on day 8 p.i. correspond to higher hepatic receptor activity, mice were challenged with TCPOBOP, a nuclear receptor ligand known to up-regulate Sult2a [39] and to down-regulate Cyp7a1 [40] via activation of CAR. Figure 7B clearly shows that treatment with TCPOBOP approximately doubles Sult2a1 mRNA levels in both vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice on day 0 p.i. Surprisingly, nonvaccinated mice on day 8 p.i. did not show any TCPOBOP-inducibility, but rather displayed TCPOBOPinduced suppression of Sult2a1 levels. This suppression is not observable in vaccinated mice, which maintained inducibility of Sult2a1 by TCPOBOP (Figure 7B), although they exhibited lower expression of the TCPOBOP receptor CAR (Figure 6). In order to substantiate these very unusual results, these experiments were not only confirmed three times with new groups of mice but also using Northern blotting (Figure 7C) to exclude any errors due to quantification by PCR.

TCPOBOP-regulation of Cyp7a1 expression revealed an exactly reciprocal effect. As expected, TCPOBOP suppressed expression of Cyp7a1 in non-vaccinated mice on days 0 and 8 p.i. and in vaccinated mice on day 0 p.i. (Figure 7B). In contrast, however, Cyp7a1 mRNA levels were elevated in vaccinated mice on day 8 p.i. after treatment with TCPOBOP. Therefore, negative regulation of Cyp7a1 was restricted to non-vaccinated mice with high CAR mRNA levels, while positive regulation of Sult2a by TCPOBOP was only observable in vaccinated mice with low CAR mRNA levels.

Discussion

The vaccination model under investigation here protects mice against blood stages of *P. chabaudi* malaria. It does



Figure 7

Effects of vaccination on malaria-induced suppression of SULT2a and CYP7a1. (A) Analysis of hepatic SULT2a1 and CYP7a1 expression on the indicated days of P. chabaudi malaria in vaccinated (triangles) and non-vaccinated (circles) mice by real-time RT-PCR. Signals were normalized to 18S rRNA signals and relative expression is given as fold increase compared to non-vaccinated mice on day 0 p.i. All values are means and half S.E.M. (B) Analysis of TCPOBOP effects on expression of SULT2a1 and CYP7a1. Vaccinated (+ vacc) or non-vaccinated (- vacc) mice were subjected to injection of TCPOBOP (grey columns) or vehicle (black columns) before analysis of SULT2a1 and CYP7a1 expression on the indicated days of P. chabaudi infection using real-time RT-PCR as in (A). (C) TCPOBOP effects on expression of SULT2a were confirmed by Northern blotting. Blot is a representative of three independent experiments. Equal loading of the blot was confirmed by rehybridization with a probe specific for 18S rRNA.

not prevent parasitaemia, though peak parasitaemia is significantly decreased, but rather helps mice to overcome the disease. Indeed, vaccination converts non-healer to self-healer mice [4]. Self-healing of *P. chabaudi* malaria in turn is known to be associated with acquiring long-lasting protective immunity against homologous re-challenge [41]. This capability is normally controlled by genes of the *H*-2 complex and genes of the non-*H*-2 background [42-44]. The susceptible BALB/c mice exhibit the malaria-'resistant' H-2^{*d*} haplotype, but a malaria-'susceptible' non-*H*-2 background [44]. Hence, the vaccination procedure used here abolishes/overcomes those genetic restrictions which cause susceptibility and which are controlled by mouse non-*H*-2 genes.

Vaccination of BALB/c mice appears to improve the potential phagocytic capacity of the spleen as indicated by a significant increase in the percent proportion of both G1⁺ granulocytes and F4/80⁺ macrophages as well as the concomitant increase in spleen size. Nevertheless, this did not contribute to an increased trapping capacity since the spleen became almost 'closed' during peak parasitaemia and subsequent crisis, when masses of pRBC were destroyed as evidenced by dramatically falling parasitaemias [25]. In contrast to spleen, however, trapping capacity of the liver is augmented after vaccination, especially during crisis. This augmentation is preceded by a remarkable increase in the P. chabaudi-induced production of IFN-γ-mRNA. In accordance, IFN-γ is known to activate the host defence in other malaria vaccination models too [45,46]. This supports the view that the liver can function as an active effector against malarial blood stages, in particular during crisis, when the spleen is 'closed' [20], i.e. when the spleen excludes the uptake of pRBC and, thus, cannot be mechanically involved in the drop of peripheral parasitaemia observed during crisis.

In the liver, the Kupffer cells are important sites for phagocytosis of damaged and senescent erythrocytes [15,16], and phagocytic activity of Kupffer cells during Plasmodium berghei malaria has been described to be increased both in vitro [18] and in perfused livers [17]. The vaccination procedure used here is shown to modulate hepatic inflammation as indicated by altered responses of typical macrophage activation parameters towards to P. chabaudi malaria. Indeed, P. chabaudi infections induce dramatic up-regulations of IL-1β, TNF, IL-6, and iNOS in the nonvaccinated susceptible BALB/c mice. High levels of TNF have been shown to result in lethal hepatic damage during blood stage P. chabaudi malaria [47]. Indeed, the increases in TNF and IL-6 are even about 10-times higher than during lethal endotoxic shock [48]. Also, iNOS expression observed at peak parasitaemia is comparable to that expression occurring during LPS-induced lethal shock [49]. These high levels of proinflammatory cytokines and especially iNOS appear to contribute to severe liver failure, which entails lower particle trapping during crisis. In the vaccination model used here, however, there is a significant dampening of the infection-induced increase in IL-1β, TNF, IL-6 and iNOS, especially observable at peak parasitaemia. This indicates that vaccination does not prevent activation of Kupffer cells and other inflammatory

cells by malaria infection but rather prevents their overactivation and, hence, severe liver failure. In this context, it is also noteworthy that high levels of IL-1 β and TNF prevent efficient phagocytosis by Kupffer cells, reasonably due to impaired hepatic microvascular blood flow by promoting leukocyte adhesion to the walls of sinusoids [50]. Thus, vaccination-induced decreases in the expression of these cytokines, together with the decreased production of the chemoattractant CXCL10, presumably allow improved blood circulation in the liver and enhance contact between Kupffer cells and circulating material thus favouring increased particle trapping in the liver during crisis.

Conspicuously, mRNA levels of iNOS correlate well with those of VDR in both non-vaccinated and vaccinated mice. The mRNAs of iNOS and VDR were strongly up-regulated by P. chabaudi infection during crisis on days 8 and 11 p.i., and vaccination largely prevented this effect. In this context, recent findings are noteworthy that VDR signalling is able to inhibit IFN- γ -induced expression of macrophage activation markers including CXCL10 [51] and mitigates production of toxic nitric oxide by inducing arginase expression which lowers the intracellular pool of the iNOS substrate arginine [52]. In non-vaccinated mice, induction of arginase is presumably only of minor importance since iNOS induction is more than 100-fold stronger than induction of arginase. The up-regulation of VDR by infection in non-vaccinated mice may thus represent an insufficient counter-regulatory response to protect liver tissue from excessive damages due to extreme up-regulation of iNOS producing high NO levels. In vaccinated mice, VDR up-regulation appears to be dispensable since there is only minor induction of iNOS. Although vaccination strongly down-regulates markers for classically activated M1 macrophages such as TNF and iNOS, it does not apparently result in differentiation of macrophages to an alternatively activated M2 phenotype, since arginase as marker for alternatively activated macrophages [53] is even down-regulated by vaccination.

The vaccination-induced attenuation in the inflammatory response of the Kupffer cells appears to have modulatory effects on hepatocyte-based reactions involved in the defence against blood stages of malaria. Indeed, data indicate that vaccination diminishes the infection-induced acute phase response with respect to the CRP- and SAA3proteins. Also, vaccination affects the infection-induced metabolic response with respect to SULT2A1 and CYP7A1, respectively. The phase I enzyme CYP7A1 is involved in cholesterol degradation/bile acid biosynthesis and the phase II enzyme SULT2A1 in the detoxification of bile acids, the latter majorly derived from cholesterol released during destruction of pRBC. At peak parasitaemia, the vaccination-induced elevated levels of SULT2A and decreased levels of CYP7A1 may be, therefore, part of a protective response, which diminishes liver damages due to high levels of toxic bile acids.

Liver metabolism including phase I and II detoxifications are not only regulated by CAR, but also by other nuclear receptors such as FXR, PXR, and RXR. Here, it is shown that these nuclear receptors are also responding to both challenge-infection and vaccination due to cytokines released by Kupffer cells. Conspicuously, the nuclear receptors PXR, FXR, RXR, CAR, and VDR are significantly up-regulated during crisis after vaccination, while nonvaccinated mice exhibit a down-regulation. However, the results concerning CAR activation with TCPOBOP show that mRNA levels of nuclear receptors are not predictive for hepatic metabolic capacity during blood stage malaria. The expression of SULT2A and CYP7A1 is known to respond positively and negatively to CAR activation, respectively. Direct testing of CAR receptor function by treating non-vaccinated mice with TCPOBOP revealed that both P. chabaudi infection and vaccination altered CAR functionality on day 8 p.i. In non-vaccinated mice, Sult2a was no longer up- but even down-regulated by TCPOBOP on day 8 p.i. Vaccination prevented Sult2a down-regulation and retained its inducibility by TCPOBOP. Surprisingly, however, vaccination also abolished TCPOBOP-mediated down-regulation of Cyp7a1 on day 8 p.i. and even caused induction of Cyp7a1 by TCPOBOP. At peak parasitaemia, vaccination apparently promotes up-regulation of gene expression by CAR and, concomitantly, interferes with down-regulation. The simplest explanation for this complex response pattern is that CAR interacts with different cofactors, which determine whether it acts as a transcriptional activator or repressor. Characterization of such cofactors in the future will help to identify pathways leading to liver dysfunction in malaria and thus provide important information for prophylactic and therapeutic interventions.

Conclusion

The improvement of hepatic trapping and metabolic capacity in protectively vaccinated mice support the previous view that the liver has an effector function against blood stage malaria – at least during acute infection. This effector function can be strengthened by vaccination due to dampening the production of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF, and IL-6 by Kupffer cells. Moreover, the data presented here suggest that the efficacy of a human anti-malaria vaccine can be improved by including anti-inflammatory components protecting the liver from overwhelming inflammatory responses.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

JK, HM, and FW designed the study. JK and FW planned and supervised all experiments and drafted the manuscript. DD and HP performed real-time RT-PCR analyses, AW did Northern blot experiments, MEK and MD did particle trapping experiments. All authors were involved in revising the manuscript and approved the final version.

Additional material

Additional file 1

Additional figure. Diagram showing blood glucose level, anaemia, and percentage of reticulocytes in the blood between vaccinated and non-vaccinated mice.

Click here for file

[http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/supplementary/1475-2875-8-54-S1.pdf]

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Andrea Grunwald and Predrag Marinovski for extraordinary technical assistance.

References

- Epstein JE, Giersing B, Mullen G, Moorthy V, Richie TL: Malaria vaccines: are we getting closer? Curr Opin Mol Ther 2007, 9:12-24.
- 2. Schofield L, Mueller I: Clinical immunity to malaria. Curr Mol Med 2006, 6:205-221.
- Yazdani SS, Mukherjee P, Chauhan VS, Chitnis CE: Immune responses to asexual blood-stages of malaria parasites. Curr Mol Med 2006, 6:187-203.
- Wunderlich F, Brenner HH, Helwig M: Plasmodium chabaudi malaria: protective immunization with surface membranes of infected erythrocytes. Infect Immun 1988, 56:3326-3328.
- 5. Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Speth V: Cryptic disposition of antigenic parasite proteins in plasma membranes of erythrocytes infected with Plasmodium chabaudi. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 1988, **30:**55-65.
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Speth V, Wiser MF: Expression of the parasite protein Pc90 in plasma membranes of erythrocytes infected with Plasmodium chabaudi. Eur J Cell Biol 1988, 47:157-164.
- Chotivanich K, Udomsangpetch R, McGready R, Proux S, Newton P, Pukrittayakamee S, Looareesuwan S, White NJ: Central role of the spleen in malaria parasite clearance. J Infect Dis 2002, 185:1538-1541.
- 8. Engwerda CR, Beattie L, Amante FH: The importance of the spleen in malaria. *Trends Parasitol* 2005, 21:75-80.
- Tablin F, Chamberlain JK, Weiss L, Bowdler AJ: The Microanatomy of the Mammalian Spleen: Mechanisms of Splenic Clearance. In The Complete Spleen: A Handbook of structure, function and clinical disorders 2nd edition. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press Inc; 2007:11-21.
- Weiss L: Mechanisms of splenic control of murine malaria: cellular reactions of the spleen in lethal (strain 17XL) Plasmodium yoelii malaria in BALB/c mice, and the consequences of pre-infective splenectomy. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1989, 41:144-160.
- 11. Weiss L: Barrier cells in the spleen. Immunol Today 1991, 12:24-29.
- 12. Alves HJ, Weidanz W, Weiss L: The spleen in murine Plasmodium chabaudi adami malaria: stromal cells, T lymphocytes, and hematopoiesis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1996, **55:**370-378.
- Krücken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RM, El Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, Mossmann H, Wunderlich F: Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. Infect Immun 2005, 73:436-443.

- 14. Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El Khadragy M, Borsch E, Hermsen D, Benten WPM, Pfeffer K, Mossmann H, Krücken J: Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin á receptor-deficient mice resistant to blood-stage malaria. Microbes Infect 2005, 7:399-409.
- 15. Bosman GJ, Willekens FL, Werre JM: Erythrocyte aging: a more than superficial resemblance to apoptosis? Cell Physiol Biochem 2005. 16:1-8.
- 16. Naito M, Hasegawa G, Ebe Y, Yamamoto T: Differentiation and function of Kupffer cells. Med Electron Microsc 2004, 37:16-28.
- Nobes MS, Ghabrial H, Simms KM, Smallwood RB, Morgan DJ, Sewell 17. RB: Hepatic Kupffer cell phagocytotic function in rats with J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002, erythrocytic-stage malaria. 17:598-605.
- 18. Murthi P, Kalionis B, Ghabrial H, Dunlop ME, Smallwood RA, Sewell RB: Kupffer cell function during the erythocytic stage of malaria. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006, 21:313-318. Bilzer M, Roggel F, Gerbes AL: Role of Kupffer cells in host defense and liver disease. Liver Int 2006, 26:1175-1186.
- 19.
- Krücken J, Mehnert LI, Dkhil MA, El-Khadragy M, Benten WP, Moss-mann H, Wunderlich F: Massive destruction of malaria-parasit-20 ized red blood cells despite spleen closure. Infect Immun 2005, 73:6390-6398.
- Perkins SL, Sarkar IN, Carter R: The phylogeny of rodent malaria 21. parasites: simultaneous analysis across three genomes. Infect Genet Evol 2007, 7:74-83.
- 22. Wunderlich F, Stübig H, Königk E: Development of Plasmodium chabaudi in mouse red blood cells: structural properties of the host and parasite membranes. J Protozool 1982, 29:60-66.
- Wunderlich F, Schillinger G, Helwig M: Fractionation of Plasmo-23. dium chabaudi -infected erythrocytes into parasites and ghosts. Z Parasitenkd 1985, 71:545-551.
- Benten WPM, Bettenhaeuser U, Wunderlich F, Van Vliet E, Mossmann H: Testosterone-induced abrogation of self-healing of Plasmodium chabaudi malaria in BIO mice: mediation by spleen cells. Infect Immun 1991, 59:4486-4490.
- Krücken J, Epe M, Benten WP, Falkenroth N, Wunderlich F: Malariasuppressible expression of the anti-apoptotic triple GTPase mGIMAP8. / Cell Biochem 2005, 96:339-348.
- Krücken J, Schroetel RM, Müller IU, Saidani N, Marinovski P, Benten 26. WPM, Stamm O, Wunderlich F: Comparative analysis of the human gimap gene cluster encoding a novel GTPase family. Gene 2004, 341:291-304.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD: Analysis of relative gene expression 27 data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2 - ŽŽ C T Method. Methods 2001, 25:402-408.
- Meding SJ, Cheng SC, Simon-Haarhaus B, Langhorne J: Role of 28 gamma interferon during infection with Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi. Infect Immun 1990, 58:3671-3678.
- Favre N, Ryffel B, Bordmann G, Rudin W: The course of Plasmo-29. dium chabaudi chabaudi infections in interferon-gamma receptor deficient mice. Parasite Immunol 1997, 19:375-383.
- Balmer P, Alexander J, Phillips RS: Protective immunity to eryth-30 rocytic Plasmodium chabaudi AS infection involves IFNgamma-mediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. Parasitology 2000, 121(Pt 5):473-482.
- 31. Kim MS, Shigenaga J, Moser A, Feingold K, Grunfeld C: Repression of farnesoid X receptor during the acute phase response. J Biol Chem 2003, 278:8988-8995.
- 32. Kim MS, Shigenaga J, Moser A, Grunfeld C, Feingold KR: Suppression of DHEA sulfotransferase (Sult2A1) during the acutephase response. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2004, 287:E731-E738.
- 33. Pascussi JM, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Pichard-Garcia L, Daujat M, Fabre JM, Maurel P, Vilarem MJ: Interleukin-6 negatively regulates the expression of pregnane X receptor and constitutively activated receptor in primary human hepatocytes. Biochem Bio-phys Res Commun 2000, 274:707-713.
- Pascussi JM, Dvorak Z, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Assenat E, Maurel P, Vilarem MJ: Pathophysiological factors affecting CAR gene expression. Drug Metab Rev 2003, 35:255-268.
- Teng S, Piquette-Miller M: The involvement of the pregnane X 35. receptor in hepatic gene regulation during inflammation in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005, 312:841-848.

- Eloranta JJ, Kullak-Ublick GA: Coordinate transcriptional regula-36. tion of bile acid homeostasis and drug metabolism. Arch Biochem Biophys 2005, 433:397-412.
- 37. Huang W, Zhang J, Chua SS, Qatanani M, Han Y, Granata R, Moore DD: Induction of bilirubin clearance by the constitutive androstane receptor (CAR). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003, 100:4156-4161.
- Krücken J, Braun JV, Dkhil MA, Grunwald A, Wunderlich F: Deletion 38 of LTBR augments male susceptibility to Plasmodium chabaudi. Parasite Immunol 2005, 27:205-212.
- Wagner M, Halilbasic E, Marschall HU, Zollner G, Fickert P, Langner 39 C, Zatloukal K, Denk H, Trauner M: CAR and PXR agonists stimulate hepatic bile acid and bilirubin detoxification and elimination pathways in mice. Hepatology 2005, **42:**420-430. Miao J, Fang S, Bae Y, Kemper JK: Functional inhibitory cross-talk
- 40. between constitutive androstane receptor and hepatic nuclear factor-4 in hepatic lipid/glucose metabolism is mediated by competition for binding to the DRI motif and to the common coactivators, GRIP-I and PGC-Ialpha. J Biol Chem 2006, 281:14537-14546.
- Wunderlich F, Benten WP, Bettenhaeuser U, Schmitt-Wrede HP, 41. Mossmann H: Testosterone-unresponsiveness of existing immunity against Plasmodium chabaudi malaria. Parasite Immunol 1992, 14:307-320.
- Foote SJ, Burt RA, Baldwin TM, Presente A, Roberts AW, Laural YL, 42. Lew AM, Marshall VM: Mouse loci for malaria-induced mortality and the control of parasitaemia. Nat Genet 1997, I7:380-381.
- Fortin A, Stevenson MM, Gros P: Complex genetic control of susceptibility to malaria in mice. Genes Immun 2002, 3:177-186.
- 44. Wunderlich F, Mossmann H, Helwig M, Schillinger G: Resistance to Plasmodium chabaudi in B10 mice: influence of the H-2 complex and testosterone. Infect Immun 1988, 56:2400-2406.
- Scorza T, Grubb K, Cambos M, Santamaria C, Tshikudi MD, Spithill 45. TW: Vaccination with a Plasmodium chabaudi adami multivalent DNA vaccine cross-protects A/J mice against challenge with P. c. adami DK and virulent Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi AS parasites. Int J Parasitol 2008, 38:819-827
- Petritus PM, Burns JM Jr: Suppression of lethal Plasmodium yoe-46. lii malaria following protective immunization requires antibody-, IL-4-, and IFN-gamma-dependent responses induced by vaccination and/or challenge infection. | Immunol 2008, 180:444-453.
- Seixas E, Oliveira P, Moura Nunes JF, Coutinho A: An experimental 47 model for fatal malaria due to TNF-alpha-dependent hepatic damage. Parasitology 2008, 135:683-690.
- Cuesta N, Salkowski CA, Thomas KE, Vogel SN: Regulation of 48 lipopolysaccharide sensitivity by IFN regulatory factor-2. Immunol 2003, 170:5739-5747.
- Bultinck J, Sips P, Vakaet L, Brouckaert P, Cauwels A: Systemic NO 49. production during (septic) shock depends on parenchymal and not on hematopoietic cells: in vivo iNOS expression pattern in (septic) shock. FASEB J 2006, 20:2363-2365.
- Matsumoto Y, Ito Y, Hayashi I, Majima M, Ishii K, Katagiri H, Kakita A: 50. Effect of FRI6 a novel inhibitor of tumor necrosis factor-à and interleukin-lá synthesis on lipopolysaccharide-induced hepatic microvascular dysfunction in mice. 17:411-415. Shock 7653,
- 51. Helming L, Bose J, Ehrchen J, Schiebe S, Frahm T, Geffers R, Probst-Kepper M, Balling R, Lengeling A: Ialpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a potent suppressor of interferon gamma-mediated macrophage activation. Blood 2005, 106:4351-4358.
- Ehrchen J, Helming L, Varga G, Pasche B, Loser K, Gunzer M, Sun-52. derkotter C, Sorg C, Roth J, Lengeling A: Vitamin D receptor signaling contributes to susceptibility to infection with Leishmania major. FASEB J 2007, 21:3208-3218. Raes G, Beschin A, Ghassabeh GH, De Baetselier P: Alternatively
- 53. activated macrophages in protozoan infections. Curr Opin Immunol 2007, 19:454-459.
3. General discussion

3.1 Relevance of 'environmental factors' for the outcome of *Plasmodium* chabaudi malaria

Female mice are able to self-heal blood-stage malaria infections with *P. chabaudi*, which is under control by genes of the *H-2* complex and genes of the non-*H-2* background (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b, 1991). These gene-controlled mechanisms of resistance do not become evident in male mice, which are highly susceptible and always succumb to malarial infections presumably due to the immunosuppressive activity of testosterone (T) (Seli & Arici 2002). Obviously, T superposes the efficacy of the resistance-mediating genes and ultimately leads to a suppression of the development of protective immunity.

T is known to exert its functions on gene expression through the classical intracellular androgen receptor (AR), a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily (Evans 1988, Chen 2008). However, the suppressive effect of T on the development of protective immunity in *P. chabaudi*-infected mice is mediated neither through the classical AR (Benten *et al.* 1992a) nor – after conversion of T to estradiol – through the intracellular estrogen receptor (Benten *et al.* 1993). Remarkably, T is also able to act through non-genomic mechanisms (Benten *et al.* 2004, Rahman & Christian 2007), as other steroids too. Such 'non-genomic' T signaling has been shown in different immune cells such as splenic T cells and macrophages of mice. This becomes evident as increases in intracellular free Ca²⁺ concentrations (Benten *et al.* 1997, 1999 a, b, Wunderlich *et al.* 2002), which cross-talk with gene expression induced by other signaling pathways (Guo *et al.* 2002).

This study also emphasizes that T acts through AR-independent non-genotropic mechanisms because the majority of protein-encoding target genes and miRNA-target genes, we have identified in the liver after T-treatment, do not contain androgen-response elements in their promoter regions. Moreover, it is possible that still unknown non-genotropic mechanisms are responsible for the T effect, which may even operate following a primarily direct genotropic T action and which may be parts of larger regulatory circuits, as e. g. the hypothalamus-pituitary-gland-liver axis (Gustafsson 2005, Waxman & Holloway 2009). Possibly, T induces changes in the epigenome because steroid hormones are known to induce

long-lasting chromatin remodeling through epigenetic mechanisms, as e. g. DNA methylation and/or covalent modifications of histones (Grunstein 1997, Goldberg *et al.* 2007, Waxman & Holloway 2009). Such epigenetic changes associated with a reprogramming of gene expression can reasonably explain that the suppressive action of T causing lethal malaria is not transient, but rather persists for a rather long time, even after withdrawal of T for 12 weeks (Delić *et al.* 2010a).

Moreover, this study describes two other new endogenous 'environmental factors', namely taurine and IL-6 trans-signaling, which are involved in the outcome of *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. Taurine has been previously identified as an important organic osmolyte in liver parenchymal, endothelial Kupffer and stellate cells with impact for immune functions such as phagocytosis and cytokine production (Warskulat *et al.* 1997, Weik *et al.* 1998, Peters-Regehr *et al.* 1999). A reduction of about 50% of the circulating taurine is found after deletion of the *taut* gene, which encodes the taurine transporter (TAUT), and these decreased levels are even lowered another 25% at peak parasitemia suggesting that *P. chabaudi*-induced lethal outcome in *taut*^{-/-} mice is related to taurine deficiency. It has to be emphasized that the deletion of *taut* is not lethal *per se*, but rather its consequences, i. e. lowered taurine levels and a breakdown of taurine homeostasis.

The cytokine IL-6 has been demonstrated to correlate with severity of human malaria infections (Kern *et al.* 1989, Jason *et al.* 2001, Lyke *et al.* 2004), but its action is not yet really understood. Here, we show that the lethal effect of IL-6 is exerted through uncontrolled IL-6 trans-signaling. Disruption of IL-6 trans-signaling protects from malaria-induced lethality as evidenced by an approximately 50% survival of IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice of otherwise self-healing malaria. In corresponding control mice, which still carry the IL-6R α gene (IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$), sIL-6R α levels are increased during an infection with *P. chabaudi*. Injection of sIL-6R α in IL-6R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice induces IL-6 trans-signaling, which results in a lethal outcome to malaria. On the other hand, when IL-6 trans-signaling is reduced in IL-6R $\alpha^{FL/FL}$ mice by injecting sGP130, 40% of mice survive the infection. These results are consistent with reports indicating that sIL-6R α levels directly correlate with severity of human malaria caused by *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* (Wenisch *et al.* 1999). On the base of these findings, novel interventions may become feasible for treatment of human malaria in future.

3.2 The liver as a tastosterone-target and anti-malaria effector site

The liver is known as a lymphoid organ generating both innate and adaptive immune reactions (Häussinger et al. 2004, Crispe 2009) and as to play a central role in malaria. Indeed, the liver is not only that site in which the pre-erythrocytic development of malaria parasites takes place (Mehlhorn 2008), but also appears to be an important effector against malarial blood-stages (Balmer et al. 2000, Krücken et al. 2005). For instance, specific populations of lymphocytes have been described to be generated in the liver, which mediate novel protective immune mechanisms against malaria blood-stages in the mouse (Mannoor et al. 2001, 2002). Also, activated Kupffer cells are apparently able to eliminate, via phagocytosis, parasite-derived residual material and even Plasmodium-infected erythrocytes (Taverne et al. 1987, Delić et al. 2010b) as already recognized by Aikawa et al. as early as (1980). Moreover, the importance of the liver as a prominent effector site against blood-stage malaria has been recently also demonstrated in lymphotoxin β receptor-deficient mice (Wunderlich et al. 2005). These mice are devoid of secondary lymphoid tissues and their spleen is defect (Fütterer et al. 1998, Fu & Chaplin 1999), but they are rather resistant to malaria, i. e. they are able to self-heal blood-stage infections with P. chabaudi (Wunderlich et al. 2005).

The liver is also known as a T-target organ, in particular its sexual dimorphism with its sex- and T-dependent pattern of gene expression involved in liver metabolism (Gustafsson 2005, Waxman & Holloway 2009). Thus, male and female mice express genes differently including those which are involved in phase I and phase II metabolism. Also, the male pattern of gene expression of the liver can be altered by lowering T levels, as e. g. by castration, and this pattern can be restored by T replacement (Kato & Onada 1970). First hints for short-term T effects on hepatic gene expression have been previously shown for 9 genes out of 299 genes tested, as e. g. for genes encoding plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI1) and sulfotransferase 2A2 (SULT2A2) are deregulated by T (Krücken *et al.* 2005).

The data presented in this thesis suggest that T dysregulates the liver function which may impair its differentiation to an anti-malaria effector. Indeed, this view is supported by the following findings:

Firstly, T-induced conversion of mice from resistance to susceptibility is persistent even after 12 weeks of T treatment, which is associated with T-induced reprogramming of hepatic gene expression. Using Affymerix microarray technology, 54 genes have been identified to be 105 persistently deregulated by T. The majority of these genes show a strong persistent pattern of 'masculinization' of the phase I-III liver metabolism evidenced as a persistent T-induced down-regulation of some female-prevalent genes such as Cyp2b9, Cyp2b13, Cyp3a41, Cyp3a44, Fmo3, Sult2a2, Sult3a1, and BC014805, and an up-regulation of some maleprevalent genes such as Cvp2d9, Cvp7b1, Hsd3b5, Ugt2b1, Ugt2b38, and Slco1a1, respectively (Delić et al. 2010a). This T-induced reprogramming of genes involved in liver metabolism is presumably androgen receptor (AR) - and nuclear receptor-independent, since the promoters of the reprogrammed genes do not contain any androgen response elements (ARE). The expression of genes involved in immune responses such as Ifny and Igk-C is significantly increased and decreased, respectively, by T. IFNy is required for the activation of the $T_{\rm H}$ 1-response. Currently, the view predominates that protective immunity to P. chabaudi malaria is mediated by antibodies (Achtman et al. 2005, 2007) requiring the activation by the T_H 2-response preceded an IFN- γ -dependent activation of the T_H 1-response. The observed T-induced persistent upregulation of IFN- γ may therefore reflect an overactivation of the T_H1-response thus impairing the switch to the T_H2-response. This scenario is further corroborated by previous findings shown that T suppresses the production of biologically active IL-10 (Mossmann et al. 1997), which normally promotes the T_H2response.

Secondly, acquisition of protective immunity against *P. chabaudi* coincides with an acquired unresponsiveness to T. The investigation of the liver transcriptome of immune mice compared to that of naïve mice after 3 weeks of T treatment shows an attenuated responsiveness to T of hepatic gene expression. It is important to note that the T_H2 -promoting *Ehmt2* is downregulated by T only in naïve mice, but not in immune mice. In particular, it is remarkable that the attenuated responsiveness to T of hepatic gene encoding the T-metabolizing HSD3B5 in immune mice than in naïve mice, thus possibly leading to lower concentrations of effective T in the liver of immune mice.

Thirdly, recent reports describe profound and unexpected roles of miRNAs in the control of diverse aspects of the liver, including hepatocyte growth, stress response, metabolism, infection, proliferation, gene expression, and maintenance of hepatic phenotype (Bala *et al.* 2009, Chen 2009, Kerr & Davidson 2009, Wang *et al.* 2009). The present study describes first hints suggesting that hepatic miRNAs play a central role for the T-induced lethal outcome to malaria. T induces the expression of the 6 miRNA-species miR-22, miR-690, 106

miR-122, let-7A, miR-30D, and let-7D, respectively. This T-induced deregulation is widely independent of the AR because *in silico* analyses have revealed an ARE only for miR-122. Since the main action of miRNAs occurs at the post-transcriptional level during the translation process, it is possible that there may be even more effects at the proteome level. Furthermore, there is circumstantial evidence that miRNAs are implicated in an intricate network with the epigenetic machinery. Although we have not detected any persistently deregulated miRNAs after 12 weeks of T withdrawal, it cannot be excluded at the present state of knowledge that the T-deregulated miRNAs are involved in the persistence of T-induced susceptibility to malaria: Once induced, they are able to influence the epigenome, thus inducing persistently deregulated expression of protein-encoding genes. Future work is required to unravel the regulatory circuits of miRNAs described here to be involved in the outcome of *P. chabaudi* malaria.

Fourthly, the liver is found to respond to primary *P. chabaudi* infections with an upregulation of the miRNA-species miR-26b, MCMV-miR-M23-1-5p, and miR-1274a, and a downregulation of the 16 miRNA-species miR-101b, let-7a, let-7g, miR-193a-3p, miR-192, miR-142-5p, miR-465d, miR-677, miR-98, miR-694, miR-374^{*}, miR-450b-5p, miR-464, miR-377, miR-20a^{*}, and miR466d-3p, respectively. Surprisingly, about the same pattern is even sustained in mice having acquired protective immunity and even upon homolog reinfections of such immune mice. The development of protective immunity against malarial blood-stages of *P. chabaudi* correlates with a robust reprogramming of distinct miRNA-species in the female mouse liver. Collectively, these data exhibit a novel regulatory role of hepatic miRNAs in the development of protective immunity to malaria.

3.3 Vaccination against malaria

The concept of a malaria vaccine has sparked great interest for decades, but all efforts to develop an effective malaria vaccine have failed to date. This thesis has also conducted vaccination studies with the *P. chabaudi* model using a previously developed procedure in mice of the inbred strain B10.A (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988b). This procedure uses surface membranes isolated in forms of ghosts from *P. chabaudi*-infected erythrocytes, which contain several parasite-encoded proteins, with Pc90 as the most prominent parasite protein (Wunderlich *et al.* 1988a). This vaccination technique protects Balb/c mice from a lethal outcome to *P. chabaudi* malaria. In the non-vaccinated susceptible Balb/c mice, *P. chabaudi* 107

infections induce extreme upregulations of inflammatory markers such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and iNOS. In accordance, high levels of TNF α have been recently found to be associated with lethal hepatic damage during blood-stage malaria (Seixas *et al.* 2008). Upon vaccination, these inflammatory parameters become downregulated and are not as strongly inducible by *P*. *chabaudi* infections as in non-vaccinated mice. Conspicuously, the protective vaccination is associated with a dampening of the hepatic inflammatory response and an attenuated uptake of injected particles by the liver.

Obviously, the vaccination procedure used here overcomes those restrictions which cause susceptibility. These restrictions encompass both genetic predispositions as well as the described 'environmental factors' such as T, taurine, and IL-6 trans-signaling. Our data reveal that the vaccination leads to an activation and development of protective mechanisms, which apparently correlate with diminished pathological consequences. In particular, vaccination protects the liver from pathological alterations induced by malarial infections. Collectively, the data emphasize that it should be feasible to develop an effective anti-malaria vaccine for humans, possibly by including liver-protecting substances.

4. Summary

Malaria is still a major health problem with 243 million cases of malaria and 863,000 deaths alone in 2008. Malaria morbidity and mortality are presumably due to not yet really understood dysregulations of the host responses induced by the malaria parasites. Using the mouse malaria model *Plasmodium chabaudi*, this thesis provides novel results, which contribute to our still poor understanding of the control of resistance/susceptibility to blood-stage malaria.

Firstly, decreased levels of circulating taurine, achieved by deletion of the taurine transporter gene, re sult in perturbed ta urine homeostasis, which c auses lethal o utcome of otherwise self-healing blood-stage m alaria. Second ly, testo sterone, which supp resses sel f-healing of m alaria, upregulates miRNA expr ession in the female m ouse liv er. Thirdly, the t estosterone-induced persistent lethal effect on malaria is associated with changes in hepatic gene expression such as a masculinization of liv er metabolism and an imp aired antibody response. Fourthly, the hepatic miRNA-signature becomes apparently reprogrammed upon acquisition of p rotective immunity against m alaria. Fifthly, ac quiring testosterone-unresponsive, IgG-antibody-mediated protective immunity to bl ood-stage malaria is associated with ad aptive p ersistent changes in the liver resulting in an attenuated testosterone responsiveness of gene e xpression. Sixthly, disruption of IL-6 tran s-signaling aug ments ab ility of mice to sel f-heal otherwise leth al malaria. Seventhly, protective vaccination against blood-stage malaria overcomes restrictions imposed to self-healing such as genetic predispositions a nd e ndogenous environmental f actors. I ndeed, v accination attenuates m alaria-induced inflammatory respon ses thus improving m etabolic ac tivity a nd particle trapping capacity of the liver.

Collectively, the present data indicate (i) the importance of endogenous environmental factors such as testosterone, taurine and I L-6 trans-signaling for the outcome of malaria, and (ii) the importance of the liver as an anti-malaria effector site, which is more important than hit herto assumed.

5. Zusammenfassung

Malaria ist immer noch eines der größten Gesundheitsprobleme mit 243 Millionen gezählten Fällen und 863.000 Toten allein im Jahre 2008. Die Malaria-Morbidität und -Mortalität basiert wahrscheinlich auf noch nicht wirklich verstandenen Dysregulationen der Wirtsantworten, welche durch die Malaria-Erreger induziert werden. Die vorgelegte Arbeit hat an dem murinen Malaria-Modell *Plasmodium chabaudi* neue Ergebnisse erzielt, die zum bislang noch dürftigen Verständnis von Resistenz bzw. Suszeptibilität gegenüber Infektionen mit Blutstadien der Malaria-Erreger beitragen.

Erstens, erniedrigte Taurin-Level, die durch eine Deletion des Taurintransporter-Gens entstanden sind, resultieren in einer gestörten Taurin-Homöostase, welche wiederum zu einem letalen Ausgang einer andernfalls selbst-heilenden Infektion führt. Zweitens, Testosteron, welches eine Selbst-heilung der Malaria supprimiert, induziert die Expression bestimmter miRNA-Spezies in der Leber weiblicher Mäuse. Drittens, der Testosteron-induzierte letale Effekt auf eine Malariainfektion ist assoziiert mit Veränderungen in der hepatischen Genexpression, die sich u. a. in einem 'maskulinisierten' Lebermetabolismus und einer verzögerten Immunantwort widerspiegeln. Viertens, die hepatische miRNA-Signatur wird offensichtlich nach Erwerb protektiver Immunität gegen Malaria reprogrammiert. Fünftens, die durch Testosteron nicht beeinflussbare erworbene IgG-Antikörper-vermittelte protektive Immunität gegen Malaria ist mit adaptiven, persistenten Veränderungen in der Leber assoziiert, die in einer abgeschwächten Testosteron-empfindlichen Genexpression resultiert. Sechstens, eine Unterdrückung des IL-6 'trans-signaling' erhöht die Fähigkeit der Mäuse eine andernfalls letale Infektion mit dem Malariaerreger zu selbst-heilen. Siebtens, protektive Vakzinierung gegen Malaria überkommt Restriktionen, die normalerweise eine Selbst-heilung unterdrücken, und die durch genetische Faktoren, aber auch durch endogene Faktoren wie Testosteron, Taurin und IL-6 'trans-signaling' verursacht werden. Eine Vakzinierung schwächt die Malaria-induzierte inflammatorische Antwort der Leber ab, so dass die Stoffwechselaktivität und die 'Trapping'-Kapazität der Leber verbessert werden.

Zusammenfassend zeigen die hier präsentierten Daten (i) die Bedeutung von endogenen Faktoren Testosteron, Taurin und IL-6 'trans-Signaling' für den Ausgang einer Malariainfektion, und (ii) die Bedeutung der Leber als Anti-Malaria-Effektor, welche offenbar wichtiger ist als bisher angenommen.

6. References

- Achtman AH, Bull PC, Stephens R & Langhorne J 2005 Longevity of the immune response and memory to blood-stage malaria infection. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* **297** 71–102.
- Achtman AH, Stephens R, Cadman ET, Harrison V & Langhorne J 2007 Malaria-specific antibody responses and parasite persistence after infection of mice with *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi*. *Parasite Immunology* **29** 435–444.
- Aikawa M, Suzuki M & Gutierrez Y 1980 Pathology of malaria, p.47–102. In J. P. Kreier (ed.), *Malaria*, vol. 2. Academic Press, New York, N. Y.
- Bala S, Marcos M & Szabo G 2009 Emerging role of microRNAs in liver diseases. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* **15** 5633–5640.
- Balmer P, Alexander J & Phillips RS 2000 Protective immunity to erythrocytic *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection involves IFNgamma-mediated responses and a cellular infiltrate to the liver. *Parasitology* **121** 473–482.
- Benten WPM, Wunderlich F & Mossmann H 1992a Testosterone-induced suppression of selfhealing *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: an effect not mediated by androgen receptors? *Journal of Endocrinology* **135** 407–413.
- Benten WPM, Wunderlich F & Mossmann H 1992b *Plasmodium chabaudi*: estradiol suppresses acquiring, but not once-acquired immunity. *Experimental Parasitology* **75** 240-247.
- Benten WPM, Wunderlich F, Herrmann R & Kühn-Velten WN 1993 Testosterone-induced compared with oestradiol-induced immunosuppression against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Journal of Endocrinology* **139** 487-494.
- Benten WPM, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW & Wunderlich F 1997 Testosteroneinduced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. *Journal of Endocrinology* **153** 275–281.
- Benten WPM, Lieberherr M, Giese G, Wrehlke C, Stamm O, Sekeris CE, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 1999a Functional testosterone receptors in plasma membranes of T cells. *FASEB Journal* 13 123–133

- Benten WPM, Lieberherr M, Stamm O, Wrehlke C, Guo Z & Wunderlich F 1999b Testosterone signaling through internalizable surface receptors in androgen receptor-free macrophages. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **10** 3113–3123.
- Benten WPM, Guo Z, Krücken J & Wunderlich F 2004 Rapid effects of androgens in macrophages. *Steroids* **69** 585–590.
- Biggs BA, Gooze L, Wycherley K, Wollish W, Southwell B, Leech JH & Brown GV 1991 Antigenic variation in *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences U S A* 88 9171-9174.
- Chen T 2008 Nuclear receptor drug discovery. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* **12** 418–426.
- Chen X 2009 MicroRNA signatures in liver diseases. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* **15** 1665–1672.
- Clough B, Atilola FA, Black B & Pasvol G 1998 The role of rosetting in the multiplication of *Plasmodium falciparum*: rosette formation neither enhances nor targets parasite invasion into uninfected red cells. *British Journal of Haematology* **100** 99-104.
- Crispe IN 2009 The liver as a lymphoid organ. Annual Review of Immunology 27 147-163.
- Delić D, Gailus N, Vohr HW, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishy S & Wunderlich F 2010a Testosteroneinduced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* **45** 379-390.
- Delić D, Warskulat U, Borsch E, Al-Qahtani S, Al-Quraishi S, Häussinger D & Wunderlich F 2010b Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion. *Infection and Immunity* **78** 1642-1649.
- Evans RM 1988 The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240 889-895.
- Foote SJ, Burt RA, Baldwin TM, Presente A, Roberts AW, Laural YL, Lew AM & Marshall VM 1997 Mouse loci for malaria-induced mortality and the control of parasitemia. *Nature Genetics* 17 380-381.
- Fortin A, Cardon LR, Tam M, Skamene E, Stevenson MM & Gros P 2001 Identification of a new malaria susceptibility locus (Char4) in recombinant congenic strains of mice. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences U S A* 98 10793-10798 (Erratum: 98 14744).
- Fu YX & Chaplin DD 1999 Development and maturation of secondary lymphoid tissues. Annual Review of Immunology 17 399-433.

- Fütterer A, Mink K, Luz A, Kosco-Vilbois MH & Pfeffer K 1998 The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Immunity* **9** 59-70.
- Goldberg AD, Allis CD & Bernstein E 2007 Epigenetics: a landscape takes shape. *Cell* **128** 635-638.
- Good MF & Doolan DL 2010 Malaria vaccine design: immunological considerations. *Immunity* **33** 555-566.
- Groux H & Gysin J 1990 Opsonization as an effector mechanism in human protection against asexual blood stages of *Plasmodium falciparum* –functional- role of IgG subclasses. *Research in Immunology* **141** 529-542.
- Grunstein M 1997 Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. *Nature* **389** 349-352.
- Guo Z, Benten WPM, Krücken J & Wunderlich F 2002 Nongenomic testosterone calcium signaling. Genotropic actions in androgen receptor-free macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 29600–29607.
- Gustafsson J 2005 Steroids and the scientist. *Molecular Endocrinology* 19 1412–1417.
- Häussinger D, Kubitz R, Reinehr R, Bode JG & Schliess F 2004 Molecular aspects of medicine: from experimental to clinical hepatology. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* 25 221-360.
- Hernandez-Valladares M, Naessens J, Gibson JP, Musoke AJ, Nagda S, Rihet P, Ole-MoiYoi OK & Iraqi FA 2004 Confirmation and dissection of QTL controlling resistance to malaria in mice. *Mammalian Genome* **15** 390-398.
- Jarra W & Brown KN 1989 Protective immunity to malaria: studies with cloned lines of rodent malaria in CBA/Ca mice. IV. The specificity of mechanisms resulting in crisis and resolution of the primary acute phase parasitaemia of *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* and *P. yoelii yoelii. Parasite Immunology* **11** 1-13.
- Jason J, Archibald LK, Nwanyanwu OC, Bell M, Buchanan I, Larned J, Kazembe PN, Doobie H, Parekh B, Byrd MG, Eick A, Han A & Jarvis WR 2001 Cytokines and malaria parasitemia. *Clinical Immunology* **100** 208-218.
- Kareier JP 1980 Malaria, Epidemiology, Chemotherapy, Morphology, and Metabolism. Academic press, INC, New York 1 2-4.

- Kato R & Onada K 1970 Studies on the regulation of the activity of drug oxidation in rat liver microsomes by androgen and estrogen. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **19** 1649-1660.
- Kern P, Hemmer CJ, Van Damme J, Gruss HJ & Dietrich M 1989 Elevated tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 levels as markers for complicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *American Journal of Medicine* **87** 139-143.
- Kerr TA & Davidson NO 2009 Therapeutic RNA manipulation in liver disease. *Hepatology* 51 1055-1061.
- Kruecken J, Dkhil MA, Braun JV, Schroetel RM, El-Khadragy M, Carmeliet P, Mossmann H
 & Wunderlich F 2005 Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. *Infection and Immunity* 73 436-443.
- Kwiatkowski D 1992 Malaria: becoming more specific about non-specific immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* **4** 425-431.
- Kwiatkowski D 2000 Genetic susceptibility to malaria getting complex. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* **10** 320-324.
- Langhorne J, Ndungu FM, Sponsas AM & Marsh K 2008 Immunity to malaria: More questions than answers. *Nature Immunology* **9** 725-732.
- Lyke KE, Burges R, Cissoko Y, Sangare L, Dao M, Diarra I, Kone A, Harley R, Plowe CV, Doumbo OK & Sztein MB 2004 Serum levels of the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 beta (IL-1beta), IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and IL-12(p70) in Malian children with severe *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria and matched uncomplicated malaria or healthy controls. *Infection and Immunity* **72** 5630-5637.
- Mannoor MK, Weerasinghe A, Halder RC, Reza S, Morshed M, Ariyasinghe A, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2001 Resistance to malarial infection is achieved by the cooperation of NK1.1(+) and NK1.1(-) subsets of intermediate TCR cells which are constituents of innate immunity. *Cellular Immunology* **211** 96–104.
- Mannoor MK, Halder RC, Morshed SRM, Ariyasinghe A, Bakir HY, Kawamura H, Watanabe H, Sekikawa H & Abo T 2002 Essential role of extrathymic T cells in protection against malaria. *Journal of Immunology* **169** 301–306.
- Mehlhorn H 2008 Encyclopedia of Parasitology. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.

- Min-Oo G, Fortin A, Pitari G, Tam M, Stevenson MM & Gros P 2007 Complex genetic control of susceptibility to malaria: positional cloning of the Char9 locus. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204 511-524.
- Mossmann H, Benten WPM, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Kühn-Velten WN, Reinauer H & Wunderlich F 1997 Dietary testosterone suppresses protective responsiveness to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Life Science* **60** 839-848.
- Mota MM, Brown KN, Holder AA & Jarra W 1998 Acute *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi* malaria infection induces antibodies which bind to the surfaces of parasitized erythrocytes and promote their phagocytosis by macrophages *in vitro*. *Infection and Immunity* **66** 4080-4086.
- Overstreet MG, Cockburn IA, Chen YC & Zavala F 2008 Protective CD8 T cells against *Plasmodium* liver stages: Immunobiology of an 'unnatural' immune response. *Immunological Reviews* **225** 272-283.
- Pain A, Ferguson DJP, Kai O, Urban BC, Lowe BS, Marsh K & Roberts DJ 2001 Plateletmediated clumping of *Plasmodium falciparum*-infected erythrocytes is a common adhesive phenotype and is associated with severe malaria. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences U S A* 98 1805-1810.
- Pasvol G, Weatherall DJ & Wilson RJM 1980 The increased susceptibility of young red cells to invasion by the malarial parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. *British Journal of Haematology* **45** 285-295.
- Peters-Regehr T, Bode JG, Kubitz R & Häussinger D 1999 Organic osmolyte transport in quiescent and activated rat hepatic stellate cells (Ito cells). *Hepatology* **29** 173-180.
- Pierce SK 2009 Understanding B cell activation: from single molecule tracking, through Tolls, to stalking memory in malaria. *Immunological Research* **43** 85-97.
- Playfair JH, Taverne J, Bate CA & de Souza JB 1990 The malaria vaccine: anti-parasite or anti-disease? *Immunology Today* **11** 25-27.
- Rahman F & Christian HC 2007 Non-classical actions of testosterone: an update. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* **18** 371–378.
- Roberts DJ, Craig AG, Berendt AR, Pinches R, Nash G, Marsh K & Newbold CI 1992 Rapid switching to multiple antigenic and adhesive phenotypes in malaria. *Nature* **357** 689-692.
- Roberts DJ, Pain A, Kai O, Kortok M & Marsh K 2000 Autoagglutination of malaria-infected red blood cells and malaria severity. *Lancet* **355** 1427-1428.

- Roberts CW, Walker W & Alexander J 2001 Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. *Clinincal Microbiology Reviews* **14** 476-488.
- Seixas E, Oliveira P, Moura Nunes JF & Coutinho 2008 An experimental model for fatal malaria due to TNF-alpha-dependent hepatic damage. *Parasitology* **135** 683-690.
- Seli E & Arici A 2002 Sex steroids and the immune system. *Immunological and Allergy Clinics of North America* **22** 407–408.
- Sherman IW 1999 Plasmodium. In: Nature Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. London.
- Simpson JA, Aarons L, Collins WE, Jeffery GM & White NJ 2002 Population dynamics of untreated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria within the adult human host during the expansion phase of the infection. *Parasitology* **124** 247-263.
- Snounou G, Jarra W, Viriyakosl S, Wood JC & Brown KN 1989 Use of a DNA probe to analyse the dynamics of infection with rodent malaria parasites confirms that parasite clearance during crisis is predominantly strain- and species-specific. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **37** 37-46.
- Snounou G 2004 Cross-species regulation of *Plasmodium* parasitaemia cross examined. *Trends in Parasitology* **20** 262-265.
- Stevenson MM & Riley EM 2004 Innate immunity to malaria. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **4** 169-180.
- Taverne J, Rahman D, Dockrell HM, Alavi A, Leveton C & Playfair JHL 1987 Activation of liver macrophages in murine malaria is enhanced by vaccination. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 70 508-514.
- Trampuz A, Jereb M, Muzlović I & Prabhu RM 2003 Clinical review: Severe malaria. *Critical Care* **7** 315-323.
- Tsuji M 2010 A retrospective evaluation of the role of T cells in the development of malaria vaccine. *Experimental Parasitology* **126** 421-425.
- Wang K, Zhang S, Marzolf B, Troisch P, Brightman A, Hu Z, Hood LE & Galas DJ 2009 Circulating microRNAs, potential biomarkers for drug-induced liver injury. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences U S A* 11 4402–7.
- Warskulat U, Zhang F & Häussinger D 1997 Taurine is an osmolyte in rat liver macrophages (Kupffer cells). *Journal of Hepatology* **26** 1340-1347.
- Waxman DJ & Holloway MG 2009 Sex differences in the expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. *Molecular Pharmacology* **76** 215–228.

- Weik C, Warskulat U, Bode JG, Peters-Regehr T & Häussinger D 1998 Compatible organic osmolytes in rat liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. *Hepatology* **27** 569-575.
- Wenisch C, Linau KF, Looaresuwan S & Rumpold H 1999 Plasma levels of the interleukin-6 cytokine family in persons with severe *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 179 747-750.
- White NJ 2004 Sharing malarias. Lancet 363 1006.
- White WI, Evans CB & Taylor DW 1991 Antimalarial antibodies of the immunoglobulin G2a isotype modulate parasitemias in mice infected with *Plasmodium yoelii*. *Infection and Immunity* **59** 3547-3554.
- WHO 2009 World Malaria Report 2009. World Health Organization Geneva 1-78.
- Wunderlich F, Helwig M, Schillinger G, Speth V & Wiser MF 1988a Expression of the parasite protein Pc90 in plasma membranes of erythrocytes infected with *Plasmodium chabaudi*. *European Journal of Cell Biology* **47** 157-164.
- Wunderlich F, Mossmann H, Helwig M & Schillinger G 1988b Resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* in B10 mice: influence of the *H-2* complex and testosterone. *Infection and Immunity* **56** 2400–2406.
- Wunderlich F & Schmitt HP 1988c Malaria-Vakzine: Erste Versuche am Menschen. *Biologie in unserer Zeit* **18** 189-195.
- Wunderlich F, Marinovski P, Benten WP, Schmitt-Wrede HP & Mossmann H 1991 Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasite Immunology* **13** 357–367.
- Wunderlich F, Benten WPM, Bettenhaeuser U, Schmitt-Wrede HP & Mossmann H 1992 Testosterone-unresposiveness of existing immunity against *Plamodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasite Immunology* 14 307-320.
- Wunderlich F, Benten WPM, Lieberherr M, Guo Z, Stamm O, Wrehlke C, Sekeris CE & Mossmann H 2002 Testosterone signaling in T cells and macrophages. *Steroids* 67 535-538.
- Wunderlich F, Dkhil MA, Mehnert LI, Braun JV, El-Khadragy M, Borsch E, Hermsen D, Benten WPM, Pfeffer K, Mossmann H & Krücken J 2005 Testosterone responsiveness of spleen and liver in female lymphotoxin beta receptor-deficient mice resistant to bloodstage malaria. *Microbes and Infection* **3** 399–409.

7. Anteilserklärung

1. Publikation:

Delić D, Warskulat U, Borsch E, Al-Qahtani S, Al-Quraishi S, Häussinger D & Wunderlich F
2010 Loss of ability to self-heal malaria upon taurine transporter deletion. *Infection and Immunity*78 1642-1649.

Herr Denis Delić war für einen großen Teil der praktischen Experimente verantwortlich und trug maßgeblich zur Manuskriptherstellung bei. Beitrag: 40%

2. Publikation:

Delić D, Grosser C, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishy S & Wunderlich F 2010 Testosterone-induced upregulation of miRNAs in the female mouse liver. *Steroids* **75** 998-1004.

Herr Denis Delić war für das experimentelle Design und für die Durchführung der praktischen Experimente verantwortlich. Die Auswertung der Versuche führte er vollständig unabhängig durch und war entscheidend an der Manuskriptherstellung beteiligt. Beitrag: 80%

3. Publikation:

Delić D, Gailus N, Vohr HW, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Testosteroneinduced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression in female mice sustained during *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria infection. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* **45** 379-390.

Herr Denis Delić war für das experimentelle Design, für die Auswertung sämtlicher Analysen und bei der Entstehung der Publikation entscheidend beteiligt. Beitrag: 75%

4. Publikation:

Delić D, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Hepatic miRNA expression reprogrammed by *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Parasitology Research* [Epub ahead of print].

Herr Denis Delić führte den größten Teil der praktischen Experimente und deren Auswertung durch. Ferner trug er entscheidend bei der Manuskriptherstellung bei. Beitrag: 80%

5. Publikation:

Delić D, Dkhil M, Al-Quraishi S & Wunderlich F 2010 Attenuated responsiveness to testosterone of hepatic gene expression in female mice immune *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* [submitted]

Herr Denis Delić war für das experimentelle Design und der damit verbundenen Durchführung der Experimente und Analysen verantwortlich. Desweiteren war er bei der Entstehung der Publikation entscheidend beteiligt. Beitrag: 80%

6. Publikation:

Wunderlich CM, **Delić D**, Behnke K, Stroehle P, Wunderlich F, Brüning J & Wunderlich FT 2010 Disrupted IL-6 trans-signaling augments ability to self-heal malaria [prepared to submit]

Herr Denis Delić führte die Arbeiten mit Malaria (Infektionsversuche und ELISA) durch und war an der Manuskriptherstellung beteiligt. Beitrag: 40%

7. Publikation:

Krücken J, **Delić D**, Pauen H, Wojtalla A, El-Khadragy M, Dkhil MA, Mossmann H & Wunderlich F 2009 Augmented particle trapping and attenuated inflammation in the liver by protective vaccination against *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Malaria Journal* **8** 54.

Herr Denis Delić führte einen großen Teil der qRT-PCR- und Northern blot-Analysen durch und beteiligte sich an der Diskussion bei der Entstehung der Publikation. Beitrag: 25%

Denis Delić

Prof. Dr. Frank Wunderlich

8. Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Titel 'Resistance/Susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria' selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Quellen verwendet habe.

Tag der Abgabe: 30.11.2010

Denis Delić

9. Danksagung

Herrn Prof. Dr. Frank Wunderlich danke ich für die Überlassung des interessanten Themas, für die sehr intensive Betreuung, andauernde Ansprechbarkeit, unglaubliche Hilfsbereitschaft sowie seine ständige Diskussionsbereitschaft. Vor allem bedanke ich mich für die unendliche Unterstützung!

Bei Herrn Prof. Dr. Wagner und Herrn Prof. Dr. Michael Lanzer bedanke ich mich für die Übernahme des zweiten bzw. dritten Gutachtens.

Herrn Prof. Dr. Jochen D'Haese danke ich für die Gewährung auf 'Asyl' in seinem Labor.

Ein besonderer Dank gilt allen Co-Autoren, ohne die die vorliegende kumulative Dissertation nicht möglich wäre: Dr. Mohamed Dkhil und Prof. Dr. Saleh Al-Quraishy (King Saud University); PD Dr. Ulrich Warskulat, Dr. Elena Borsch und Prof. Dr. Dieter Häussinger (Institut für Gastroenterologie, Hepatologie und Infektiologie), Dr. Claudia Wunderlich, Dr. Thomas Wunderlich und Prof. Dr. Jens Brüning (Institut für Genetik, Köln); Dr. Heidrun Ellinger-Ziegelbauer und Prof. Dr. Hans-Werner Vohr (Bayer Wuppertal) und Prof. Dr. Regine Kahl (Graduiertenkolleg 1427).

Bei dem geduldigsten und freundlichsten Menschen und Trainingspartner Piet Marinovski bedanke ich mich für seine ständige Hilfsbereitschaft bezüglich computertechnischen Fragen. Frau Andrea Grunwald danke ich vor allem für die Hilfe bei der Tierhaltung.

Folgende Mitarbeiter der Abteilung für Molekulare Parasitologie haben die letzten Jahre unvergesslich gemacht: Dr. Stefan Bierbaum, Martin Leyendecker, Christian Grosser, Andreas Meryk, Nicole Gailus, Kristina Behnke, Lisa Verweyen, Pauline Funkner, Alexander Groth, Figen Ali Oglou, Monika Mackiewicz, Marina Klein, Maga Lukosz, Maria Warzeszka, Karolina Hain und Sebastian Gaus.

Der größte Dank gilt meiner Familie, die mir das Studium überhaupt ermöglicht haben und ohne die ich es nie geschafft hätte. Vielen Dank, dass ihr mir in jeglicher Hinsicht den Rücken freigehalten habt! Desweiteren danke ich allen meinen Freunden!

10. Lebenslauf

	Curriculum vitae
	Personal data
	Name: Denis Delić
	Address: Moorenstr.12
	40225 Düsseldorf
	Phone: +4915771469641
	E-mail: denisdelic@aol.com
	Birthday: 16.05.81
	Birthplace: Duisburg, Germany
	Family status: single
	Nationality: German
	Education
1987-1991	Grundschule Oberilp, Heiligenhaus
1991-2000	Immanuel-Kant Gymnasium, Heiligenhaus
	Degree: Abitur
	Social work
2000-2001	Civilian service at the Institute for Blood Donation, Red Cross, Breitscheid

	Academic Education
2001-2006	Study of Biology at the Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Main subject: <i>Molecular biology</i>
	Degree: Diplom-Biologist (M. Sc.), predicate 'excellent'
	Diploma thesis: 'The influence of the <i>E. coli</i> protein DksA on the synthesis of ribosomal RNAs under conditions of the stringent control'
2006-2010	PhD Thesis at the division of <i>Molecular Parasitology</i> at the Heinrich- Heine-Universität Düsseldorf; Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Frank Wunderlich Theme of the PhD Thesis: "Resistance/Suscentibility to <i>Plasmodium</i>
	chabaudi malaria"
2006-2009	Stipendiary at the graduate college ("Food constituents as triggers of nuclear receptor mediated intestinal signalling"; Speaker: Prof. Dr. Regine Kahl) Depertment of Toxicology at the Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf
2006-2011	Further education for Specialist in Toxicology at the 'German Foundation for Experimental and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology' (DGPT)
2008-2012	Postgraduate Study for Specialist in Ecotoxicology at the 'Gesellschaft deutscher Chemiker' (GDCh) and 'Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry' (SETAC)
	Language ability English, Serbo-Croatian, Latin, French, Spanish